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SECTION A - APPLICANT INFORMATION AND SERVICES ZT Ô 
HMMMIMMMIHIHIilHHMMIIH^^ 

O 25 
CD 

A-1 Appl icant intends to renew its certificate as : (check all tliat apply) 

[7] Retail Natural Gas Aggregator [7] Retail Natural Gas Broker 

A-2 Appl icant information: 

World Energy Solutions, Inc. 

446 Main Street, Worcester, MA 01608 
Legal Name 

Address 

Web site Address www.wortdenergy.com 

Dec 17, 2006 through Dec 17, 2008 

Telephone No. (508) 459-8100 

Current PUCO Certificate No. ^ '̂'̂  ̂ ^ *'' ̂  Effective Dates 

A-3 Appl icant information u n d e r whicli appl icant will do business in Ohio: 

Name World Energy Solutions, Inc. 

Address 4995 Bradenton Avenue, Suite 250, Dublin, OH 43017 

Web site Address www.worldenergy.com Telephone No. (614) 790-0400 

A-4 List all names unde r which the appl icant does business in Nor th Amer ica : 

World Energy Solutions, Inc. 

WE Solutions, Inc. 

A-5 Contac t person for regula tory or emergency ma t t e r s : 

Name Janet Loop Xitle Market Director 

Business Address 446 Main Street, 14th Floor, Worcester, MA 01608 

Telephone No. (508) 459-8149 p^x No, (508) 459-8101 gmail Address iloop@worldenergy.com 

T h i s i a t o c e r t i f y t h a t t h e Images a p p e a r i n g a r e a a 
a c c u r a t e anci oo-^rplete r e p r o d u c t i o n o t a c a s e f i l e 
docmaen t d £ l i v ? . r a i i i n t h a r e g i i l a r c o u r s e o f b u s i n a s s * ^^DXT^^CD ^ >K * D n D i PT 
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A-6 Contact person for Commission Staff use in investigating customer complaints: 

Name Erica Martunas Title Market Analyst 

Business address ^^^ "^ '̂̂  ^^''S^'- "̂ ^̂ ^ F'oo'', Worcester, MA 01608 

Telephone No. (508)459-8143 p^x No. (508)459-8101 Email Address emartunas@wortelenergy.eom 

A-7 Applicants address and toll-free number for customer service and complaints 

Customer service address 446 Main Street, 14th Floor, Worcester, MA 01608 

Toil-Free Telephone No. (^0°) 578-0718 ^^^ j ^ ^ (508) 459-8101 Email Address infoeworidenera^.com 

A-8 Provide "Proof of an Ohio Office and Employee," in accordance with Section 4929.22 of the Ohio 
Revised Code, by listing name, Ohio office address, telephone number, and Web site address of the 
designated Ohio Employee 

Name Rob Martinez Title Supply Director 

Business address 4995 Bradenton Avenue, Suite 250, Dublin, OH 43017 

Telephone No. (614) 790-0400 f^ NO. (614) 790-0401 ginail Address rmartinez@worldenergy.eom 

A-9 Applicant's federal employer identification number 04-3474959 

A-10 Applicant's form of ownership: (Checic one) 

I I Sole Proprietorship L J Partnership 

I I Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) HH Limited Liability Company (LLC) 

I / I Corporation \__\ Other 

A-Il (Check all that apply) Identify each natural gas company service area in which the applicant is 
currently providing service or intends to provide service, including identification of each customer 
class that the applicant is currently serving or intends to serve, for example: residential, small 
commercial, and/or large commercial/industrial (mercantile) customers, (A mercantile customer, as deiined 
in Section 4929.01(L)(1) of the Ohio Revised Code, means a customer that consumes, other than for residential use, more 
than 500,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year at a single location within the state or consumes natural gas, other than for 
residential use, as part of an undertaking having more than three locations within or outside of this state. In accordance with 
Section 4929.01(L)(2) of the Ohio Revised Code, "Mercantile customer" excludes a not-for-profit customer that constmies, 
other than for residential use, more than 500,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year at a single location within this state or 
consumes natural gas, other than for residential use, as part of an undertaking having more than three locations within or 
outside this state that has filed the necessary declaration with the Public Utilities Commission.) 
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^Columbia Gas of Ohio ResidendaU^ Small Commercial \ ^ Large Commercial/Industrial 

^ Dominion East Ohio Residential L / Small Commercial l ^ Lar^e Commercial / Industrial 

\ ^ \ Duke Energy Ohio ^Residential^ Small Commercial ^ [Large Commercial/Indastrial 

V VectrenEnergy Delivery of Ohio ResidentiaH^I Small Commercial ^ r L a r g e Commercial/Industrial 

A-12 If applicant or an affiliated interest previously participated in any of Ohio's Natural Gas Choice 
Programs, for each service area and customer class, provide approximate start date(s) and/or end 
date(s) that the applicant began delivering and/or ended services. 

1/IColumbia Gas of Ohio 

I I Residential Beginning Date of Service End Date 

r / l Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

DH Large Commercial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

fyl Industrial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

LaLlDominion East Ohio 

I I Residential Beginnhig Date of Service End Date 

I / ] Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

[ / ] Large Commercial Begmnuig Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

[ / ] Industrial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

Iv buke Energy Ohio 

I [ Residential Beginning Date of Service End Date 

rT\ Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

[ / ] Large Commercial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

r ^ Industrial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

[_/J Vectren Energy Delivery of Ohio 

I I Residential Beginning Date of Service EndDate 

r ^ Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

r ^ Large Commercial Beg^ning Date of Service Decernber 2006 EndDate 

r ^ Industrial Beginning Date of Service December 2006 End Date 

A-13 If not currently participating in any of Ohio's four Natural Gas Choice Programs, provide the 
approximate start date that the applicant proposes to begin delivering services: 
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I I Columbia Gas of Ohio Intended Start Date 

I I Dominion East Ohio Intended Start Date 

r n Duke Energy Ohio Intended Start Date 

I I Vectren Energy Delivery of Ohio Intended Start Date 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED. 

A-14 Exhibit A-T4 "Principal Officers, Directors & Partners," provide the names, titles, addresses and 
telephone numbers of the applicant's principal officers, directors, partners, or other similar officials. 

A-15 Exhibit A-15 "Corporate Structure," provide a description of the applicant's corporate structure, 
including a graphical depiction of such structure, and a list of all affiliate and subsidiary companies that 
supply retail or wholesale natural gas or electricity to customers in North America. 

A-16 Exhibit A-16 "Company Historv," provide a concise description of the applicant's company history 
and principal business interests. 

A-17 Exhibit A-17 "Articles of Incorporation and Bvlaws," provide the articles of incorporation 
filed with the state or jurisdiction in which the applicant is incorporated and any amendments 
thereto, only if the contents of the originally filed documents changed since the initial application. 

A-18 Exhibit A-18 "Secretary of State," provide evidence that the applicant is still currently registered with 
the Ohio Secretary of the State. 

SECTION B - APPLICANT MANAGERIAL CAPABILITY AND EXPERIENCE 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED 

B-1 Exhibit B-1 "Jurisdictions of Operation," provide a current list of all jurisdictions in which the 
applicant or any affiliated interest of the applicant is, at the date of filing the application, certified, 
licensed, registered, or otherwise authorized to provide retail natural gas service, or retail/wholesale 
electric services. 

B-2 Exhibit B-2 "Experience & Plans," provide a current description of the applicant's experience and 
plan for contracting with customers, providing contracted services, providing billing statements, and 
responding to customer inquiries and complaints in accordance with Commission rules adopted pursuant 
to Section 4929.22 of the Revised Code and contained in Chapter 4901:1-29 of the Ohio Administrative 
Code. 

B-3 Exhibit B-3 "Summary of Experience," provide a concise and current summary of the applicant's 
experience in providing the service(s) for which it is seeking renewed certification (e.g., number and 
types of customers served, utility service areas, volume of gas supplied, etc.). 

B-4 Exhibit B-4 "Disclosure of Liabilities and Investigations," provide a description of all existing, 
pending or past rulings, judgments, contingent liabilities, revocations of authority, regulatory 
investigations, or any other matter that could adversely impact the applicant's financial or operational 
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status or ability to provide the services for which it is seeking renewed certification since applicant last 
filed for certification. 

B-5 Exhibit B-5 "Disclosure of Consumer Protection Violations," disclose whether the applicant, 
affiliate, predecessor of the applicant, or any principal officer of the applicant has been convicted or held 
liable for fraud or for violation of any consumer protection or antitrust laws since applicant last filed for 
certification. 

[71 No QVes 
If Yes, provide a separate attachment labeled as Exhibit B-5 "Disclosure of Consumer Protection 
Violations." detaihng such violation($) and providing all relevant documents. 

B-6 Exhibit B-6 '^Disclosure of Certification DeniaL Curtanment. Suspension, or Revocation." disclose 
whether the applicant or a predecessor of the applicant has had any certification, license, or application 
to provide retail natural gas or retail/wholesale electric service denied, curtailed, suspended, or revoked, 
or whether the applicant or predecessor has been terminated firom any of Ohio's Natural Gas Choice 
programs, or been in default for failure to deliver natural gas smce applicant last filed for certification. 

[7] No r iYes 

If Yes, provide a separate attachment, labeled as Exhibit B-6 "Disclosure of Certification Denial, 
Curtailment. Suspension, or Revocation," detailing such action($) and providing all relevant documents. 

ISEiBSISIil^^^illJ^^ SECTION C - APPLICANT FiNANriAL rAPARILITY AND EXPERIENcT 

PROVTOE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED 

C-1 Exhibit C-1 "Annual Reports." provide the two most recent Annual Reports to Shareholders. If 
applicant does not have annual reports, the applicant should provide similar information, labeled as 
Exhibit C-1, or indicate that Exhibit C-1 is not applicable and why. 

C-2 Exhibit C-2 ^̂ SEC Fihngs," provide the most recent 10-K/8-K Filings with tiie SEC. If applicant does 
not have such filings, it may submit those of its parent company. If the applicant does not have such 
filings, then the applicant may indicate in Exhibit C-2 whether the applicant is not required to file with 
the SEC and why. 

C-3 Exhibit C-3 "Financial Statements," provide copies of the applicant's two most recent years of 
audited financial statements (balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement). If audited 
financial statements are not available, provide officer-certified financial statements. If the applicant has 
not been in business long enough to satisfy this requirement, it shall file audited or officer-certified 
financial statements covering the life of the business. 

C-4 Exhibit C-4 "Financial Arrangements," provide copies of the applicant's current financial 
arrangements to conduct competitive retail natural gas service (CRNGS) as a busmess activity (e.g., 
guarantees, bank commitments, contractual arrangements, credit agreements, etc.) 

C-5 Exhibit C-5 "Forecasted Financial Statements." provide two years of forecasted financial statements 
(balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement) for the applicant's CRNGS operation, along 
with a list of assumptions, and the name, address, email address, and telephone number of the preparer. 
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C-6 Exhibit C-6 "Credit Rating," provide a statement disclosmg tiie applicant's current credit rating as 
reported by two of the following organizations: Duff & Phelps, Dun and Bradstreet Information 
Services, Fitch IBCA, Moody's Investors Service, Standard & Poors, or a similar organization. In 
instances where an applicant does not have its own credit ratings, it may substitute the credit ratings of a 
parent or affiliate organization, provided the applicant submits a statement signed by a principal officer 
of the applicant's parent or affiliate organization that guarantees the obligations of the applicant. 

C-7 Exhibit C--7 "Credit Report," provide a copy of the applicant's current credit report fi"om Experion, 
Dun and Bradstreet, or a similar organization. 

C-8 Exhibit C-8 "Bankruptcy Information," provide a list and description of any reorganizations, 
protection fi-om creditors, or any other form of bankruptcy filings made by the applicant, a parent or 
affiliate organization that guarantees the obligations of the applicant or any officer of the applicant in the 
current year or since applicant last filed for certification. 

C-9 Exhibit C-9 "Merger Information," provide a statement describing any dissolution or merger or 
acquisition of the applicant since applicant last filed for certification. 

SECTION D - APPLICAXT T F r H N . r . T . n A P A B l M T Y 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED, 

D-1 Exhibit D-1 "Operations." provide a current written description of the operational nature of the 
appUcant's business functions. 

D-2 Exhibit D-2 "Operations Expertise," given the operational nature of the applicant's business, provide 
evidence of the applicant's current experience and technical expertise in performing such operations. 

D-3 Exhibit D-3 "Kev Technical Personnel," provide the names, tities, email addresses, telephone 
numbers, and background of key personnel involved in the operational aspects of the applicant's current 
business. 

AppUcant Signature and Title (^_^ J U ^ — ^ j C U f W L / / ^ J \ } u r ^ ^ ^ 

Sworn and subscribed before me this ^ day of " J ) 6 C 6 ^ ^ ^ ^ ' — Month ^ O O ^ Year 

Signatikre^f official administering oath Print Name and Title 

My commission expires on (JL^Ofe^T" ^ 5 ^ c i S - ^ 
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The Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 

0^ 

Competitive Retail Natural Gas Service 
V Affidavit Form 

(Version 1.07) 

In the Matter of the Application of \ 

world Energy Solutions, Inc. ) ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ _ ^3^3 . G ^ . A G G 

for a Certificate or Renewal Certificate to Provide \ 

Competitive Retail Natural Gas Service in Ohio. \ 

County of 
State of 

[Affiant], being duly swom/affirmed, hereby states that: 

(1) The information provided within the certification or certification renewal application and supporting information is 
complete, true, and accurate to the best knowledge of affiant. 

(2) The applicant will timely file an annual report of its intrastate gross receipts and sales of hundred cubic feet of 
natural gas pursuant to Sections 4905.10(A), 4911.18(A), and 4929.23(B), Ohio Revised Code. 

(3) The applicant will timely pay any assessment made pursuant to Section 4905.10 or Section 4911.18(A), Ohio 
Revised Code. 

(4) Applicant will comply with all applicable rules and orders adopted by the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 
pursuant to Title 49, Ohio Revised Code. 

(5) Applicant will cooperate with the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio and its staff in the investigation of any 
consumer complaint regarding any service offered or provided by the apphcant. 

(6) Apphcant will comply with Section 4929.21, Ohio Revised Code, regarding consent to the jurisdiction of the Ohio 
courts and the service of process. 

(7) Applicant will inform the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio of any material change to the information supplied in 
the certification or certification renewal application within 30 days of such material change, including any change in 
contact person for regulatory or emergency purposes or contact person for Staff use in investigating customer 
complaints. 

(8) Affiant further sayeth naught. 

Affiant Signature* Title ^ J ^ ^ ' ' ^ ^ ' ^ l^- ^ ^ /^ ' -^^ 6UJ" 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 5 day of T ^ C l ? ^ " ^ ^ ^ Month '2QJ? Year 

Sfgnatute of Official Administering Oath Print Name and Title 

My commission expires on L^A1'Y6V£)^ ^ -? ^X^t) / 
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Exhibit A-14 "Principal Officers, Directors & Partners' 

Name 

Richard Domaleski 

Philip Adams 

James Parslow 

Rob Hartwell 

Edward Libbey 

Thad Wolfe 

Patrick Bischoff 

John Wellard 

Title 

CEO 

President & COO 

CFO 

CIO 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Address 

446 Main Street 
Worcester, MA 01608 

446 Main Street 
Worcester, MA 01608 

446 Main Street 
Worcester, MA 01608 

446 Main Street 
Worcester, MA 01608 

446 Main Street 
Worcester, MA 01608 

446 Main Street 
Worcester, MA 01608 

446 Main Street 
Worcester, MA 01608 

446 Mam Street 

Phone 

(508)459-8100 

(508)459-8100 

(508) 459-8100 

(508)459-8100 

(508) 459-8100 

(508) 459-8100 

(508)459-8100 

(508)459-8100 
Worcester, MA 01608 
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Exhibit A-15 "Corporate Structure" 

World Energy Solutions, Inc. is a public company headquartered in Worcester, MA. 
It has no subsidiaries. 

War Id Energy 
lap the Pov/er Onmettigence 

? 



Exhibit A-16 "Company History' 

World Energy Solution's primary mission and function is providing energy related 
services to commercial, industrial, municipal and govemment customers. Natural gas 
and Electricity procurement have been provided by the Company in a number of 
jurisdictions since 2003. The Company became involved in renewable energy 
procurement in 2007 and commenced handling the auctions for the Regional Greenhouse 
Gas Initiative (RGGI) in 2008. 

On November 16, 2006, World Energy Solutions, Inc. completed an initial public 
offering and secondary offering of 27,441,064 shares of common stock at a price of 
C$L05 (approximately US $0.93) per share. The offering was comprised of 20,000,000 
shares sold by World Energy for gross proceeds to the Company of C$21 million and 
7,441,064 shares sold by certain selling stockholders for gross proceeds to such 
stockholders of approximately C$7.8 milUon. World Energy shares of common stock are 
trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol XWE. 

On June 4,2007 World Energy Solutions, Inc. completed an acquisition of privately held 
EnergyGateway, LLC. Under the terms of the final agreement. World Energy purchased 
substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway for US$4.95 million in cash and 5.375 
miUion common shares of World Energy plus the assumption of certain liabilities. 
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Exhibit A-17 "Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws 

AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS 

OF 

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC. 

99 
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ARTICLE I 

STOCKHOLDERS 

1.1 Place of Meetings. All meetings of stockholders shall be held at such place as 
may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the 
Chief Executive Officer or the President or, if not so designated, at the principal office of the 
corporation. 

1.2 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of stockholders for the election of directors 
and for the transaction of such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting 
shall be held on a date and at a time designated by the Board of Dhectors, the Chairman of the 
Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President (which date shall not be a legal holiday in the 
place where the meeting is to be held). If no annual meeting is held in accordance with the 
foregoing provisions, a special meeting may be held in lieu of the annual meeting, and any action 
taken at that special meeting shall have the same effect as if it had been taken at the annual 
meeting, and in such case all references in these By-laws to the annual meeting of the 
stockholders shall be deemed to refer to such special meeting. 

1.3 Special Meetings. Special meetings of stockholders for any purpose or purposes 
may be called at any time by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief 
Executive Officer or the President, but such special meetings may not be called by any other 
person or persons. Business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be limited to 
matters relating to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting. 

1.4 Notice of Meetings. Except as otherwise provided by law, notice of each meeting 
of stockholders, whether annual or special, shall be given not less than 10 nor more than 60 days 
before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting. Without 
limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given to stockholders, any notice shall be 
effective if given by a form of electronic transmission consented to (in a manner consistent with 
the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware) by the stockholder to whom the notice is 
given. The notices of all meetings shall state the place, date and time of the meeting and the 
means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be 
deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting. The notice of a special meeting shall 
state, in addition, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. If notice is given by 
mail, such notice shall be deemed given when deposited in the United States mail, postage 
prepaid, directed to the stockholder at such stockholder's address as it appears on the records of 
the corporation. If notice is given by electronic transmission, such notice shall be deemed given 
at the time specified in Section 232 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. 

1.5 Voting List. The Secretary shall prepare, at least 10 days before every meeting of 
stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in 
alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares 
registered in the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any 
stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, for a period of at least 10 days prior to the 
meeting: (a) on a reasonably accessible electronic network, provided that the information 
required to gain access to such list is provided with notice of the meeting, or (b) during ordinary 

USlDOCS5781990vl 

/V 



business hours, at the principal place of business of the corporation. The list shall also be 
produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may 
be inspected by any stockholder who is present. 

1.6 Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or 
these By-laws, the holders of one-third (1/3) in voting power of the shares of the capital stock of 
the corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person, 
present by means of remote communication in a manner, if any, authorized by the Board of 
Directors in its sole discretion, or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business. A quorum, once established at a meeting, shall not be broken by the 
withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than a quorum. 

1.7 Adjournments. Any meeting of stockholders may be adjourned fi:om time to time 
to any other time and to any other place at which a meeting of stockholders may be held under 
these By-laws by the stockholders present or represented at the meeting and entitled to vote, 
although less than a quorum, or, if no stockholder is present, by any officer entitled to preside at 
or to act as secretary of such meeting. It shall not be necessary to notify any stockholder of any 
adjournment of less than 30 days if the time and place of the adjourned meeting, and the means 
of remote communication, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be 
present in person and vote at such adjomned meeting, are announced at the meeting at which 
adjournment is taken, unless after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned 
meeting. At the adjourned meeting, the corporation may transact any business which might have 
been transacted at the original meeting. 

1.8 Voting and Proxies. Each stockholder shall have one vote for each share of stock 
entitled to vote held of record by such stockholder and a proportionate vote for each fractional 
share so held, unless otherwise provided by law or the Certificate of Incorporation. Each 
stockholder of record entitied to vote at a meeting of stockholders may vote hi person (including 
by means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders may be deemed to be present 
in person and vote at such meeting) or may authorize another person or persons to vote for such 
stockholder by a proxy executed or transmitted in a manner permitted by the General 
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware by the stockholder or such stockholder's authorized 
agent and delivered (including by electronic transmission) to the Secretary of the corporation. 
No such proxy shall be voted upon after three years firom the date of its execution, unless the 
proxy expressly provides for a longer period. 

1.9 Action at Meeting. When a quorum is present at any meeting, any matter other 
than the election of directors to be voted upon by the stockholders at such meeting shall be 
decided by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in voting power of the shares of stock 
present or represented and voting on such matter (or if there are two or more classes of stock 
entitled to vote as separate classes, then in the case of each such class, the holders of a majority 
in voting power of the shares of stock of that class present or represented and voting on such 
matter), except when a different vote is required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these 
By-laws. When a quorum is present at any meeting, any election by stockholders of directors 
shall be determined by a plurality of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled to vote on the 
election. 

USlDOCS5781990vl 

AT 



1.10 Nomination of Directors. 

(a) Except for (1) any dkectors entitied to be elected by the holders of 
preferred stock, (2) any directors elected in accordance with Section 2.8 hereof by the Board of 
Directors to fill a vacancy or newly-created directorships or (3) as otherwise required by 
applicable law or stock market regulation, only persons who are nominated in accordance with 
the procedures in this Section 1.10 shall be eligible for election as directors. Nomination for 
election to the Board of Directors at a meeting of stockholders may be made (i) by or at the 
direction of the Board of Directors or (ii) by any stockholder of the corporation who (x) complies 
with the notice procedures set forth in Section 1.10(b) and (y) is a stockholder of record on the 
date of the giving of such notice and on the record date for the determination of stockholders 
entitled to vote at such meeting. 

(b) To be timely, a stockholder's notice must be received in writing by the 
Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation as follows: (i) in the case of an 
election of directors at an annual meeting of stockholders, not less than 90 days nor more than 
120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting; provided, 
however, that (x) in the case of the annual meeting of stockholders of the corporation to be held 
in 2007 or (y) in the event that the date of the annual meeting in any other year is advanced by 
more than 20 days, or delayed by more than 60 days, fi-om the first anniversary of the preceding 
year's annual meeting, a stockholder's notice must be so received not earlier than the 120th day 
prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of (A) the 90th 
day prior to such annual meeting and (B) the tenth day following the day on which notice of the 
date of such annual meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of such annual meeting 
was made, whichever first occurs; or (ii) in the case of an election of directors at a special 
meeting of stockholders, provided that the Board of Directors has determined that directors shall 
be elected at such meeting, not earlier than the 120th day prior to such special meeting and not 
later than the close of business on the later of (x) the 90th day prior to such special meeting and 
(y) the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of such special meeting was 
mailed or public disclosure of the date of such special meeting was made, whichever first occurs. 
In no event shall the adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting (or the public 
announcement thereof) commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving 
of a stockholder's notice. 

The stockholder's notice to the Secretary shall set forth: (A) as to each proposed nominee 
(1) such person's name, age, business address and, if known, residence address, (2) such 
person's principal occupation or employment, (3) the class and number of shares of stock of the 
corporation which are beneficially owned by such person, and (4) any other infonnation 
conceming such person that must be disclosed as to nominees in proxy solicitations pursuant to 
Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the '̂ Exchange Act"); 
(B) as to the stockholder giving the notice (1) such stockholder's name and address, as they 
appear on the corporation's books, (2) the class and number of shares of stock of the corporation 
which are owned, beneficially and of record, by such stockholder, (3) a description of all 
arrangements or understandings between such stockholder and each proposed nominee and any 
other person or persons (including their names) pursuant to which the nomination(s) are to be 
made by such stockholder, (4) a representation tiiat such stockholder intends to appear in person 
or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person(s) named in its notice and (5) a representation 
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whether the stockholder intends or is part of a group which intends (x) to deliver a proxy 
statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation's 
outstanding capital stock required to elect the nominee and/or (y) otherwise to solicit proxies 
from stockholders in support of such nomination; and (C) as to the beneficial owner, if any, on 
whose behalf the nomination is being made (1) such beneficial owner's name and address, (2) 
the class and number of shares of stock of the corporation which are beneficially owned by such 
beneficial owner, (3) a description of all arrangements or understandings between such beneficial 
owner and each proposed nominee and any other person or persons (including their names) 
pursuant to which the nomination(s) are to be made and (4) a representation whether the 
beneficial owner intends or is part of a group which intends (x) to deliver a proxy statement 
and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation* s outstanding capital 
stock requirement to elect the nominee and/or (y) otherwise to solicit proxies fi-om stockholders 
in support of such nomination. In addition, to be effective, the stockholder's notice must be 
accompanied by the written consent of the proposed nominee to serve as a director if elected. 
The corporation may require any proposed nominee to ftimish such other information as may 
reasonably be required to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as a 
director of the corporation. A stockholder shall not have complied with this Section 1.10(b) if 
the stockholder (or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made) solicits or 
does not solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such stockholder's nominee in 
contravention of the representations with respect thereto required by this Section 1.10. 

(c) The chairman of any meeting shall have the power and duty to determine 
whether a nomination was made in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.10 
(including whether the stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination 
is made solicited (or is part of a group which solicited) or did not so solicit, as the case may be, 
proxies in support of such stockholder's nominee in compliance with the representations with 
respect thereto required by this Section 1.10), and if the chairman should determine that a 
nomination was not made in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.10, the chairman 
shall so declare to the meeting and such nomination shall be disregarded. 

(d) Except as otherwise required by law, nothing in this Section 1.10 shall 
obligate the corporation or the Board of Directors to include in any proxy statement or other 
stockholder communication distributed on behalf of the corporation or the Board of Dkectors 
information with respect to any nominee for director submitted by a stockholder. 

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.10, if the 
stockholder (or a qualified representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the annual or 
special meeting of stockholders of the corporation to present a nomination, such nomination shall 
be disregarded, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by 
the corporation. For purposes of this Section 1.10, to be considered a qualified representative of 
the stockholder, a person must be authorized by a written instrument executed by such 
stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder to act for such 
stockholder as proxy at the meeting of stockholders and such person must produce such written 
instrument or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the written instrument or 
electronic transmission, at the meeting of stockholders. 
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(f) For purposes of this Section 1.10, "public disclosure" shall include 
disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones New Service, Associated Press or 
comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13,14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. 

1-11 Notice of Business at Annual Meetings. 

(a) At any annual meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be 
conducted as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. To be properly brought 
before an annual meeting, business must be (1) specified in the notice of meeting (or any 
supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (2) otherwise properly 
brought before the meeting by or at the direction of tiie Board of Directors, or (3) properly 
brought before the meeting by a stockholder. For business to be properly brought before an 
annual meeting by a stockholder, (i) if such business relates to the nomination of a person for 
election as a director of the corporation, the procedures in Section 1.10 must be complied with 
and (ii) if such business relates to any other matter, the business must constitute a proper matter 
under Delaware law for stockholder action and the stockholder must (x) have given timely notice 
thereof in writing to the Secretary in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 1.11(b) 
and (y) be a stockholder of record on the date of the giving of such notice and on the record date 
for the determination of stockholders entitied to vote at such annual meeting. 

(b) To be timely, a stockholder's notice must be received in writing by the 
Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not less than 90 days nor more than 
120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting; provided, 
however, that (x) in the case of the annual meeting of stockholders of the corporation to be held 
in 2007 or (y) in the event that tiie date of the annual meeting in any other year is advanced by 
more than 20 days, or delayed by more than 60 days, firom the first anniversary of the preceding 
year's annual meeting, a stockholder's notice must be so received not earlier than tiie 120th day 
prior to such annual meeting and not later tiian the close of business on the later of (A) the 90th 
day prior to such annual meeting and (B) the tenth day following the day on which notice of the 
date of such annual meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of such annual meeting 
was made, whichever first occurs. In no event shall the adjournment or postponement of an 
annual meeting (or the public announcement thereof) commence a new time period (or extend 
any time period) for the giving of a stockholder's notice. 

The stockholder's notice to the Secretary shall set forth as to each matter the stockholder 
proposes to bring before the annual meeting (1) a brief description of the business desired to be 
brought before the annual meeting, the text relating to the business (including the text of any 
resolutions proposed for consideration and in the event that such business includes a proposal to 
amend the By-laws, the language of the proposed amendment), and the reasons for conducting 
such business at the annual meeting, (2) the name and address, as they appear on the 
corporation's books, of the stockholder proposing such business, and the name and address of the 
beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made, (3) the class and number of 
shares of stock of the corporation which are owned, of record and beneficially, by the 
stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, (4) a description of all arrangements or understandings 
between such stockholder or such beneficial owner, if any, and any otiier person or persons 
(including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such stockholder and 
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any material interest of the stockholder or such beneficial owner, if any, in such business, (5) a 
representation that such stockholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual 
meeting to bring such business before the meeting and (6) a representation whether the 
stockholder or the beneficial owner, if any, intends or is part of a group which intends (x) to 
deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the 
corporation's outstanding capital stock required to approve or adopt the proposal and/or (y) 
otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such proposal. Notwithstanding 
anything in these By-laws to the contrary, no business shall be conducted at any aimual meeting 
of stockholders except in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.11; provided 
that any stockholder proposal which complies with Rule 14a-8 of the proxy rules (or any 
successor provision) promulgated under the Exchange Act and is to be included in the 
corporation's proxy statement for an annual meeting of stockholders shall be deemed to comply 
with the requirements of this Section 1.11. A stoclAolder shall not have complied with this 
Section 1.11 (b) if the stockholder (or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behsdf the nomination is 
made) solicits or does not solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such stockholder's 
proposal in contravention of the representations with respect thereto required by this 
Section 1.11. 

(c) The chairman of any meeting shall have the power and duty to determine 
whether business was properly brought before the meeting in accordance with the provisions of 
this Section 1.11 (including whether the stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf 
the proposal is made solicited (or is part of a group which solicited) or did not so solicit, as the 
case may be, proxies in support of such stockholder's proposal in compliance with the 
representation with respect thereto required by this Section 1.11), and if the chauman should 
determine that business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with the 
provisions of this Section 1.11, the chairman shall so declare to the meeting and such business 
shall not be brought before the meeting. 

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.11, if the 
stockholder (or a qualified representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the annual 
meeting of stockholders of the corporation to present business, such business shall not be 
considered, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the 
corporation. For purposes of this Section 1.11, to be considered a qualified representative of the 
stockholder, a person must be authorized by a written instrument executed by the such 
stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder to act for such 
stockholder as a proxy at the meeting of stockholders and such person must produce such written 
instrument or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the written instrument or 
electronic transmission, at the meeting of stockholders. 

(e) For purposes of this Section 1.11, "public disclosure" shall include 
disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones New Service, Associated Press or 
comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. 

1.12 Conduct of Meetings. 
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(a) Meetings of stockholders shall be presided over by the Chairman of the 
Board, if any, or in the Chairman's absence by the Vice Chairman of the Board, if any, or in the 
Vice Chairman's absence by the Chief Executive Officer, or in the Chief Executive Officer's 
absence, by the President, or in the President's absence by a Vice President, or in the absence of 
all of the foregoing persons by a chairman designated by the Board of Directors, or in the 
absence of such designation by a chairman chosen by vote of the stockholders at the meeting. 
The Secretary shall act as secretary of the meeting, but in the Secretary's absence the chauman of 
the meeting may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting. 

(b) The Board of Directors may adopt by resolution such rules, regulations 
and procedures for the conduct of any meeting of stockholders of the corporation as it shall deem 
appropriate including, without limitation, such guidelines and procedures as it may deem 
appropriate regarding the participation by means of remote commurucation of stockholders and 
proxyholders not physically present at a meeting. Except to the extent inconsistent witii such 
rules, regulations and procedures as adopted by the Board of Directors, the chairman of any 
meeting of stockholders shall have the right and authority to prescribe such rules, regulations and 
procedures and to do all such acts as, in the judgment of such chairman, are appropriate for the 
proper conduct of the meeting. Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether adopted by the 
Board of Directors or prescribed by the chairman of the meeting, may include, without 
limitation, the following: (i) the establishment of an agenda or order of business for the meeting; 
(ii) rules and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present; (iii) 
limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to stockholders of record of the 
corporation, their duly authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as shall be 
determined; (iv) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the commencement 
thereof; and (v) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants. Unless 
and to the extent determined by the Board of Directors or the chairman of the meeting, meetings 
of stockholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with the rules of parliamentary 
procedure. 

(c) The chauman of the meeting shall announce at the meeting when the polls 
for each matter to be voted upon at the meeting will be opened and closed. If no announcement 
is made, the polls shall be deemed to have opened when the meeting is convened and closed 
upon the final adjournment of the meeting. After the polls close, no ballots, proxies or votes or 
any revocations or changes thereto may be accepted. 

(d) In advance of any meeting of stockholders, the Board of Directors, the 
Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President shall appoint one or more 
inspectors of election to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof. One or more other 
persons may be designated as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act. If no 
inspector or alternate is present, ready and willing to act at a meeting of stockholders, the 
chairman of the meeting shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Unless 
otherwise required by law, inspectors may be officers, employees or agents of the corporation. 
Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of such inspector's duties, shall take and sign 
an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the 
best of such inspector's ability. The inspector shall have the duties prescribed by law and shall 
take charge of the polls and, when the vote in completed, shall make a certificate of the result of 
the vote taken and of such other facts as may be required by law. 
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1.13 No Action bv Consent in Lieu of a Mectmg. Stockholders of die corporation 
may not take any action by written consent in lieu of a meeting 

ARTICLED 

DIRECTORS 

2.1 General Powers. The business and affaks of the corporation shall be managed by 
or under the direction of a Board of Directors, who may exercise all of the powers of the 
corporation except as otherwise provided by law or the Certificate of Incorporation. 

2.2 Number. Election and Oualification. Subject to the rights of holders of any series 
of Preferred Stock to elect directors, the number of directors of the Corporation shall be 
established by the Board of Directors. Election of dhectors need not be by written ballot. 
Directors need not be stockholders of the corporation. 

2.3 Classes of Durectors. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred 
Stock to elect directors, the Board of Durectors shall be and is divided into tiiree classes: Class I, 
Class n and Class DI, The allocation of dkectors among classes shall be determined by 
resolution of the Board of Directors. 

2.4 Terms of Office. Subject to tiie rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock 
to elect directors, each director shall serve for a term ending on the date of the third annual 
meeting following the annual meeting at which such director was elected; provided, that each 
director initially appointed to Class I shall serve for a term expiring at the corporation's aimual 
meeting of stockholders held in 2007; each director initially appointed to Class n shall serve for 
a term expiring at the corporation's annual meeting of stockholders held in 2008; and each 
director initially appointed to Class m shall serve for a term expiring at the corporation's annual 
meeting of stockholders held in 2009; provided further, that the term of each director shall 
continue until the election and qualification of a successor and be subject to such director's 
earlier death, resignation or removal. 

2.5 Ouorum. The greater of (a) a majority of the directors at any time in office and 
(b) one-third of the number of directors fixed pursuant to Section 2.2 shall constitute a quorum. 
If at any meeting of the Board of Directors there shall be less than such a quorum, a majority of 
the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice other than 
announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present. 

2.6 Action at Meeting. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the 
directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as the act 
of the Board of Directors unless a greater number is required by law or by the Certificate of 
Incorporation. 

2.7 Removal. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock, 
directors of the corporation may be removed only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of 
the holders of at least 75% of the votes which all the stockholders would be entitied to cast in 
any annual election of directors or class of directors. 
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2.8 Vacancies. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock, any 
vacancy or newly-created directorships on the Board of Directors, however occurring, shall be 
filled only by vote of a majority of the directors then in office, altiiough less than a quorum, or 
by a sole remaining director and shall not be filled by the stockholders. A dh^tor elected to fill 
a vacancy shall hold office until the next election of tiie class for which such du:ector shall have 
been chosen, subject to the election and qualification of a successor or until such director's earlier 
death, resignation or removal. 

2.9 Resignation. Any director may resign by delivering a resignation m writing or by 
electronic transmission to the corporation at its principal office or to the Chairman of the Board, 
the Chief Executive Officer, the President or tiie Secretary. Such resignation shall be effective 
upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some later time or upon the happening of 
some later event. 

2.10 Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held 
without notice at such time and place as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of 
Dhectors; provided that any director who is absent when such a determination is made shall be 
given notice of the determination. A regular meeting of the Board of Directors may be held 
without notice immediately after and at the same place as the annual meeting of stockholders. 

2.11 Special Meetings. Special meetings of tiie Board of Dkectors may be held at any 
time and place designated in a call by tiie Chakman of tiie Board, the Chief Executive Officer, 
the President, two or more directors, or by one director in the event that there is only a single 
director in office. 

2.12 Notice of Special Meetings. Notice of any special meeting of directors shall be 
given to each director by the Secretary or by the officer or one of the dkectors calling the 
meeting. Notice shall be duly given to each director (a) in person or by telephone at least 
24 hours in advance of the meeting, (b) by sending written notice via reputable overnight courier, 
telecopy or electronic mail, or delivering written notice by hand, to such dkector's last known 
business, home or electronic mail address at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting, or (c) by 
sending written notice via first-class mail to such director's last known business or home address 
at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting. A notice or waiver of notice of a meeting of the 
Board of Directors need not specify the purposes of the meeting. 

2.13 Meetings bv Conference Communications Equipment. Directors may participate 
in meetings of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof by means of conference 
telephone or other conununications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the 
meeting can hear each other, and participation by such means shall constitute presence in person 
at such meeting. 

2.14 Action bv Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting 
of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all 
members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may be, consent to the action in 
writing or by electronic transmission, and the written consents or electronic transmissions are 
filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or committee. 
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2.15 Committees. The Board of Directors may designate one or more committees, 
each committee to consist of one or more of the dkectors of the corporation. The Board of 
Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may 
replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or 
disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members of the committee present 
at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members 
constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act 
at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member. Any such committee, to 
the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of Dkectors and subject to the provisions of 
law, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the 
management of the business and affairs of the corporation and may authorize the seal of the 
corporation to be affixed to all papers which may requke it. Each such committee shall keep 
minutes and make such reports as the Board of Directors may fix)m time to time request. Except 
as the Board of Directors may otherwise determine, any conunittee may make rules for the 
conduct of its business, but unless otherwise provided by the dkectors or in such rules, its 
business shall be conducted as nearly as possible in the same manner as is provided in these 
By-laws for the Board of Directors. Except as otherwise provided in the Certificate of 
Incorporation, these Bylaws, or the resolution of the Board of Dkectors designating the 
committee, a committee may create one or more subcommittees, each subcommittee to consist of 
one or more members of the committee, and delegate to a subcommittee any or all of the powers 
and authority of the committee. 

2.16 Compensation of Dkectors. Directors may be paid such compensation for tiiek 
services and such reimbursement for expenses of attendance at meetings as the Board of 
Directors may from time to time determine. No such payment shall preclude any dkector fi-om 
serving the corporation or any of its parent or subsidiary entities in any other capacity and 
receiving compensation for such service. 

ARTICLE ra 

OFFICERS 

3.1 Tities. The officers of the corporation shall consist of a Chief Executive Officer, 
a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers with such other tities as the Board of 
Dkectors shall determine, including a Chairman of the Board, a Vice Chairman of the Board, and 
one or more Vice Presidents, Assistant Treasurers, and Assistant Secretaries. The Board of 
Directors may appoint such other officers as it may deem appropriate. 

3-2 Election. The Chief Executive Officer, President, Treasurer and Secretary shall 
be elected annually by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following the annual meeting of 
stockholders. Other officers may be appointed by the Board of Directors at such meeting or at 
any other meeting. 

3.3 Oualification. No officer need be a stockholder. Any two or more offices may be 
held by the same person. 
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3.4 Tenure. Except as otherwise provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation 
or by these By-laws, each officer shall hold office until such officer's successor is elected and 
qualified, unless a different term is specified in the resolution electing or appointing such officer, 
or until such officer's earlier death, resignation or removal. 

3.5 Resignation and Removal. Any officer may resign by delivering a written 
resignation to the corporation at its principal office or to the Chief Executive Officer, the 
President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified 
to be effective at some later time or upon the happening of some later event. 

Any officer may be removed at any time, with or witiiout cause, by vote of a majority of 
the directors then in office. 

Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise determine, no officer who resigns or is 
removed shall have any right to any compensation as an officer for any period following such 
officer's resignation or removal, or any right to damages on account of such removal, whether 
such officer's compensation be by the month or by the year or otherwise, unless such 
compensation is expressly provided for in a duly authorized written agreement with the 
corporation. 

3.6 Vacancies. The Board of Directors may fill any vacancy occurring in any office 
for any reason and may, in its discretion, leave unfilled for such period as it may determine any 
offices other than those of Chief Executive Officer, President, Treasurer and Secretary. Each 
such successor shall hold office for the unexpked term of such officer's predecessor and until a 
successor is elected and qualified, or until such officer's earlier death, resignation or removal. 

3.7 Chakman of tiie Board. The Board of Directors may appomt from its members a 
Chairman of the Board, who need not be an employee or officer of the corporation. If the Board 
of Directors appoints a Chairman of the Board, such Chairman shall perform such duties and 
possess such powers as are assigned by the Board of Dkectors and, if the Chairman of the Board 
is also designated as the corporation's Chief Executive Officer, shall have the powers and duties 
of the Chief Executive Officer prescribed in Section 3.8 of these By-laws. Unless otiierwise 
provided by the Board of Directors, the Chakman of the Board shall preside at all meetings of 
the Board of Directors and stockholders. 

3.8 President: Chief Executive Officer. Unless the Board of Dkectors has designated 
the Chairman of the Board or anotiier person as the corporation's Chief Executive Officer, the 
President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the corporation. The Chief Executive Officer 
shall have general charge and supervision of the business of the Corporation subject to the 
direction of the Board of Directors. The President shall perform such other duties and shall have 
such other powers as the Board of Directors or tiie Chief Executive Officer (if tiie President is 
not the Chief Executive Officer) may from time to time prescribe. In the event of the absence, 
inability or refusal to act of the Chief Executive Officer or the President (if tiie President is not 
the Chief Executive Officer), the Vice President (or if there shall be more than one, the Vice 
Presidents in the order determined by the Board of Directors) shall perform the duties of the 
Chief Executive Officer and when so performing such duties shall have all the powers of and be 
subject to all the restrictions upon the Chief Executive Officer. 
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3.9 Vice Presidents. Any Vice President shall perform such duties and possess such 
powers as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time 
prescribe. The Board of Directors may assign to any Vice President the titie of Executive Vice 
President, Senior Vice President or any other titie selected by the Board of IMrectors. 

3.10 Secretarv and Assistant Secretaries. The Secretary shall perform such duties and 
shall have such powers as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may ftx)m time 
to time prescribe. In addition, the Secretary shall perform such duties and have such powers as 
are incident to the office of the secretary, including without limitation the duty and power to give 
notices of all meetings of stockholders and special meetings of the Board of Dkectors, to attend 
all meetings of stockholders and the Board of Dkectors and keep a record of the proceedings, to 
maintain a stock ledger and prepare lists of stockholders and thek addresses as required, to be 
custodian of corporate records and the corporate seal and to affix and attest to the same on 
documents. 

Any Assistant Secretary shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board 
of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary may fi*om time to time prescribe. In 
the event of tiie absence, inability or refusal to act of the Secretary, the Assistant Secretary (or if 
there shall be more than one, the Assistant Secretaries in the order determined by the Board of 
Directors) shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Secretary. 

In the absence of the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary at any meeting of stockholders 
or directors, the chairman of the meeting shall designate a temporary secretary to keep a record 
of the meeting. 

3.11 Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers. The Treasurer shall perform such duties and 
shall have such powers as may from time to time be assigned by the Board of Dkectors or the 
Chief Executive Officer. In addition, the Treasurer shall perform such duties and have such 
powers as are incident to the office of treasurer, including without limitation the duty and power 
to keep and be responsible for all funds and securities of the corporation, to deposit fimds of the 
corporation in depositories selected in accordance with these By-laws, to disburse such funds as 
ordered by the Board of Dkectors, to make proper accounts of such funds, and to render as 
required by the Board of Dkectors statements of all such transactions and of the fin^cial 
condition of the corporation. 

The Assistant Treasurers shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board 
of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or tiie Treasurer may from time to time prescribe. In 
the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer (or if 
there shall be more than one, the Assistant Treasurers in the order determined by the Board of 
Directors) shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Treasurer. 

3.12 Salaries. Officers of the corporation shall be entitied to such salaries, 
compensation or reimbursement as shall be fixed or allowed fi:om time to time by the Board of 
Directors. 
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ARTICLE IV 

CAPITAL STOCK 

4.1 Issuance of Stock. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, 
the whole or any part of any unissued balance of the authorized capital stock of the corporation 
or the whole or any part of any shares of the authorized capital stock of the corporation held in 
the corporation's treasury may be issued, sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of by vote of 
the Board of Directors in such manner, for such lawfial consideration and on such terms as the 
Board of Dkectors may detennine. 

4.2 Certificates of Stock. Every holder of stock of the corporation shall be entitied to 
have a certificate, in such form as may be prescribed by law and by the Board of Dkectors, 
certifying the number and class of shares owned by such holder in the corporation. Each such 
certificate shall be signed by, or in the name of the corporation by, the Chairman or Vice 
Chairman, if any, of the Board of Directors, or the President or a Vice President, and the 
Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the corporation. 
Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be a facsimile. 

Each certificate for shares of stock which are subject to any restriction on transfer 
pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, these By-laws, applicable securities laws or any 
agreement among any number of stockholders or among such holders and the corporation shall 
have conspicuously noted on the face or back of the certificate either the full text of the 
restriction or a statement of the existence of such restriction. 

There shall be set forth on the face or back of each certificate representing shares of such 
class or series of stock of the corporation a statement that the corporation will furnish without 
charge to each stockholder who so requests a copy of the full text of the powers, designations, 
preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or 
series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights. 

4.3 Transfers. Except as otherwise established by rules and regulations adopted by 
the Board of Directors, and subject to applicable law, shares of stock may be transferred on the 
books of the corporation by the surrender to the corporation or its transfer agent of the certificate 
representing such shares properly endorsed or accompanied by a written assignment or power of 
attorney properly executed, and with such proof of authority or the authenticity of signature as 
the corporation or its transfer agent may reasonably require. Except as may be otherwise 
required by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-laws, the corporation shall be 
entitled to treat the record holder of stock as shown on its books as the owner of such stock for 
all purposes, including the payment of dividends and the right to vote with respect to such stock, 
regardless of any transfer, pledge or other disposition of such stock until the shares have been 
transferred on the books of the corporation in accordance with the requkements of these By­
laws. 

4.4 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. The corporation may issue a new 
certificate of stock in place of any previously issued certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen 
or destroyed, upon such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may prescribe, including 
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the presentation of reasonable evidence of such loss, theft or destruction and the giving of such 
indemnity and posting of such bond as the Board of Directors may require for the protection of 
the corporation or any transfer agent or registrar. 

4.5 Record Date. The Board of Directors may fix in advance a date as a record date 
for the determination of the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of 
stockholders, or entitied to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of 
any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any 
other lawful action. Such record date shall not be more than 60 nor less than 10 days before the 
date of such meeting, nor more than 60 days prior to any other action to which such record date 
relates. 

If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice 
of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day before the 
day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day before 
the day on which the meeting is held. If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining 
stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the 
Board of Dkectors adopts the resolution relating to such purpose. 

A determination of stockholders of record entitied to notice of or to vote at a meeting of 
stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of 
Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting. 

ARTICLE V 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

5.1 Fiscal Year. Except as from time to time otherwise designated by the Board of 
Directors, the fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the fkst day of January of each year 
and end on the last day of December in each year, 

5.2 Corporate Seal. The corporate seal shall be in such form as shall be approved by 
the Board of Directors. 

5.3 Waiver of Notice. Whenever notice is required to be given by law, by the 
Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-laws, a written waiver signed by the person entitled to 
notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person entitied to notice, whether before, at 
or after the time stated in such notice, shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance of a 
person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person 
attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting, to the 
transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. 

5.4 Voting of Securities. Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise designate, 
the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Treasurer may waive notice of, and act as, or 
appoint any person or persons to act as, proxy or attorney-in-fact for this corporation (with or 
without power of substitution) at any meeting of stockholders or securityholders of any other 
entity, the securities of which may be held by this corporation. 
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5.5 Evidence of Autiioritv. A certificate by tiie Secretary, or an Assistant Secretary, 
or a temporary Secretary, as to any action taken by the stockholders, dkectors, a committee or 
any officer or representative of the corporation shall as to all persons who rely on the certificate 
in good faith be conclusive evidence of such action. 

5.6 Certificate of Incorporation. All references in these By-laws to the Certificate of 
Incorporation shall be deemed to refer to the Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation, as 
amended and in effect from time to time. 

5.7 Severability. Any determination tiiat any provision of tiiese By-laws is for any 
reason inapplicable, illegal or ineffective shall not affect or invalidate any other provision of 
these By-laws. 

5.8 Pronouns. All pronouns used in tiiese By-laws shall be deemed to refer to tiie 
masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of the person or persons may 
require. 

ARTICLE VI 

AMENDMENTS 

These By-laws may be altered, amended or repealed, in whole or in part, or new By-laws 
may be adopted by the Board of Directors or by the stockholders as provided in the Certificate of 
Incorporation. 
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AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION 

OF 

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS. INC. 

(originally incorporated on June 22,1999 under the name World Energy Exchange, Inc.) 

FIRST: The name of the Corporation is World Energy Solutions, Inc. 

SECOND: The address of the Corporation's registered office in the State of Delaware is 
Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle. 
Ilie name of its registered agent at such address is The Coiporation Trust Company. 

THIRD: The nature of the business or purposes to be conducted or promoted by fee 
Coiporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which coiporations may be organized 
under the General Corporation Law of Delaware. 

FOURTH: The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall 
have authority to issue is 155,000,000 shares, consisting of (i) 150,000,000 shares of Conunon 
Stock, $.0001 par value per share ("Common Slock"), and (ii) 5,000,000 shares of Prefen^ 
Stock, $.0001 par value per share ("Preferred Stock"), 

The following is a statement of the designations and the powers, privileges and rights, 
and the qualifications, hmitations or restrictions thereof in respect of each class of capital stock 
of the Corporation. 

A COMMON STOCK. 

1. General. The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the hold«^ of the 
Common Stock are subject to and qualified by the rights of the holders of the Preferred Stock of 
any series as may be designated by the Board of Directors upon any issuance of the Preferred 
Stock of any series. 

2. Voting. The holders of the Common Stock shall have voting rights at all 
meetings of stockholders, eadi such holder being entitied to one vote for each share thereof held 
by such holder; provided, however, that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of 
Common Stock shall not be entitied to vote on any amendment to this Certificate of 
Incorporation (which, as used herein, shall mean tiie certificate of incorporation of the 
Corporation, as amended from time to time> including the terms of any certificate of designations 
of any series of Preferred Stock) that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series 
of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected scries arc entitled, either separately or together 
as a class with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon pursuant to this 
Certificate of Incorporation. There shall be no cumulative voting. 

The number of authorized shares of Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but 
not below the number of shares thereof then outstandmg) by the affinnative vote of the holders 
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of a majority of the stock of the Corporation entitied to vote, irrespective of the provisions of 
Section 242(b)(2) of the General Corporation Law of Ddaware. 

3. Dividends. Divideaids may be declared and paid on the Common Stodc from 
funds law&lly available therefor as and w h ^ determined by tiie Board of Directors and subject 
to any preferential dividend or other rights of any t h ^ outstanding Preferred Stock. 

4. Liquidation. Upon the dissolution or liquidation of the Corporation, whether 
voluntary or involuntary^ holders of Common Stock will be entitied to receive all assets of the 
Corporation available for distribution to its stockholders, subject to any preferential or ofe«-
rights of any then outstanding Prefared Stodc. 

B PREFERRED STOCK, 

Preferred Stock may be issued fi-om time to time in one or more s«ies, eadi of such 
series to have such terms as stated or expressed herein and in the resolution or resolutions 
providing for the issue of such sales adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation as 
hereinafter pro\dded. Any shares of Preferred Stock which may be Fedeemed, purchased or 
acquired by the Corporation may be reissued except as otherwise provided by law. 

Authority is hereby expressly granted to the Board of Directors from time to time to issue 
the Preferred Stock in one or more series, and in oonnec^on witii the creation of any such series, 
by resolution or resolutions providing for the issuance of the shares thereof, to detennine and fix 
the number of shares of such series and such voting powere, full or limited, or no voting powers, 
and such designations, preferences and relative participating, optional or other special ri^ts, and 
qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, includii^ without limitation thereof, dividend 
rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, as shdl be stated 
and expressed in such resolutions, all to the full extent now or hereafter permitted by the Gaieral 
Corporation Law of Delaware. Without limitii^ tiie geaerality of tiie foregoing, the resolutions 
providing for issuance of any saies of Preferred Stock may provide that sudi seri^ shall be 
superior or rank equally or be junior to the Preferred Stock of any otiier series to the extent 
permitted by law. 

The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock may be increased or decreased (but 
not below the nimiber of shares then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a 
majority of the stock of the Corporation entitied to vote, irrespective of the provisions of Section 
242(b)(2) of the Genera! Coiporation Law of Delaware. 

FIFTH: Except as otherwise provided herein, the Corporation reserves the right to 
ammd, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the 
manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute aiMi this Certificate of Incorporation, and all rights 
conferred upon stoddiolders herein are granted subject to this reservation. 

SIXTH: In furtiierance and not in limitation of the powera conferred upon it by the laws 
of tiie State of Delaware, and subject to the terms of any series of Preferred Stock, the Board of 
Directors shall have the power to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the Corporation's By-laws. The 
affirmative vote of a majority of the directors present at any regular or special meeting of tiie 
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Board of Directors at whidi a quorum is presmt shall be required to adopt, ametni, alter or repeal 
the Corporation's By-laws. The Corporation's By-laws also may be adopted, am^ided, altered 
or repealed by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of tiie 
votes which all the stockholders would be entitied to cast in any aimual election of directors or 
class of directors, in addition to any other vote required by this Certificate of Incorporation. 
Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, this Certificate of hicorporation or the By-Laws of 
the Corporation, and notwithstanding tiie fact that a lesser pKx:entage may be specified by law, 
tiie affirmative vote of the holders of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of die votes which all 
the stockholders would be ^titied to cast in any annua] election of directors or class of directors 
shall be required to amend or repeed, or to adopt any provision inconsistent with, this 
Article SIXTH. 

SEVENTH: Except to the extent that the Gaieral Corporation Law of Delaware 
prohibits the elimination or lunitation of liability of directors for breaches of fiduciary duty, no 
director of the Corporation shall be personally hable to the Corporation or its stockholders for 
monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, notwithstanding any |»x>vi$ion 
of law imposing such liability. No amendment to or repeal of this provision shall apply to or 
have any effect on the liability or alleged liability of any director of the Corporation for or with 
respect to any acts or omissions of such director occurring prior to such ammdmcnt or repeal. 

EIGHTH: The Corporation shall provide indemnification as follows: 

1. Actions, Suits and Proceedings Oth^ than bv or in tiie Right of the Corporaticm. 
The Corporation shall indemnify each person who was or is a party or threatoied to be made a 
party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceiKling, whether civil, oiminai, 
administrative or investigative (othra* ttian an action by or in the right of the Corporation) by 
reason of the fact that he or she is or was, or has agreed to become, a director or officer of tiie 
Corporation, or is or was serving, or has agreed to serve, at the request of tiie Corporation, as a 
director, officer, partner, employee or trustee of, or in a similar capacity with, anotiier 
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other oiterprise (including any employee heacBt 
plan) (all such persons being referred to hereaft^ as an "Indemnitee**), or by reason of any a<^on 
alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity, against all expenses (including attorneys' 
fees), judgm^ts, fines and amoxmts paid in settiement actually and reasonably incurred by or on 
behalf of Indenmitee m connection with such action, suit or proceeding and any appeal 
therefrom, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner which Indemnitee reasonably 
believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any 
criminal action or proceeding, had no reason^le cause to believe his or her conduct was 
unlawful. The trammation of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, ordw, settiem«it, 
conviction or upon a plea of nolo cont^dere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a 
presumption tiiat hidemnitee did not act in good faith and in a manner which Inderrmitee 
reasonably beheved to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation, and, with 
respect to any criminal action or proofing, had reasonable cause to believe that his or her 
conduct was unlawful. 

2. Actions or Suits by or in the Right of the Coiporation. The Corporation shall 
indemnify any Indemnitee who was or is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any 
threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the Corporation to procure a 
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judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that Indemnitee is or was, or has agreed to become, a 
director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was sa^ng, or has agreed to serve, at the request 
of the Corporation, as a director, officer, partner, employee or trustee of, or in a similar capacity 
with, another corporation, partnership, joint vulture, trust or other ent^prise (including any 
employee benefit plan), or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such 
capacity, against all expenses (including attorneys' fees) and, to the extent permitted by law, 
amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in 
connection with such action, suit or proceeding and any appeal therefrom, if Indemnitee acted in 
good faith and in a manner which Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the 
best interests of the Corporation, excqjt that no indemnification shall be made under tiiis Section 
2 in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which Indemnitee shall have been adjudged to be 
liable to the Corporation, unless, and only to the extent, that the Court of Chancery of Delaware 
shall determine upon apphcation that, despite the adjudication of sudi liability but in view of all 
the circumstances of the case. Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably oititied to indemnity for such 
expenses (including attorneys' fees) which the Court of Chancery of Delaware shall dean 
proper. 

3. Indemnification for Exp^ises of Successful Partv. Notwithstanding any other 
provisions of this Article, to the extent that an hidemnitee has been successful, on the merits or 
otherwise, in defense of any action, sxiit or proceeding referred to in Sections 1 and 2 of this 
Article EIGHTH, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter tiierein, or on appeal fixmi any such 
action, suit or proceeding, indemnitee shall be indemnified against all expoises (including 
attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by or on behalf of Indcmiiitee in connection 
therewith. Without limiting the foregoing, if any action, suit or proceeding is disposed of, on the 
merits or otherwise (including a disposition witiiout prejudice), without (i) the disposition being 
adverse to Indenmitee, (ii) an adjudication that hidemnitee was liable to the Corporation, (iii) a 
plea of guilty or nolo contendere by Indemnitee, (iv) an adjudication that Indemnitee did not act 
in good faith and in a mann^ he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best intarests 
of the Corporation, and (v) with respect to any criminal proceeding, an adjudication that 
Indenmitee had reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. Indemnitee shall be 
considered for the purposes hereof to have been wholly successful with respect thereto. 

4. Notification and Defense of Claim. As a condition precedent to an hidemnitee's 
right to be indemnified, such Indemnitee must notify the Corporation in writing as soon as 
practicable of any action, suit, iMoceeding or investigation involving such Indemnitee for which 
indemnity will or could be sought. With respect to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation 
of which the Corporation is so notified, the Corporation will be ^titied to participate therein at 
its own expense and/or to assume the defense thereof at its own expense, with legal counsel 
reasonably acceptable to Indemnitee. Aft^ notice fi^om the Corporation to Indannitee of its 
election so to assume such defense, tiie Corporation shall not be liable to Indemiutee for any 
legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by Indemnitee in connection with such action, suit, 
proceeding or mvestigation, other than as provided below in this Section 4. Indemnitee shall 
have the right to employ his or her own counsel in coimection with such action, suit, proceeding 
or investigation, but the fees and expenses of such counsel incurred aftar notice from the 
Corporation of its assumption of the defense thereof shall be at the expense of Indemnitee unless 
(i) the employment of counsel by Indemnitee has been autiiorized by tiie Corporation, 
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(ii) counsel to Indemnitee shall have reasonably concluded tiiat there may be a conflict of interest 
or position on any significant issue between the Corporation and Indenmitee in the conduct of 
the defense of such action, suit, proceeding or mvestigation or (iii) the Corporation shall not in 
fact have employed counsel to assume the defaise of sudi action, suit, proceeding or 
investigation, in e^h of which cases the fees and expoises of counsel for Indemnitee shall be at 
the expense of the Corporation, excq>t as otherwise exj^essly provided by this Article. The 
Corporation shall not be entitl«l, witiiout the consent of Ind^nnitee, to assume die defense of 
any claim brought by or in the right of the Corporation or as to which counsel for Indramiitee 
shall have reasonably made the conclusion provided for in clause (ii) above. The Corporation 
shall not be required to indemnify Indenmitee under this Article EIGHTH for any amounts paid 
in settlement of any action, suit, proceeding or investigation effected without its writt^i consent. 
The Corporation shall not settic any action, suit, proceeding or investigation in any maimer 
which would impose any penalty or limitation on Indemnitee without Indemnitee's written 
consent. Neitiier the Corporation nor hidemnitee will unreasonably witiihold or delay its consent 
to any proposed settiement. 

5. Advance of Expens^. Subject to the provisions of Section 6 of tills Article 
EIGHTH, in the evrait of any action, suit, proceeding or investigation of whidi the Corporation 
receives notice under this Article, any expenses (including attorneys* fees) incurred by or on 
behalf of Indemnitee in defending an action, suit, proceeding or investigation or any appeal 
therefrom shall be paid by the Corporation in advance of flie final disposition of such matter; 
provided^ however, that tiie payment of such expenses incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in 
advance of the final disposition of such matter shall be made only upon recdpt of an undertaking 
by or on behalf of Indenmitee to repay all amounts so advanced in the event that it shall 
ultimately be determined that Indemnitee is not entitied to be indemnified by the Coiporation as 
autiiorized in this Article; and further provided that no such advmc&n&it of expraises ^lall be 
made under this Article EIGHTH if it is determined (m tiie manner descaibed in Section 6) tiiat 
(i) Indemnitee did not act in good faith and in a maimer he reasonably believed to be in, or not 
opposed to, the best mterests of the Coqwration, or (ii) with respect to any criminal action or 
proceeding, Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. Such 
undertaking shall be accepted without refererice to the financial ability of Indemnitee to make 
such repayment. 

6. Procedure for Indemnification. In order to obtain indemnification or 
advancement of expenses pursuant to Section 1,2,3 or 5 of flus Article EIGHTH, an Inidrannitee 
shall submit to the Corporation a written request. Any sudi advancement of expenses shall be 
made promptiy, and m any event withm 60 days after receipt by the Corporation of flie writtoi 
request of Indemnitee, unless (i) the Corporation has assumed tiie defense pursuant to Section 4 
of this Article EIGHTH (and none of the circumstances described m Section 4 of this Article 
EIGHTH that would nonetiieless entitie tiie Indenmitee to indemnification for the fees and 
expenses of separate counsel have occurred) or (ii) the Corporation determines within such 
60-day period tiiat Indemnitee did not meet the applicable standard of conduct s^ fortii in 
Section 1,2 or 5 of this Article EIGHTH, as the case may be. Any such indonrdfication, unless 
ordered by a court, shall be made with respect to requests under Section 1 or 2 only as authorized 
in the specific case upon a determination by tiie Corporation that the indemnification of 
Indemnitee is proper because Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in 
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Section 1 or 2, as the case may be. Such determination shall be made in each instairce (a) by a 
majority vote of the directors of the Coiporation consisting of pffl*sons who are not at that time 
parties to the action, suit or proceeding in question ("disinterested directora"), whether or not a 
quorum, (b) by a committee of disinterested directors designated by majority vote of 
disinterested directors, whether or not a quorum, (c) if there are no disinterested directors, or if 
the disinterested directors so direct, by indqiendent legal counsel (who may, to the CKt&at 
permitted by law, be regular legal counsel to tiie Coiporation) in a written opinion, or (d) by tiie 
stockholders of the Corporation. 

7. Remedies. The right to indemnification or advanc^noit of expenses as granted 
by this Article shall be enforceable by Indemnitee in any court of competent jurisdiction. 
Neither the failure of the Corporation to have made a determination prior to tiie commencement 
of such action that indemnification is proper in the circumstances because Indemiutee has met 
the applicable standard of conduct, nor an actual detramination by the Corporation pursuant to 
Section 6 of this Article EIGHTH that Indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of 
conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that Indemiutee has not m ^ the 
applicable standard of conduct. Indemnitee's expenses (including attorneys' fees) reasonably 
incurred in connection with successfully establi^ng Indrannitee's right to ind«imification, in 
whole or in part, in any such proceeding shall also be indenmified by the Corporation. 

8. Limitations. Notwithstanding anytiiing to the contrary in this Article, except as 
set forth in Section 7 of tiie Article EIGHTH, tiie Corporation shall not indramify an Indemnitee 
pursuant to this Article EIGHTH in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by 
such Indemnitee unless the initiation thereof was approved by the Bowd of Directors of the 
Coiporation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article, the Corporation shall not 
indemnify an Indemnitee to tiie extent such Indemnitee is reimbursed fi?om the proceeds of 
insurance, and in the event the Corporation makes any indemnification payments to an 
Indemnitee and such Indenmitee is subsequently reimbursed fix)m tiie proceeds of insurance, 
such Indemnitee shall promptiy refund indenmification payments to the Corporation to the extent 
of such insurance reimbursement. 

9. Subsequent Amendment. No amendment, termination or repeal of this Article or 
of the relevant provisions of the General Corporation Law of Delaware or any other applicable 
laws shall affect or diminish in any way the rigjits of any Indenmitee to indemnification under 
the provisions hereof with respect to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation arismg out of 
or relating to any actions, transactions or facts occurring prior to the final adoption of siKjh 
amendment, termination or repeal. 

10. Otiier Rights. The indenmification and advancement of expenses provided by this 
Article shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which an Indemnitee seeking 
indenmification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any law (common or 
statutory), agreemait or vote of stockholders or disintwested directors or otherwise, both as to 
action in Indemnitee's official capacity and as to action in any other capacity while holding 
office for the Coiporation, and shall contmue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be a director 
or officer, and shall inure to the baiefit of the estate, heirs, executors and administrators of 
Indemnitee. Nothing contained in this Article shall be deemed to prohibit, and the Corporation is 
specifically authorized to enter into, agreements with officers and directors providing 
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indemnification rights and procedures different fixnn those set forth in tins Article. In addition, 
the Corporation may, to the extent authorized from time to time by its Board of Directora, grant 
indemnification rights to other employees or agents of the Corporation or othffl: persons serving 
the Corporation and such rights may be equivalent to, or greater or less than, those set forth in 
this Article. 

11 - Partial hidmmification. If an Indemnitee is entitied under any provision of this 
Article to indemnification by die Corporation for some or a portion of tiie ̂ cpenses (including 
attorneys' fees), judgments, fines or amounts paid in settiement actually and reasonably incurred 
by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection witii any action, suit, proceeding or inv^tigation 
and any appeal therefix)m but not, however, for tiie total amount thereof; the Corporation diall 
nevertheless indemnify Ind^nnitee for the portion of such expenses (including attorneys* fees), 
judgments, fines or amounts paid in settiement to which Indemnitee is entitled. 

12. Insurance. The Corporation may purdiase and maintain Insurance^ at its expense, 
to protect itself and any director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or another 
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other ^terprise (including any ^nployee benefit 
plan) against any expense, liabihty or loss incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of 
his status as sudi, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indrannify such 
person against such expense, liability or loss undw the General Corporation Law of Delaware. 

13. Savings Clause. If tiiis Article or any portion hereof ^all be invalidated on any 
ground by any court of competent jurisdiction, then the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify 
each Indemnitee as to any expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts 
paid in settlement in connection with any action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, 
criminal or administrative, including an action by or in the right of the Corporation, to the fullest 
extent penmitted by any ^^licable portion of tiiis Article that shall not have been invalidated and 
to the fidlest extent permitted by applicable law. 

14. Definitions. Terms used hwein and defined in Section 145(h) and Section 145(i) 
of the General Corporation Law of Delaware shall have the respective meanmgs assigned to such 
t&rms in such Section 145(h) and Section 145(i). 

NINTH: This Article is inserted for the management of the busmess and for the conduct 
of the affairs of the Corporation, 

1. General Powers. The business and affeiTS of the Corporation shall be manned by 
or under the direction of the Board of Directors. 

2. Numbo: of Directors: Election of Directora. Subject to the rights of holdCTs of 
any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, the number of directors of the Corporation shall 
be established by the Board of Directors, Election of directors need not be by written ballot, 
except as and to the extent provided in the By-laws of the Corporation. 

3. Classes of Directors. Subject to the rights of holda^ of any series of Preferred 
Stock to elect directors, the Board of Directors shall be and is divided into three classes: Class I, 
Class U and Class III. 
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4. Terms of Office. Subject to the rights of holda:s of any series of Preferred Stock 
to elect du-ectors, each director shall serve for a term aiding on the date of the third annual 
meeting following the annual meeting at which sudi director was elected; provided, that ^ c h 
director initially appointed to Class I shall serve for a term expiring at the Corporation's annual 
meeting of stockholders held in 2007; each durector initially appointed to Class II shall serve for 
a term expiring at the Corporation's annual meeting of stockholders held in 2008; ai^ eadi 
director initially appointed to Class HI shall serve for a term expiring at the Corporation's annual 
meeting of stockholders held m 2009; provided further, tiiat the term of each director shall 
continue until the election and qualification of his successor and be subject to his earliCT death, 
resignation or removal. 

5. Quorum. The greater of (a) a majority of the directora at anytime in office and 
(b) one-tiiird of the number of directors fixed pursuant to Section 2 of this Article NINTH shall 
constitute a quorum. If at any mee^g of flie Board of Directors tiiere shall be less than such a 
quorum, a majority of the dkectors present may adjourn the meetmg from time to time without 
fiirther notice other than annoimcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present. 

6. Action at Meeting. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of tiie 
directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as the act 
of the Board of Directors unless a greater number is required by law or by this Cratificate of 
Incorporation. 

7. Removal. Subject to the ri^ts of holdera of any series of Prefened Stodc, 
directors of the Corporation may be removed only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of 
the holdera of at least seventy-five percoit (75%) of the votes whidi all the stoddiolders would 
be entitied to cast in any annual election of directora or class of directora. 

8. Vacancies. Subject to the rights of holdras of any series of Prefrared Stodc, any 
vacancy or newly seated directorships in tiie Board of Directora, however occurring, shall be 
filled only by vote of a majority of the directora then m office, although less than a quorum, or 
by a sole remaining director and shall not be filled by flie stoddbiolders. A dfrector elected to fill 
a vacancy shall hold office until tiie next election of tiie class for which such director shall have 
been chosen, subject to the election and qualification of a successor and to such director's earlier 
death, resignation or removal. 

9. Stockholder Nominations and Introduction of Business, Eto. Advance notice of 
stockholder nominations for election of directora and other business to be brou^t by 
stockholders before a meeting of stockholdera shall be givai in the manner provided by the By­
laws of the Corporation. 

10. Amendments to Article. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, this 
Certificate of Incorporation or die By-laws of the Corporation, and notwithstanding the fact that 
a lesser percentage may be specified by law, flic affirmative vote of the holdera of at least 
seventy-five percent (75%) of die votes which all tiie stockholdera would be aititied to cast in 
any aimual election of directora or class of directors shall be required to amend or repeal, or to 
adopt any provision mconsistent with, tiiis Article NINTH. 
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TENTH: Stockholdera of the Corporation may not take any ac^on by vmttsn cons^t in 
lieu of a meeting. Notwithstanding any otiier pio^dsions of law, this CertifK^ of Incorporation 
or the By-laws of the Corporation, and notwithstanding the feet that a lessw percratage may be 
specified by law, tiie affirmative vote of die holdera of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the 
votes which all the stockholdera would be entitied to cast in any annual election of duectora or 
class of dkectors shall be required to am^d or repeal, or to adopt any provision inconsistent 
witii, tills Article TENTH. 

ELEVENTH: Special meetings of stockholdera for any purpose or purposes may be 
called at any time by tiie Board of Directors, tiie Chanman of tiie Board or the President, but 
such special meetings may not be called by any other person or peraons. Business transacted at 
any special meeting of stockholdera shall be hmited to mattera relating to ihc purpose or 
purposes stated In the notice of meeting. Notwitiistanding any otiier provision of law, this 
Certificate of Incorporation or the By-laws of the Corporation, and notwitiistanding the ^ict that 
a lesser percentage may be specified by law, the affirmative vote of the holdera of at least 
seventy-five percent (75%) of tiie votes which all ttic stockholdera would be entitied to cast in 
any annual election of directora or class of directora shall be required to amend or repeal, or to 
adopt any provision mconsistent wifli. tiiis Article ELEVENTH. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, tiiis Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which restates, 
integrates and amends the certificate of incorporation of tte Coiporation, and which has been 
duly adopted in accordance witii Sectiwis 228,242 and 245 of ttie Delaware General Corporation 
Law, has been executed by ite duly autiiorized officer tiiis j(ji^dav of November, 2006. 

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC. 

By: HvL»^6w 
NaniQL^ames Paralow 
Title; Chief Fmancial Officer 
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Exhibit A-18 "Secretary of State' 

See the following page for the evidence that World Energy is still currentiy registered 
with the Ohio Secretary of State. 

5̂ 1 



United States of America 
State of Ohio 

Office of the Secretary of State 

/, Jennifer Brunner, do hereby certify that I am the duly electedy qualified and 
present acting Secretary of State for the State of Ohio, and as such have custo^ 

of the records of Ohio and Foreign business entities; that said records show 
WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC, a Delaware corporation, having qualified 

to do business within the State of Ohio on April 04, 2002 under License No, 
1310458 is currently in GOOD STANDING upon the records of this office. 

Witness my hand and the seal of the 
Secretary of State at Columbus, Ohio 
this 4th day of December, A.D, 2008 

L J U i ^ t - * • • / " ' ( ! e ^ #!>«-• 

Ohio Secretary of State 

Validation Number: V2008338D29FFB 
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Exhibit B-1 "Jurisdictions of Operation" 

State of Arizona 

State of Arkansas 

State of California 

State of Colorado 

State of Connecticut 

District of Columbia 

State of Delaware 

State of Florida 

State of Georgia 

State of Idaho 

State of Illinois 

State of Indiana 

State of Iowa 

State of Kansas 

State of Kentucky 

State of Maine 

State of Maryland 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts 

State of Michigan 

State of Missouri 

State of New Hampshire 
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State of New Jersey 

State of New Mexico 

State of New York 

State of North Carolina 

State of Ohio 

State of Oklahoma 

State of Oregon 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

State of Rhode Island 

State of South Carolina 

State of Tennessee 

State of Texas 

State of Washington 

State of West Virginia 

State of Wisconsin 

State of Virginia 
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Exhibit B-2 '^Experience & Plans" 

World Energy Solutions plans: 
World Energy is an energy brokerage company that has developed an online reverse 

auction platform, the World Energy Exchange. We bring energy suppliers and 
commercial, industrial and govemment energy customera together in our virtual 
marketplace, often with the assistance of channel partnera. Although our core 
competency is brokering electricity, we have adapted our World Energy Exchange 
platform to accommodate the brokering of natural gas, green power and energy-related 
fmancial instruments, in response to customer demand. The World Energy Exchange is 
part of a complete end-to-end online energy procurement process that includes managing 
deals and tasks, providing market intelligence, developing RFPs, conducting auctions, 
analyzing results, assisting customers through the contracting process, and tracking 
customers' energy contracts and usage history. 

Our end-to-end online energy procurement process is attractive to channel partnera as 
it provides them with a business automation platform to enhance their growth, 
profitability and customer satisfaction. Channel partners such as energy service 
companies, demand side consultants and manufacturers, ABCs and strategic sourcing 
companies are an integral component of our business as these frnns increasingly utilize 
our World Energy Exchange to enhance their service offerings to their customera. By 
accessing our market intelligence, auction and automated platform, channel partnera 
significantiy contribute to the Company's trading activity and prociorement volume. 

World Energy Solutions experience: 
• World Energy Solutions does not trade or ever take titie or ownership of natural 

gas, electricity or other energy commodity. World Energy Solutions is an energy 
broker. 

• World Energy Solutions is the market share leader in North America, having 
brokered over 40 billion kWh of electricity and 700 million kWh of green power 
and Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs) and one trillion cubic feet of natural 
gas. 

• World Energy Solutions runs a procurement exchange that is supplier-neutral. 
Our mission is to get the consumer the lowest price for their energy needs. 

• World Energy Solutions provides a toll fi-ee number (1-800-578-0718) for all 
customers inquires. 

• World Energy Solutions will not be billing retail customers so has not included a 
sample bill. World Energy Solutions' fee is paid for directiy by the supplier. 
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Exhibit B-3 "Summary of Experience" 

See the enclosed Excel spreadsheet. This spreadsheet summarizes World Energy 
Solutions, Inc. experience in natural gas procurement in 2008. 
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Exhibit B-4 '"Disclosure of LiabiUties and Investigations" 

There are NO existing, pending or past rulings, judgments, contingent liabilities, and 
revocation of authority, regulatory investigations, or any other matter that could 
adversely impact World Energy Solutions, Inc. financial or operational status to provide 
the services for which it is seeking to be certified to provide. 
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Exhibit B-5 ̂ 'Disclosure of Consumer Protecdon Violations'' 

Neither World Energy Solutions, Inc. nor any predecessor of World Energy Solutions, 
Inc. has ever been convicted or held liable for fraud or for violation of any consumer 
protection or antitrust laws within the past five years. 

No director, officer, or other similar official of World Energy Solutions, Inc. has ever 
been convicted or held liable for fraud or for violation of any consumer protection or 
antitrust laws within the past five years. 
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Exhibit B-6 ''Disclosure of Certification Denial, Curtaihnent, Suspension, or 
Revocation" 

Neither World Energy Solutions, Inc. nor any predecessor of World Energy Solutions, 
Inc. has had any certification, license, or application to provide retail or wholesale 
electric service including aggregation service denied, curtailed, suspended, revoked, or 
cancelled within the past two years. 

Sol 



Exhibit C-1 "Annual Reports" 

World Energy Solutions, Inc. has attached the two most recent Annual Reports to 
Shareholders. 
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(T) lOkWIZARD 
" J S E C P O W E R S E A R C H 

FORM 10-K 
World Energy Solutions, Inc. - WLDE 

Filed: March 21, 2007 (period: December 31, 2006) 

Annual report which provides a connprehenslve overview of the company for the past year 
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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D,C. 20549 

FORM 10-K 

\E\ Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
For the fiscal year ended December 31,2006 or 

D Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
For the transition period from to ^ _ _ ^ _ ^ . , _ 

Commission file number: 333-136528 

World Energy Solutions. Inc. 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Delaware 04-34749S9 
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or oiganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number) 

446 Main Street 
Worcester. Massachusetts 01608 

(Address of principal executive offices) 

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code) 

Securities registered under Section 12(b) of the Act: 
None 

(Title of class) 

Securities registered under Section 12(g) of the Act: 
None 

Indicate by checkmark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes D No 
m 

Indicateby checkmark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes D No 
\E\ 

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), 
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes El No D 

Indicate by checkmark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not 
be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III 
of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [El 

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition 
of "accelerated filer and large accelerated filer" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one): 

Laige accelerated filer D Accelerated filer D Non-accelerated filer E l 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 S7 



Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant is a shell comp^iy (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes D No (El 

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-aflfiliates of the registrant based on the last sale price of such stock as 
reported by the Toronto Stock Exchange on December 29,2006 was approximately $45,967,000. The registrant's voting stock was not 
publicly traded as at the end its most recently completed second fiscal quarter. 

As of March 2,2007, the registrant had 76,511,741 shares of Common Stock outstanding. 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

Portions of the registrant's definitive proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 17, 2007, are 
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Report. 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21,2007 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, 
or the Securities Act, and Section 2IE of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which statements 
involve risks and uncertainties. These statements relate to our future plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. These statements 
may be identified by the use of words such as "may", "could", "would", "should", "will", "expects", "anticipates", "intends". 
"plans ", "believes ", "estimates " and similar expressions. Our actual results and timing of certain events could differ materially fiom 
those discussed in these statements. Factors that could contribute to these differences include but are not limited to, those discussed 
under "Risk Factors ", "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ", and elsewhere in 
this Report. The cautionary statements made in this report should be read as being applicable to all forward-looking statements 
wherever they appear in this report. 

PARTI 

Item 1. Business 

Overview 

World Energy Solutions, Inc. is an energy brokerage company that has developed an online auction platform, the Worid Energy 
Exchange, through which energy consumers in the United States are able to purchase electricity and other energy resources firom 
competing energy suppliers which have agreed to participate on our auction platform in a given auction. We were founded in response 
to the restructuring of the electricity industry in some U.S. states, which are increasingly permitting energy consumers to choose their 
electricity supplier. While our core competency is brokering electricity, we adapted our World Energy Exchange auction platform to 
accommodate the brokering of natural gas in 2002, green power in 2003 (i.e., electricity generated by renewable resources) and certain 
other energy-related products in 2005. Smce 2001, we have brokered over 31 bilUon kilowatt hours of electricity for energy 
consumers in North America on the World Energy Exchange. We believe that we are among the pioneering companies brokering 
electricity online and we are not aware of any third-party competitor brokering more electricity online than we do. In addition, we 
have adapted our World Energy Exchange auction platform to accommodate transactions in fuel oils including: diesel, heatmg oil, 
propane and jet fiiel and are in the process of adapting the platform to accommodate green credit transactions. 

In the United States, the electricity industry restructuring that has permitted energy consiuners a choice of supplier has taken place 
on a state-by-state basis. This development presents energy consumers with a number of challenges because they generally lack the 
expertise, experience and information necessary to effectively source electricity fi-om competitive energy suppliers. We provide 
energy consumers that choose to switch to a competitive energy suppher with a comprehensive energy procurement solution that is 
designed to ensiue that they receive market-based pricmg terms. To date we have focused on commercial, mdustrial and govemment 
(CIG) energy consumers. 

The Industry 

We currently provide brokerage services primarily in two industries: deregulated retail and wholesale energy in the United States. 
Subsequent to year end, we provided brokerage services in a third emerging industry: the trading of green credits. 

Electricity Deregulation 

The electricity industry in the United States is governed by both federal and state laws and regidations, with the federal 
govemment having jurisdiction over the sale and transmission of electricity at the wholesale level in interstate commerce, and the 
states having jurisdiction over the sale and distribution of electricity at the retail level. 

The federal govermnent regulates the electricity wholesale and transmission business through the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission, or FERC, which draws its jurisdiction firom the Federal Power Act, and fi-om other legislation such as the Public Utility 
Regulatory Policies Act of 1978, the Energy Policy Act of 1992, or EPA 1992, and the recentiy enacted Energy Policy Act of 2005. 
FERC has comprehensive and plenary jurisdiction over the rates and terms for sales of power at wholesale, and over the organization, 
govemance and financing of the companies engaged in such sales. States regulate the sale of electricity at the retail level within their 
respective jurisdictions, in accordance with individual state laws which can vary widely in material respects. Restructuring of the retail 
electricity industry in the United States began in the mid-1990s, when certain state legislatures restmctured their electricity markets to 
create competitive markets that enable energy consumers to purchase electricity fi*om competitive energy suppUers. 
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Prior to the restructuring of the retail electricity industry, the electricity market structure in the United States consisted of 
vertically integrated utilities which had a near monopoly over the generation, transmission and distribution of electricity to retail 
energy consumers. In states that have embraced electricity restructuring, the generation component (i.e., the source of the electricity) 
has become more competitive while the energy delivery fimctions of transmission and distribution remain as monopoly services 
provided by the incumbent local utility and subject to comprehensive rate regulation. In other words, in these states, certain retail 
energy consumers (specifically, those served by mvestor-owned utilities and not by municipal power companies or rural power 
cooperatives) can choose their electricity suppher but must still rely upon their local utility to deUver 
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that electricity to their home or place of biisiness. 

The stmcture and, uUimately, the success level of industry restmcturing has been determined on a state by state basis. There have 
been three general models for electricity industry restmcturing: (i) delayed competition, (ii) phased-in competition, and (iii) fiiU 
competition. The delayed competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizing competitive retail electricity markets 
(i.e., customer choice of electric energy supplier), however, no action is taken by the state regulatory authority charged with utility 
industry oversight within such state to change the incumbent utility rates for electric energy to encourage competition. The phased-ui 
competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizing competitive retail electricity markets together with a gradual 
change of the incumbent local utility's retail electric rates to encourage the competitive supply of electricity over time. The full 
competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizing competitive retail electricity markets together with an 
immediate change to the incumbent local utiUties' retail electric rates that results in the whole CIG electricity market in such state 
being competitive immediately. 

Energy consimiers who choose to switch electricity suppliers can either do it themselves by contacting competitive energy 
suppliers directly, or indirectly, by engaging aggregators, brokers or consultants, collectively referred to as ABCs, to assist them with 
their electricity procurement. 

Competitive Energy Suppliers: These entities take title to power and resell it directiy to energy consumers. These are typically 
well-funded entities, which both service energy consumers and also work with ABCs to contract with energy consumers. Presently, 
we estimate there are over 40 competitive suppliers several of which operate on a national level and are registered in nearly aU of the 
14 states and the District of Columbia that permit CIG energy consumers to choose then* electricity supplier and have deregulated 
pricing to create competitive markets. 

Aggregators, Brokers and Consultants: ABCs facilitate transactions by having competitive energy suppliers compete against 
each other in an effort to get their energy customers the lowest price. This group generally uses manual request for proposal (RFP) 
processes that are labor intensive, relying on phone, fax and email solicitations. We believe that the online RFP process is superior to 
the traditional paper based RFP process as it involves a larger number of energy suppliers, can accommodate a larger number of bids 
within a shorter time span, and allows for a larger amount of contract variations including various year terms, territories and energy 
usage patterns. 

Online Brokers: Online brokers are a subset of the ABCs. These entities use online platforms to run electronic RFP processes in 
an effort to secure the lowest prices for theu- energy customers by having competitors bid against one another. We believe that we are 
among the pioneering companies brokering electricity online and we are not aware of any competitor that has brokered more 
electricity online than we have. 

Natural Gas 

The natural gas industry in the United States is governed by both federal and state laws and regulations, with the federal 
govermnent having jurisdiction over the transmission of natural gas in interstate commerce, and the states having jurisdiction over the 
sale and distribution of electricity at the retail level. 

The federal govemment regulates the natural gas transmission business through FERC which draws its jurisdiction fi*om the 
Natural Gas Act, and from other legislation such as the recentiy enacted Energy Pohcy Act of 2005. FERC has comprehensive and 
plenary jurisdiction over the rates and terms for transmission of gas in interstate commerce, and over the oiganization, govemance and 
financing of the companies engaged in such transmission. States regulate the distribution and sale of gas at the retail level within their 
respective jurisdictions, in accordance with individual state laws which can vary widely in material respects. 

The natural gas market in the United States is deregulated in most states and offers retail energy consumers access to their choice 
of natural gas commodity supplier. 

Following a period of heavy regulation, the gas industry was deregulated in three phases as a result of legislation enacted in 1978 
followed by multiple orders of FERC. The expected result of this deregulation was to stimulate competition in the natural gas industry 
down the pipeline to the distribution level. 

At the retail level, reforms and restmcturing have taken place on a state-by-state basis, with varying nuances to the restmcturing 
in different states. For example, state commissions have allowed local distribution companies to offer unbundled transportation service 
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to large customers; occasionally to provide flexible pricing in competitive markets; and to engage in other con^etitive activities. 

Today, the Company estimates that utilities in over 40 states permit retail natural gas constuners to choose their natural gas 
commodity suppliers. In most mstances, tiie incumbent local distribution utility still delivers the commodity to the consumers' 
premises, even if a diiferent supplier is selected to provide the commodity. The level of competitive choice available to retail CIG 
energy consumers has increased, with a wide range of products and a significant number of suppliers participating in both retail and 
wholesale transactions. 
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Green Credits 

Concerns about global warming have spawned a number of initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The most well known 
of these initiatives is the Kyoto Protocol pursuant to which many cotmtries in Eiuvspe, Asia and elsewhere have created carbon cap and 
trade systems. While the United States has not adopted the Kyoto Protocol at a federal level, there are a number of initiatives in tiie 
U.S. at the regional, state and local level aimed at Umiting greenhouse gas emissions including the Regional Greenhouse Gas 
Initiative, a collaboration of seven Northeastern states and renewable portfoho standards - initiatives adopted by states and the District 
of Columbia regarding the minimum reqmrements mandated to utilities to derive power fi^m renewable sources, including iiutiatives 
such as the New Jersey Solar Renewable Energy Credit (SREC) mitiative. 

These mandates are spurring investments in renewable energy, carbon efficiency and recovery processes to create credits that can 
be traded to countries or companies seeking to get beneath mandated carbon emission limits. Thus fer these credits are being traded 
privately or via exchanges (such as the European Clunate Exchange, Evomarkets, and the Chicago Climate Exchange) that have been 
formed to take advantage of these opportunities, although we beheve that a stmctured auction event may be a more efficient 
mechanism for transacting these credits. 

Company Strategy and Operations 

Overview 

World Energy is an energy brokerage company that has developed an online auction platform, the World Energy Exchange. We 
bring energy suppliers and CIG energy consumers together in our vurtual marketplace, often with the assistance of our channel 
partners, who identify and work with energy consumers on our behalf. The World Energy Exchange is part of a comprehensive online 
energy procurement process that includes the following modules: 

" energy sourcing management — a database of supphers and contacts; 

• deal and task management — a module to list, assign and track steps to complete a procurement successfully; 

• market intelligence — a database of information related to market rales and pricing trends for deregulated markets; 

• RFP development — a module to create RFPs with a variety of terms and parameters; 

• conducting auctions — underlying software to manage the bidding and timing of an auction and display the results; 

• energy consumer portfolio management — a database of consumer contracts, sites, accoimts and usage; 

• commission reporting — a system to display forecasted and actual commissions due to channel partners; and 

• receivables management — a system to upload data received from suppliers and track payment receipt. 

Our technology-based comprehensive energy brokerage solution is attractive to channel partners as it provides them with a busmess 
automation platform to enhance their growth, profitability and customer satisfaction. Channel partners are important to our business 
because these entities offer our World Energy Exchange auction platform to enhance their service offerings to their ctistomers. By 
accessing our market intelligence and automated auction platform, channel partners significantiy contribute to otn transaction voltnne 
and the volimie of energy procured via our auction platform, and in return we pay them a commission at a fixed contractual 
commission rate based on the revenues earned fi-om energy suppliers. The contractual commission rate is negotiated in the channel 
partner agreement based on a number of factors, including expected volimie, effort required in the auction process and competitive 
factors. 

As a requirement to bid in an auction (which is described ui greater detail below), energy suppliers must agree to an on-lme 
agreement to pay our fee if they execute a contract as a result of the auction. Following an auction event, our employees continue to 
work with the energy consumer and energy sî )pUer through the contract negotiation process and, accordingly, we are aware of 
whether a contract between the energy consumer and energy supplier is consummated. If a contract is entered into between an energy 
consumer and an energy supplier using the World Energy Exchange auction platform, we are compensated based upon a commission 
that is built into tiie price of the energy commodity. This approach is attractive to energy suppliers and energy consumers because 
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tiiere is no fee charged to the energy supplier or the energy consumer if tiie brokering process does not result m an energy procurement 
contract. Our commissions are based on energy usage transacted between the energy supplier and eneigy consinner multiplied by our 
contractual commission rate, and is set forth in two contracts between us and the energy supplier. The first agreement is an energy 
supplier master agreement, whereby energy suppliers are allowed to bid on enei^ consumer usage m exchange for agreeing to pay 
the fee that we have negotiated with the energy consumer, and the second is a fee addendum to the contract between the energy 
consumer and energy supplier that sets forth the fee and energy accounts to ̂ sdiich the fee apphes. 
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Monthly revenue is based on actual usage data obtakied fi-om the energy supplier for a given month or, to the extent actual tisage 
data is not available, based on the estimated amoimt of electricity and gas delivered to the energy consumer for that month. While the 
number of contracts closed via the World Energy Exchange in any given period can fluctuate widely due to a number of fectors, this 
revenue recognition method provides for a relatively predictable revenue stream, as revenue is based on the energy consumers actual 
historical energy usage profile. However, monthly revenue can still vary fi-om otur expectations because usage is affected by a number 
of variables which cannot always be accurately predicted, such as tiie weather and general business conditions affecting our energy 
consumers. 

Contracts between CIG energy consumers and energy suppliers are signed for a variety of term lengths, with a one year contract 
term being typical for commercial and industrial energy consumers, and govemment contracts typically having two to three year, and 
occasionally five year terms. The chart below displays oiur annualized backlog as at year-end fiwm 2002 through 2006. Annualized 
backlog represents the revenue that we would derive within the twelve months following the date on which the backlog is calculated 
from contracts between CIG energy consumers and energy suppliers that are in force on such date, assuming such CIG energy 
consumers use energy at tiieir historical ixsage levels. For any particular contract, annualized backlog is calculated by multiplyii^ the 
CIG energy consumer's historical usage by our fixed contractual commission rate. This metric is not intended as an estimate of overall 
future revenues, since it does not purport to mclude revenues that may be earned during tiie relevant 12 month backlog period fi-om 
new contracts or renewals of contracts that expire during such period. In addition, annuahzed backlog does not represent guaranteed 
future revenues, and to the extent actual usage under a particular contract varies fixjm historical usage, our revenues under such 
contract will differ from the amount included in annualized backlog. Annualized backlog as at December 31, 2006 contains all 
contracts in force as of December 31, 2006 that have expected revenue associated with them fi-om January 1, 2007 through 
December 31, 2007. These contracts may expire during the period and therefore the annualized backlog does not include any revenue 
fi-om expected contract renewals. 

Annualized Backlog 
(in millions) 

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 

Because the calculation of backlog is a calculation of a contracted commission rate multiplied by a historical energy usage figure, 
our annualized backlog may not necessarily be indicative of fiiture results. Annualized backlog should not be viewed in isolation or as 
a substitute for our historical revenues presented in the financial statements included in this Form 10-K. Events that may cause future 
revenues fi-om contracts in force to differ materially from our annualized backlog include the events that may affect energy usage, 
such as overall business activity levels, changes in energy consumers' businesses, weather patterns and other factors described under 
"Risk Factors". 
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The Brokerage Process 

Our brokerage process is supported by a variety of software modules designed with the goal to find energy supplies at the lowest 
possible price while providing step-by-step process management and detailed documentation prior to, during and following the 
auction. Our process includes data collection and analysis, estabhshing the utility benchmark price, conducting multiple auction events 
to enable testing of various term and price combinations and assisting in contract completion. We create an audit trail of all the steps 
taken in a given transaction. Specific web pages track all information provided to energy suppliers uicluduig energy suppher calls, 
supplier invitations, usage profiles and desired contract parameters. 

At the commencement of the process, non-govemment energy consumers will enter into a procurement consulting agreement with 
us pursuant to which we are appointed as the energy brokerage service provider to sohcit and obtain bids for the supply of energy and 
to assist in the procurement of energy. Govemment energy constuners will send out a solicitation at the commencement of the 
brokerage process which sets out the contract terms. Only energy suppUers that are qualified under the solicitation may participate in 
the auction. Energy suppliers who wish to bid on the provision of energy to such energy consumers must partake in our broker^e 
process and cannot contract with energy consumers outside of our brokerage process. The procurement consulting agreement 
authorizes us to retrieve the energy consumer's energy usage history from the utility serving its accounts. We utilize the usage history 
to identify and analyze the energy consumer's energy needs and to run a rate and tariff model which calculates the utility rate for that 
energy consumer's facilities. This price is used as a benchmark price to beat for the auction event 

Prior to conducting the auction, the auction parameters, including target price, suppher preferences, contract terms, payment terms 
and product mix, as applicable, are discussed with the energy consumer and agreed upon. Approximately two to five days prior to the 
auction, we will post RFP's with these auction parameters on our World Energy Exchange and alert the potential energy suppliers. 
Additionally, energy suppliers are provided with mformation about the energy consumer, historical energy usage infonnation relating 
to the energy consumer's facilities, and the desired contract parameters, several days in advance of the auction as part of the RFP. This 
advanced notice gives the energy supphers the opportunity to analyze the value of a potential deal and the creditworthiness of the 
energy consumer. We believe that, using this information along with the auction parameters described m the RFP, the energy suppliers 
develop a bidding strategy for the auction. 

The auction is run on the World Energy Exchange, which is our auction platform. The auction creates a con^etitive bidding 
environment that is designed to cause energy suppliers to bid their prices down during the auction event in response to other 
competitive bids. Specifically, energy suppliers enter an auction by submitting an opemng bid at or lower than the suggested opening 
bid posted on the RFP. After they enter the auction and assess the bidding activity, energy supphers may begin testing the competition 
by submitting a bid lower than the tiien leading bid. They do this presumably to test their pricing and to gauge the relative level of 
competition for the deal. There is typically a modest level of bidding and counter-bidding activity among energy suppliers until the 
final 30 seconds of the auction when bidding activity tends to increase. In the final seconds, all energy suppliers see the then-leading 
bid and must make a judgment as to how low to submit their last bid in order to win the deal. At this point in the auction, energy 
suppliers make their final bid without knowledge of what any other energy suppliers are bidding. We call this a final "blind" bid. 
Because an energy supplier does not know what the other energy suppliers will bid m their blind bid, this process has often resulted in 
the leading energy supplier outbidding itself at the moment before the auction closes in an effort to maintain its lead position and win 
the auction event. 

Typically, a number of auctions tailored to tiie energy consumer's specific energy needs will be held. Our World Energy 
Exchange provides rapid results and can accommodate a multitude of permutations for offers, including various year terms, utiUty 
territories, load factors and green power requirements. For commercial and industrial energy consumers, we typically nm two to six 
auction events and for large govemment aggregations that generally are more complex, we typically run 20 to 40 auction events. Each 
auction event usually lasts less than 15 minutes. Included as part of any auction transaction are date and time stamping of bids, 
comparison of each bid with utiUty rates where determinable rates are available, as well as automated stop tunes, which ensure the 
integrity of auction events. The World Energy Exchange is also periodically synchronized to the atomic clock which is int^ided to 
ensure that auction start and stop times are precise. 

Following an auction, the auction results are analyzed and if the auction has been successful, we assist the energy consumer with 
the contracting process with the energy suppUer which is typically finalized within one hour of the closmg of the last auction event. In 
tiie case of a commercial energy consumer, we facilitate any remaining discussion between the leadir^ eneigy supplier and the energy 
consumer relating to tiie energy supplier's contract terms that were not addressed in establishing the auction parameters. In the case of 
govemment energy consumers, the energy suppliers have seen and, m general, have agreed to the form of supply contract being 
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required by the govemment energy consumer. Accordingly, the tune period between the end of the auction and the execution of a 
contract is usually shorter than in the case of non-govemment eneigy constuners. Not all auctions result in awarded contracts. 

As part of the contracting process between tiie successful energy supplier and the energy consiuner, the energy supplier will enter 
into a fee addendum with us which provides for payment of a commission on a monthly basis based on actual energy usage by the 
energy consumer during the contract term. We also receive a monthly summary accounting of the energy consumer's eneigy 
consumption. For electricity contracts, we have historically received a commission ranging generally firom $0.00005 to $0,0025 per 
kilowatt hour consumed by the energy consumer. For natural gas contracts, we have historically received a 
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commission ranging generally fi-om $0.01 to $0.10 per decatherm of gas consumed by the energy consumer. If a channel partner was 
involved, the channel partner will receive a commission based on a fee sharing arrangement it has negotiated with us in the applicable 
channel partner agreement. 

The incumbent local utility serving a given location is typically obhgated to deliver electric energy to the customer's premises 
fi-om the location where the supplier delivers electricity into that local utiUty's delivery system. However, the energy supplier is 
responsible for enrolling the energy consumer's account with the applicable local utility and the energy supplier remains liable for any 
costs resulting from the physical loss of energy diuing transmission and delivery to the customer's premises. We never buy, sell or 
take title to the energy products on our auction platform. 

We typically interface directly with the energy consumer through the brokerage process. However, if a channel partner is 
involved, the channel partner will often perform one or more of the following functions: working with an energy consumer to sign a 
procurement consulting agreement, interactmg with the energy consumer relating to World Energy analyses, supporting tiie 
decision-making, and interfacing with the energy consumer during the contracting process. However, even if a channel partner is 
involved, we are still primarily responsible for tasks such as interacting with utihties to obtain an energy consmner's usage history, 
performing analyses, creating RFPs, interfacing with suppliers, and scheduling, conductmg and monitoring auctions and collecting the 
commission eamed fi-om the energy supplier. 

Growth Strategy 

Our overall objective is to achieve a preeminent position as the exchange for executmg transactions in energy and energy-related 
products. We seek to achieve our objective by expanding our community of channel partners, energy consumers and energy suppUers 
on our exchange, strengthening and expandmg long-term relationships with govemment agencies, broadening our exchange to include 
other geographic markets and other energy and energy-related markets, including wholesale transactions with utilities and the 
emerging green credits market, making strategic acquisitions, and growing our sales force. Key elements of our strategy are as 
follows; 

Continuing to Develop Channel Partner Relationships A significant majority of the energy consumers using our auction 
platform have been introduced to us thmugh oiu channel partners. Our primary growth strategy is to focus on developing and 
increasing our number of channel partner relationships in an effort to expand the base of energy consumers using our auction 
platform and to increase the volume of energy procured on our World Energy Exchange. As illustrated by the diagram below, 
we have consistentiy increased tiie number of channel partners since 2002 fixim 3 to 29, and have recentiy made investments to 
focus on recmitment and training in an effort to accelerate the addition of channel partners. We will also consider future 
opportunities to work with channel partners who have succeeded in establishing a significant customer base. The following 
table sets out the growth in our channel partner relationships since the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 and data is 
presented as at December 31, 2006. 

Number of Channel Partners 
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Strengthening and Expanding Long-term Relationships with Govemment Agencies We intend to biuld on the relationships 
we have established with federal, state and local govemment agencies. We expect that our expertise in brokMing cost-saving 
energy contracts for govemment agencies will continue to be in demand as contract terms expire and governments look to 
contract for low energy prices in a competitive market. In 2001, we first penetrated tiie govemment segment by brokering 
energy for the United States Federal Government's General Services Administration, or GSA, as a subcontractor to channel 
partner Science Applications Intemational Corporation, or SAIC. In September 2005, we were 
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awarded a five-year contract to provide energy brokerage services to the GSA. Working witii SAIC, we have completed 
hundreds of auctions resulting in dozens of procurements for GSA and its federal government electricity consumers in four 
states and for natural gas in over 30 states. 

In 2004, together with SAIC, we assisted the State of Maryland in procuring a two-year electricity supply contract through 
our World Energy Exchange, leading to an annual savuigs that we estimate to be over $5 million compared to the incumbent 
utility's previous rate. In 2005, Maryland was awarded the National Association of State Facilities Administrators Innovation 
Award and the National Association of State Chief Administrators Outstandmg Program Award m recognition of its innovative 
approach to energy procurement and leadership. This recognition has contributed to us along with our channel partner being 
awarded contracts to broker energy for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Montgomery Cotmty, Maryland, the District of 
Columbia and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. We mtend to leverage this recognition to secure business relationships with 
other state and local governments. We believe tiiat tiiis strategy will not only permit us to grow our busuiess laterally by 
establishing a business presence in other states but will also provide an opportunity for us to increase our base of energy 
consumers by branching out into other sectors and increasing oiu* penetration into other levels of a partictilar state's government 
agencies and organizations. 

Targeting Other Energy-Related Markets While our core competence lies in electricity brokerage for CIG enei^ 
consumers, we intend to expand our brokerage services into new markets. To date, we have brokered over 64 million 
decatherms of natural gas under contract under GS A's Natural Gas Acquisition Program and continue to grew our natural gas 
brokering activities to support existing energy consumer relationships. At the request of participants on our auction platform, 
we have adapted our World Energy Exchange platform to accommodate transactions in fuel oils mcludmg: diesel, heating oil, 
propane and jet fiiel. Our Worid Energy Exchange has been and can further be modified to expand our capabilities to broker 
other energy-related transactions with appropriate resource allocation. 

Targeting Utilities We have added the capability to auction energy-related products, and several auctions were closed for 
an aggregate of over 5 billion kilowatt hours of electricity. We believe that there is an opportumty for us to further expand oiu 
business operations to facilitate the brokering of energy-related products for utilities. Havmg successfully tested our wholesale 
market model with the recent auction described above, we seek to leverage our mitial success and aim to build this aspect of our 
operations by replicating the auction process with other utihties. 

Brokering Green Credits We also plan to expand our operations by entering mto the green credits market through our 
established relationships and growing reputation in the energy procurement marketplace. The brokerage of green credits would 
complement oiu current business and remains aUgned with our focus on brokerage of cost-effective energy transactions. As 
countries attempt to reduce their environmental emissions in order to achieve compUance under the Kyoto Protocol and 
U.S.-based initiatives, we believe that the creation and U ^ n g of green credits will accelerate. We intend to utihze oiu auction 
platform to create an ascending auction for the trading of green credits between countries and companies who have made 
energy efficient improvements to reduce their emissions below the permissible levels, and those who have not. 

Making Strategic Acquisitions We are also pursuing strategic acquisitions to help us expand geographically, add expertise 
and product depth, provide accretive revenue and profit streams or a combination of two or more of the above. 

Growing our Direct Sales Force In certain CIG markets and in tiie emerging Wholesale and Green Markets, it makes sense 
to have a direct sales presence. A key growth strategy for us will be to open regional offices (in addition to our current 
Worcester and Washington, DC sales offices), and staff tiiem with duect sales people. Subsequent to year end, we have hured a 
new Senior Vice President of Sales and are in the process of opening a sales office in Houston. 

Energy Suppliers, Energy Consumers and Channel Partners 

Energy Suppliers Our success is heavily dependent on our energy supplier relationships, the credibiUty of our energy suppliers 
and the integrity of the auction process. There are approximately 240 competitive electricity, natural gas and wholesale electricity 
suppliers registered on the World Energy Exchange, representing a majority of all supphers in the deregulated electricity and natural 
gas markets. Of the registered energy suppliers, approximately 45 had active contracts with energy consumers that were brokered 
through our World Energy Exchange as of December 31, 2006. Four of tiiese energy suppliers each accounted for over 10% 
individually and approximately 51% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006, and four of tiiese energy 
suppliers each accounted for over 10% mdividually and approximately 57% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended 
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December 31, 2005. In order to participate in an auction event, energy suppUers must register with us by either entering into a 
standard-form agreement pursuant to which the energy supplier is granted a license to access our auction platform and bid at auction 
events or by qualifying to participate in an auction pursuant to a government sohcitation. Our national standard form agreement is for 
an indefinite term, may be terminated by either party upon 30 days prior written notice, is non-exclusive, non-transferable and cannot 
be sublicensed. Under our standard-form agreement or the govemment solicitation, the energy supplier agrees to pay us a commission, 
which varies fi-om contract to contract and which is based on a set rate per energy unit consiuned by the energy consumer. 
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Energy Consumers Energy consumers using our auction platform to prociu-e energy mclude government agencies and 
commercial and industrial energy consumers. Govemment energy consumers have complex energy needs in terms of both scope and 
scale, which management beheves can best be met with a technology-based solution such as the World Energy Exchange. 
Additionally, the automated nature of our World Energy Exchange auction platform is designed to support protest fi-ee auctions. 
Working with our channel partner, SAIC, we have brokered energy for the GSA and over 25 federal agencies, Montgomery County, 
Maryland, the State of Maryland, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania. 

Our contracts for the online energy procurements with these governmental entities are typically for multiple years rangmg from 2 
to 5 years. During tiiis contractual period, the governmental entity may run various auctions for different locations or agencies that fall 
under their purview. As a result, revenue from these customers could extend beyond the actual contractual term. We currentiy have 
contracts with 3 of the 14 currently deregulated states and have recently run an auction for Delaware and were awarded a contract with 
New Jersey to assist in their online energy procurement needs. As additional states open their electricity markets to competition and 
suppliers enter those markets, we plan to actively market our services to them. These contracts do not requue tiiat the govermnent 
energy consumer use our services and, as is typical in govemment procurements, contain termination for convenience clauses. If a 
contract was terminated for convenience, it would typically not have any bearing on existing energy procurements run through the 
termination date. A summary of our major governmental contracts is as follows: 

• In September 2005, we were awarded a five-year contract to assist GSA m its procurement of energy, and since that award 
we have mn several procurements for electricity in Texas, Illinois, New York and New Jersey, and natural gas in over 30 
states. Most of the consummated electricity contracts were for five-year terms and provide the company with expected 
revenue through 2012. The gas contracts were for one- and two-year terms. 

• In January 2006, we successfully completed a retail, electric power procurement for the Operating Services Division of the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts imder the terms of a multi-year contract that was signed in December 2005. 

• In March 2006, we were awarded a multi-year contract to assist Montgomery County, Maryland with its energy 
procurement. During the second quarter of 2006, we ran a successful procurement that placed certain fecilities in 
Montgomery County under one-year contracts with two option years. 

• In August 2006, for the District of Columbia, we received a co-award for the continuation of energy procurement services. 
In February 2007, the District of Columbia terminated tins co-award for convenience. It was not clear as to the reasons for 
the District of Columbia's actions and if tiiey will re-issue the co-contract or reopen the RFP process. 

• In September 2006, we ran a series of gas auctions under the terms of a three-year contract with the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania Department of General Services. 

• In November 2006, the State of Maryland Department of General Services renewed its energy procurement contract with 
us through 2009. Subsequent to that award, we ran procurements that resuUed in new contracts for existing accoimts to 
lock in supply and pricing tiirough June 2009, and for the first tune mcluded new accounts for the University system, 
which formerly used consultants to secure supply contracts. 

Four of the energy consumers using our auction platform (Maryland Department of General Services, District of Columbia 
Energy Office, General Services Administration and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) each accounted for over 10% mdividtially 
and approximately 63% in the aggregate of oiu- revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006, and three of these eneigy consumers 
accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 51% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31,2005. 

Percent of Revenue 
for the Year Ended 

Contract party neceniber31.2006 
State of Maryland 20% 
General Services Administration 17% 
District of Columbia 16% 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts 10% 
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We also maintain a direct sales arm. Targets of direct sales efforts are typically laige companies with facilities m many geographic 
locations including hotel chains, wholesale clubs, property management firms, big box retailers, supermarkets^ department stores, dmg 
stores, convenience stores, restaurant chains, financial services firms, and manufectureis across various industries. 
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Channel Partners We target commercial and industrial energy consumers primarily tiirough channel partners. These are firms 
with existing client relationships with certain commercial and industrial energy consumers that would benefit fixim the addition of an 
online energy procurement solution. Channel partners consist of a diverse array of companies including energy service companies, 
demand side consultants and manufacturers, ABCs and strategic sourcing companies, but in the most general terms t l ^ are resellers 
or distributors. As of December 31, 2006, we have entered mto agreements with 29 channel partners, mcludmg SAIC and CargiU 
Energy Services, LLC, which are currently engaged in efforts to soiurce potential transactions to the World Energy Exchange although 
not all have sourced a transaction for which an auction has been completed. Upon identifymg opportunities with new channel partners, 
we enter into a non-exclusive channel partner agreement that grants the channel partner a non-exchisive right to sell our procurement 
process for a term of one year, which term renews automatically unless terminated upon 30 days written notice. The channel partner 
receives a commission based on the amount of involvement of the channel partner in the procurement process. 

Direct Sales We also maintain a direct sales arm. Targets of direct sales efforts are typically large companies with facilities in 
many geographic locations including hotel chains, wholesale clubs, property management firms, big box retailers, supermarkets, 
department stores, dmg stores, convenience stores, restaurant chams, financial services firms, and manufacturers across various 
industries. This sales force also will be expanded to support our efforts to secure relationships with wholesales buyers and green credit 
players. 

Competition 

Energy consumers have a broad array of options when purchasing energy. Energy consimiers can either purchase energy directiy 
fi-om tiie utility at tiie utility's rate or purchase energy in the deregulated market through one of the following types of entities: 
competitive energy suppliers, ABCs and online brokers. We compete with competitive energy supphers, ABCs and other online 
brokers for energy consumers that are seeking an altemative to purchasing directiy fi-om the utility. 

Online Brokers Online brokers are a subset of the ABCs. These entities use onhne platforms to run electronic RFP processes in 
an effort to secure the lowest prices for theu energy customers by having competitors bid against one another. We believe that we are 
among the pioneering companies brokering electricity online and we are not aware of any competitor that has brokered more 
electricity online than we have. 

Aggregators, Brokers and Consultants ABCs facilitate transactions by having competitive energy supphers compete against each 
other in an effort to get their energy customers the lowest price. This group generally uses manual RFP processes that are labor 
intensive, relying on phone, fex and email solicitations. 

Competitive Energy Suppliers These entities take titie to power and resell it directly to energy consumers. These are typically 
well-funded entities, which both service energy consumers and also work with ABCs to contract with energy consumers. 

Technology 

Our Worid Energy Exchange auction platform is comprised of a scalable transaction processmg architecture and web-based 
energy consumer user interface. The auction platform is primarily based on internally developed proprietary software, but also 
includes third party components for user interface elements and reporting. The World Energy Exchange auction platform supports the 
selling and buying processes of energy-related products including bid placements, energy supplier registration and management, 
channel partner management, energy consumer management, deal process management, contract management, site management, 
collection and commission management, and reporting. The auction platform mamtains current and historical data online for all of 
these components. 

Our technology systems are monitored and upgraded as necessary to accommodate increasing levels of traffic and transaction 
volume on the website. However, future upgrades or additional technology licensing may be required to ensure optimal performance 
of our auction platform services. See "Risk Factors" at Item 1 A. To provide maximum uptune and system availability, our auction 
platform is hosted in a multi-tiered, secure, and rehable fault tolerant envuonment which includes backup power supply to computer 
equipment, climate control, as well as physical security to the building and data center. In the event of a major system component 
failure, such as a system motherboard, spare servers are available. 

We strive to offer a high level of data security in order to build the confidence in our services among Mieigy consumers and to 
protect the energy consumers' private information. Our World Energy Exchange security mfiaslructure has been designed to protect 
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data fi-om unauthorized access, both physically and over the Intemet. The most sensitive data and hardware of the Worid Energy 
Exchange reside at the data centers. 

Intellectual Property 

We enter into confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements with third parties with whom we conduct business in order to limit 
access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. 
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We operate our auction platform under the trade names "World Energy Exchange" and "Worid Green Exchange". We also own 
the following domain names: worldenergy.com, wesplatform.com, wexch.com, woridenergyexchange.com, echoicenetcom, 
e-choicenet.com, worldenergysolutions.com, worldenergysolutions.net, worldenergy.biz, worldgreenexchange.biz, 
worldgreenexchange.info, worldgreenexchange.us and worldpowerexchange.com. To protect our intellectual property, we rely on a 
combination of copyright and trade secret laws and the domain name dispute resolution system. 

Our corporate name and certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, they are generic or m use by 
another party. We may be unable to prevent competitors fi-om using trade names or corporate names that are confusmgly similar or 
identical to ours. A company organized under the laws of the State of Florida and whose shares are publicly traded under tiie symbol 
"WEGY" also operates under the name "World Energy Solutions, Inc." According to its filings with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, this other company changed its name to "World Energy Solutions" in November 2005, and is in the business of 
manufacturing and selling transient voltage surge suppressors and related products and commercial and residential energy-saving 
equipment and applications to distributors and customers throughout the United States. Such fihngs indicate that this other con^any 
plans to implement a new business model to market a multi-product package to commercial, industrial and residential facilities in 
order to lower their overall cost of electricity, gas and water This appears to be a different busuiess than ours. We cannot assure you 
that this other company will not seek to challenge our right to the use of our name, in which case we could be drawn into litigation 
and, if unsuccessful could be required, or could decide, to cease using the name World Energy Solutions, Inc., in which case we would 
not realize any value we had built in our name. Additionally, our reputation could be damaged if the other con^any continues its use 
of the name World Energy Solutions, Inc. and such other company develops a negative reputation. 

We do not have any patents and if we are unable to protect our copyrights, trade secrets or domain names, our business could be 
adversely affected. Others may claim in the future that we have infringed their mtellectual property rights. 

Personnel 

As of December 31, 2006, we had 24 employees, which includes 20 full-time and four part-time employees. Full-time staff 
consists of three members of senior management, four sales employees, two information technology employees, eight trading desk 
employees and three administrative employees. In addition, we rely on a number of consultants and other advisors. The extent and 
timing of any increase in staffing will depend on the availabitity of qualified personnel and otiier developments in oxur business. None 
of the employees are represented by a labor union, and we beUeve that we have good relationships with our employees. 

Company Information 

We commenced operations through an entity named Oceanside Energy, Inc., which was incorporated under the laws of the State 
of Delaware on September 3, 1996. We incorporated World Energy Solutions, Inc. under the laws of the State of Delaware under the 
name "World Energy Exchange, Inc." on June 22, 1999, and on October 31, 1999, Oceanside became a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
World Energy Solutions, Inc. through a share exchange whereby Oceanside stockholders were given shares of common stock of 
World Energy in exchange for their Oceanside shares. Pursuant to a certificate of amendment filed on November 30, 1999, World 
Energy Exchange, Inc. changed its nrnne to "Worid Energy Exchange.com, Inc." and then back to "World Energy Exchange, Inc." on 
November 2, 2000. World Energy Exchange, Inc. subsequently changed its name to World Energy Solutions, Inc. pursuant to a 
certificate of amendment filed on February 4, 2002. Oceanside was subsequentiy dissolved on May 18, 2006. On December 21, 2006, 
we incorporated a 100% owned subsidiary. World Energy Securities Corp., under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

On December 5, 2006 we concluded our initial public offering for the sale of 23,000,000 shares of common stock resulting m net 
proceeds to the Company of approximately $17.5 milhon (net of offering costs of approximately $3.6 million). In connection with the 
closing of this offering all of the outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock and non-voting common stock converted into 
19,416,310 shares of voting common stock. 

Our registered and principal office is located at 446 Main Street, Worcester, Massachusetts, 01608, United States of America, and 
our telephone number is (508) 459-8100. Our website is located at www.worldenergy.com. 
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Item lA. Risk Factohs 

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below before deciding to invest in shares of our common 
stock. If any of the following risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results 
would likely suffer, possibly materially. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could lose all or 
part of your investment. 

Risks Related to OUJ- Business 

We have limited operating experience and a history of operating losses, and we may be subject to risks inherent in early stage 
companies, which may make it difficult for you to evaluate our business and prospects. 

We have a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our busmess and prospects. We began assisting in energy 
transactions in 2001 and introduced our current auction model in April of that same year. Further, we have a history of losses and, at 
December 31, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $4.2 miUion. We cannot provide any assurance that we will be 
profitable in any given period or at all. You must consider our business, financial history and prospects m Ught of the risks and 
difficulties we face as an early stage company with a limited operating history. In particular, our management may have less 
experience in implementing our business plan and strategy compared to our competitors, including our strategy to increase our market 
share and build our brand name. In addition, we may face challenges in planning and forecasting accurately as a result of our limited 
historical data and inexperience in implementing and evaluating our business strategies. Our inability to successfully address these 
risks, difficulties and challenges as a result of our inexperience and limited operatmg history may have a negative unpact on our 
ability to implement our strategic initiatives, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

Our business is heavily influenced by how much regulated utility prices for energy are above or below competitive market 
prices for energy and, accordingly, any changes in regulated prices or cycUcaUty or volaHUty in competitive market 
prices heavily impacts our business. 

When energy prices increase in competitive markets above the price levels of the regulated utihties, energy consumers are less 
likely to lock-in to higher fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so they are less likely to use our auction platform. 
Accordingly, reductions in regulated energy prices can severely negatively in:q)act our business. Any such reductions in regulated 
energy prices over a large geographic area or over a long period of time would have a material adverse effect on our business, 
prospects, financial condition and results of operations. Similarly, cyclicaUty or volatility in competitive market prices tiiat have the 
effect of driving those prices above the regulated utihty prices will make our auction platform less useful to ene i^ consumers and 
will negatively impact our business. 

The online brokerage of electricity and other energy-related products is a relatively new and emerging market and it is 
uncertain whether our auction model will gain widespread acceptance. 

The emergence of competition in the electricity market and other energy-related products is a relatively recent development, and 
industry participants have not yet achieved consensus on how to most eflficiently take advantage of the competitive environment. We 
believe that as the online energy brokerage industry matures, it is hkely to become dominated by a relatively small number of 
competitors that can offer access to the largest number of competitive suppUers and consumers. Brokerage exchanges with the highest 
levels of transaction volume will likely be able to offer energy suppliers lower transaction costs and offer consumers better prices, 
which we believe will increasingly create competitive barriers for smaller onluie brokerage exchanges. For us to capitalize on our 
position as an early entrant into this line of business, we will need to generate widespread support for our auction platform and 
continue to rapidly expand the scale of our operations. Other online auction or non-auction strategies may prove to be more attractive 
to the industry than our auction model. If an altemative brokerage exchange model becomes widely accepted in the electricity industry 
and/or the other energy-related industries we participate in, our busmess will fail. 

We depend on a small number of key energy consumers for a significant portion of our revenue, many of which are 
government entities that have no obligation to use our auction platform or continue their relationship with us, and the partial 
or complete loss of business of one or more of these consumers could negatively affect our business. 

We have an energy consumer base comprised primarily of large businesses and govemment organizations. Four of these energy 
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consumers each accounted for over 10% individually and approxunately 63% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended 
December 31, 2006, and three of these energy consumers accounted for over 10% mdividually and approximately 51% in the 
aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005. Our govemment contracts are typically for multiple years but are 
subject to govemment funding contingencies and cancellation for convenience clauses. Although our non-govemment contracts create 
a short-term exclusive relationship with the energy consumer, typically this exclusivity relates only to the specific auction event and 
expires during the term of the energy contract. Accordingly, we do not have ongoing commitments fiijm tiiese energy consumers to 
purchase any of their incremental energy requirements utilizing our auction platform, and they are not prohibited fi-om using 
competing brokerage services. The loss of any of these key energy consumers will negatively impact our 
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revenue, particularly in the absence of our ability to attract additional ^lergy consumers to use our service. 

We do not have contracts for fixed volumes with the energy suppliers who use our auction platform and we depend on a small 
number of key energy suppliers, and the partial or complete loss of one or more of these energy st^pliers as apartic^ant 
on our auction platform could undermine our ability to execute effective auctions. 

We do not have contracts for fixed volumes with any of the energy suppliers who use our auction platform. Four energy suppliers 
each accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 51% in tiie aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 
2006, and four of tiiese energy suppliers each accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 57% in the aggregate of our 
revenue for tiie year ended December 31, 2005. The loss of any of these, or otiier significant, supphers will negatively impact our 
operations, particularly in the absence of our ability to locate additional national suppliers. We do not have agreements witii any of 
these suppliers preventing them fi-om directly competing with us or utihzing competing services. 

We depend on our channel partners to establish and develop certain of our relationships with energy consumers and the loss 
of certain channel partners could result in the loss of certain key energy consumers* 

We rely on our channel partners to establish certain of our relationships with energy consumers. Our ability to maintain our 
relationships with our channel partners will impact our operations and revenue. We depend on the financial viability of our channel 
partners and tiieir success m procuring energy consumers on our behalf. One of our channel partners was involved vrith identifying 
and qualifying energy consumers which entered into contracts that accounted for approxunately 63% of our revenue for the year 
ended December 31, 2006, and two of our channel partners were mvolved witii identifying and quaUfying energy consumers which 
entered into contracts that accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 80% in tiie aggregate of our revenue for tiie year 
ended December 31, 2005. Channel partners may be involved in various aspects of a deal mcluding but not lunited to lead 
identification, the selling process, project management, data gathering, contract negotiation, deal closing and post-auction account 
management. To the extent that a channel partner ceases to do business with us, or goes bankmpt, dissolves, or otherwise ceases to 
carry on business, we may lose access to that channel partner's existing client base, m which case the volume of energy traded through 
the World Energy Exchange will be adversely affected and our revenue will decline. 

If we are unable to rapidly implement some or all of our major strategic initiatives, our ability to improve our compe^tive 
position may be negatively impacted. 

Our strategy is to improve our competitive position by implementing certam key strategic initiatives in advance of competitors, 
including the following: 

• continuing to develop channel partner relationships; 

• strengthen and expand long-term relationships with govemment agencies; 

• target other energy-related markets; 

• target utilities in order to broker energy-related products for them; and 

• develop a green credits auction platform. 

We cannot assure you tiiat we will be successful in implementing any of these key strategic mitiatives, or tiiat our time to market 
will be sooner tiian that of competitors. Some of these initiatives relate to new services or products for which there are no estabhshed 
markets, or in which we lack experience and expertise. In addition, tiie execution of our growth strategies wiU require significant 
increases in working capital expenses and increases in capital expenditures and management resources and may subject us to 
additional regulatory oversight. 

If we are unable to rapidly implement some or all of our key strategic mitiatives in an effective and timely manner, our ability to 
improve our competitive position may be negatively impacted, which would have a material and adverse effect on our business and 
prospects. 

We currently derive substantially all of our revenue from the brokerage of electricity, and as a result our business is highly 
susceptible to factors affecting the electricity market over which we have no control 
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We derived approximately 93% of revenue during 2006 and 91% of revenue during 2005 fi*om the brokerage of electricity. 
Although we expect that our reliance on the brokerage of electricity will diminish as we unplement our strategy to expand brokerage 
into other markets, we believe that our revenue will continue to be highly dq)endent on the level of activity in the electricity market 
for the near future. Transaction volume in the electricity market is subject to a number of variables, such as consumption levels, 
pricing trends, availability of supply and other variables. We have no control over these variables, which are affected by geopolitical 
events such as war, threat of war, terrorism, civil unrest, political instability, environmental or climatic factors and general economic 
conditions. We are particularly vulnerable during periods when eneigy consumers perceive that 
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electricity prices are at elevated levels since transaction volume is typically lower when prices are high relative to regitiated utility 
prices. Accordingly, if electricity transaction volume declines sharply, our results will suffer. 

Our success depends on the widespread adoption of purchasing electricity from competitive sources. 

Our success will depend, in large part, on the willingness of commercial, industrial and governmental, or CIG, energy consumers 
to embrace competitive sources of supply, and on the ability of our energy suppliers to consistentiy source electricity at competitive 
rates. In most regions of North America, energy consumers have either no or relatively littie experience purchasing electricity in a 
competitive environment. Although electricity consumers in deregulated regions have been switching firom incumbent utihties to 
competitive sources, there can be no assurance that the trend will continue. In a majority of states and municipalities, including some 
areas which are technically "deregulated", electricity is still provided by the incumbent local utility at subsidized rates or at rates that 
are too low to stimulate meaningful competition by other providers. In addition, extreme price volatility could delay or impede the 
widespread adoption of competitive markets. To the extent that competitive markets do not continue to develop rapidly ova prospects 
for growth will be constrained. Also, there can be no assurance that trends in government deregulation of energy will continue or will 
not be reversed. Increased regulation of energy would significantiy damage our business. 

Even if our auction brokerage model achieves widespread acceptance as the preferred means to transact electricity and other 
energy-related products, we may be unsuccessful in competing against current and future competitors. 

We expect that competition for online brokerage of electricity and other energy-related products will intensify in the near future in 
response to expanding restmctured energy markets that permit consumer choice of energy sources and as technological advances 
create incentives to develop more efficient and less costly energy procurement m regional and global markets. The barriers to entry 
into tiie online brokerage marketplace are relatively low, and we expect to face increased competition fi-om traditional off-line energy 
brokers, other established participants in the energy mdustry and online services companies that can launch onhne auction services 
that are similar to ours. 

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have longer operating histories, better brand recognition and significantiy 
greater financial resources than we do. The management of some of these competitors may have more experience in implementing 
their business plan and strategy and they may have pre-existing commercial or other relationships with large energy consumers and or 
supphers which would give them a competitive advantage. We expect that as competition in the online marketplace increases, 
brokerage commissions for the energy industry will dechne, which could have a negative impact on the level of brokwage fees we can 
charge per transaction and may reduce tiie relative attractiveness of our exchange services. We expect that our costs relating to 
marketing and human resources may increase as our competitors undertake marketing campaigns to enhance their brand names and to 
increase the volume of business conducted through their exchanges. We also expect many of otu competitors to expend financial and 
other resources to improve their network and system infrastructure to compete more aggressively. Our inability to adequately address 
these and other competitive pressures would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, fmancial condition and results 
of operations. 

Our costs will increase significantly as we expand our business and in the event that our revenue does not increase 
proportionately^ we will generate significant operating losses in the future. 

We expect to significantly increase our operatmg expenses as we continue to expand our brokerage capabihties to offer additional 
energy-related products, increase our sales and marketuig efforts, and develop our administrative organization. We also are incurring 
increased costs as a result of being a publicly held company with shares Usted on the Toronto Stock Exchange. As we seek to expand 
our business rapidly, we may incur significant operating losses. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 we incurred a net 
loss of approximately $501,000, which was a direct resuU of these uicreased costs. In addition, our budgeted expense levels are based, 
in significant part, on our expectations as to future revenue and are largely fixed in the short term. As a result, we may be unable to 
adjust spending in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected shortfall in revenue which could compound those losses in any 
given fiscal period. 

We depend on the services of our senior executives and other key personnel, the loss of whom could negatively affe0. our 
business. 

Our future performance will depend substantially on the continued services of our senior management and other key personnel, 
including our vice president of sales, vice president of business development, vice president of channel sales, chief information 
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officer, vice president of operations and account management, and our market directors. If any one or more of such persons leave their 
positions and we are unable to find suitable replacement personnel in a timely and cost efficient manner, our business may be 
dismpted and we may not be able to achieve our business objectives, including our ability to manage our growth and successfully 
implement our strategic initiatives. We do not have long-term employment agreements with our senior management OT other key 
personnel and we do not have a non-competition agreement with our ciurrent chief executive officer. 

We must also continue to seek ways to retain and motivate all of our emploĵ ees through various means, including through 
enhanced compensation packages. In addition, we will need to hire more employees as we continue to implement our key strategy 
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of building on our market position and expanding our business. Competition for qualified personnel in the areas in which we compete 
remains intense and the pool of qualified candidates is hmited. Our inabiUty to attract, hire and retain qualified staff on a cost efficient 
basis may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and ability to 
successfully implement our growth strategies. 

We depend on third-party service and technology providers and any loss or breah-down in those reUttionsltips could damage 
our operations significantly if we are unable to find altemative providers. 

We depend on a number of third party providers for web hosting, elements of our online auction system, data management and 
other systems, as well as communications and networking equipment, computer hardware and software and related support and 
maintenance. There can be no assurance that any of these providers will be able to continue to provide these services without 
intermption and in an efficient, cost-effective manner or that they will be able to adequately meet our needs as our transaction volume 
increases. An intermption in or the cessation of such third-party services and our inabiUty to make altemative arrangements in a timely 
manner, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. There is also no 
assurance that any agreements that we have in place with such third-party providers will be renewed, or if renewed, renewed on 
favorable terms. 

Our business depends heavily on information technology systems the interruption or unavailability of which could mateiialty 
damage our operations. 

The satisfactory performance, reUability and availability of our exchange, processing systems and network infiastructure are 
critical to our reputation and our ability to attract and retam energy consumers and energy sî >pliers to the World Enei^ Exchange. 
Our efforts to mitigate systems risks may not be adequate and the risk of a system failure or interruption cannot be eliminated. 
Although we have never experienced an unscheduled intermption of service, any such intermption in our services may result m an 
immediate, and possibly substantial, loss of revenue and damage to our reputation. 

Oin business also depends upon the use of the Internet as a transactions medium. Therefore, we must remain current with Intemet 
use and technology developments. Our current technological architecture may not effectively or efGdentiy support our changing 
business requirements. 

Any substantial increase in service activities or transaction volume on the World Energy Exchange and the development of the 
World Green Exchange may require us to expand and upgrade our technology, transaction processing systems and network 
infi-astmcture. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully do so, and any fiiilure could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Breaches of online security could damage or disrupt our reputation and our ability to do business. 

To succeed, online communications must provide a secure transmission of confidential information over pubUc networks. 
Security measures that are implemented may not always prevent security breaches that could harm our business. Although to our 
knowledge we have never experienced a breach of online security, compromise of our security could harm our reputation, cause users 
to lose confidence in our security systems and to not source their electricity using our auction platform and also subject us to lawsuits, 
sanctions, fines and other penalties. In addition, a party who is able to circumvent our security measures could misappropriate 
proprietary information, cause intermptions in our operations, damage our computers or those of our users, or otherwise damage our 
reputation and business. Our insurance pohcies may not be adequate to reimburse us for losses caused by security breaches. 

We may need to expend significant resources to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches. 
These issues are likely to become more difficult and costly as our business expands. 

To the extent that we expand our operations into foreign markets, additional costs and risks associated with doing business 
internationally will appty. 

It is possible that we will have intemational operations in the near future. These operations may include the brokerit^ of green 
credits in countries signatory to the Kyoto Protocol, the outsourcing of data and programming to lower cost locations, and the 
brokering of energy in other geographic markets where we believe the demand for our services may be strong. To the extent we enter 
geographic markets outside of the United States, our intemational operations will be subject to a number of risks and potential costs, 
including: 
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• different regulatory requirements goveming the energy marketplace; 

• difficulty in establishing, staffing and managing international operations; 

• regulatory regimes goveming tiie Intemet and auctioneering tiiat may limit or prevent our operations m some jurisdictions; 
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' different and more stringent data privacy laws; 

• differing intellectual property laws; 

• differing contract laws that prevent the enforceability of agreements between energy suppUers and energy consimiers; 

• the imposition of special taxes, including local taxation of our fees or of transactions through our exchange; 

• strong local competitors; 

• currency fluctuations; and 

• pohtical and economic instability. 

Our failure to manage the risks associated with mtemational operations could limit the future growth of our busmess and 
adversely affect our operating resuUs. We may be requured to make a substantial financial investment and expend significant 
management efforts in cormection with any intemational expansion. 

The application of taxes including sales taxes and other taxes could negatively affect our business. 

The application of indirect taxes (such as sales and use tax, value added tax, goods and services tax, business tax, and gross 
receipt tax) to e-commerce busmesses and our users is a complex and evolving issue. Many of tiie fundamental statutes and 
regulations that impose these taxes were established before the growtii of the Intemet and e-commerce. In many cases, it is not clear 
how existmg statutes apply to the Intemet or e-commerce. In addition, some jurisdictions have unplemented or may unplement laws 
specifically addressing the Intemet or some aspect of e-commerce. The appUcation of existing or future laws could have adverse 
effects on our business. 

Several proposals have been made at the United States state and local level that would impose additional taxes on the sale of 
goods and services through the Intemet. These proposals, if adopted, could substantially impair the growth of e-commerce, and could 
diminish our opportumty to derive financial benefit firom our activities. The United States federal government's moratorium on states 
and other local authorities imposing access or discriminatory taxes on the Intemet is scheduled to expire in November 2007. This 
moratorium does not prohibit federal, state, or local authorities fi-om collectmg taxes on our income or fi^om collecting taxes that are 
due under existing tax mles. 

In conjunction with the Streamlined Sales Tax Project — an ongomg, multi-year effort by certain state and local governments to 
require collection and remittance of distant sales tax by out-of-state sellers — bills have been introduced m the U.S. Congress to 
overtum the Supreme Court's Quill decision, which limits the ability of state governments to require seUers outside of then own state 
to collect and remit sales taxes on goods purchased by in-state residents. An overturning of the Quill decision would harm our users 
and our business. 

The passage of new legislation and the imposition of additional tax requirements could increase the costs to energy suppUers and 
energy consumers using our auction platform and, accordingly, could harm our business. There have been, and will continue to be, 
ongoing costs associated with complying with the various indirect tax requirements m the numerous states, localities or countries in 
which we currently conduct or will conduct business. 

U.S. federal or state legislative or regulatory reform of the current systems goveming commodities or energy may affect our 
ability to conduct our businessprofitabfy. 

We are currently not regulated as an energy provider, broker or commodities dealer. Changes to the laws or regulations goveming 
activities related to commodities trading or energy procurement, supply, distribution or sale, or transactmg in energy-related products 
or securities could adversely affect the profitabiUty of our brokerage operations or even our ability to conduct auctions. In addition, 
our future lines of business under consideration, mcluding transacting in green credits, could subject us to additional regulation. 
Changes to the current regulatory framework could result in additional costs and expenses or prohibit certam of our current busmess 
activities or future business plans. We cannot predict the form any such legislation or mle making may take, the probability of 
passage, and the ultimate effect on us. 
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We may expand our business through acquisition of other businesses and technologies which will present specitti risks. 

We may expand our business in certain areas through tiie acquisition of busmesses, technologies, products and services fi'om 
other businesses. Acquisitions involve a number of special problems, mcluding: 

• the need to incur additional indebtedness, issue stock or use cash m order to complete the acquisition; 

• difficulty integrating acquired technologies, operations and personnel with the existing business; 

• diversion of management attention in connection with both negotiatmg the acquisitions and integratuig the assets; 
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' strain on managerial and operational resources as management tries to oversee larger operations; 

• the funding requirements for acquired con^anies may be significant; 

• exposure to unforeseen Habilities of acquired companies; 

• increased risk of costly and time-consuming litigation, including stockholder lawsuits; and 

• potential issuance of securities in coimection with an acquisition with rights that are superior to the rights of our common 
stockholders, or which may have a dilutive effect on our common stockholders. 

We may not be able to successfully address these problems. Our future operatmg results will depend to a significant degree on our 
ability to successfiilly integrate acquisitions and manage operations while also controlling expenses and cash bum. 

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property 

We may be unable to adequately protect our intellectual property, which could harm us and affect our ability to concrete 
effectively. 

We have developed proprietary software, logos, brands, service names and web sites, mcluding our proprietary auction platform. 
Although we have taken certain limited steps to protect our proprietary intellectual property (including consulting with outside patent 
and trademark counsel regarding protection of our intellectual property and unplementing a program to protect our trade secrets), we 
have not applied for any patents with respect to our auction platform and we have not registered any trademarks. The steps we have 
taken to protect our intellectual property may be inadequate to deter misappropriation of our proprietary utfoimation or deter 
independent development of similar technologies by others. We may not be able to prevent the unautiiorized disclosure or use of our 
technical knowledge or trade secrets by consultants, vendors, former employees and current employees, despite the existence of 
confidentiality agreements and other contractual restrictions. If our intellectual property rights are not adequately protected, we may 
not be able to commercialize our services. We may be unable to detect the unauthorized use of, or take adequate steps to ettforce, our 
intellectual property rights. In addition, certain of our trade names may not be eUgible for protection if, for example, they are generic 
or in use by another party. Accordingly, we may be unable to prevent competitors fi-om using trade names that are confiismgly similar 
or identical to ours. 

Our auction platform, services, technologies or usage of trade names could infringe the intellectual prt^erty rights of others, 
which may lead to litigation that could itself be costfy, could result in the payment of substantial damages or royalties, and/or 
prevent us from using technology that is essential to our business. 

Although no third party has threatened or alleged that our auction platform, services, technologies or usage of trade names 
infringe their patents or other intellectual property rights, we cannot assure you that we do not infiinge the patents or other intellectual 
property rights of third parties. 

Infiingement and other intellectual property claims and proceedings brought against us, whether successful or not, could result in 
substantial costs and harm to our reputation. Defending our intellectual property rights could result in the expenditure of significant 
financial and managerial resources, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results. If our 
business is successfiil, the possibility may increase that others will assert infiingement claims against us. 

We use intellectual property licensed fi-ora third parties in our operations. There is a risk tiiat such licenses may be terminated, 
which could significantiy dismpt our business. In such an event, we may be required to spend significant time and money to develop a 
non-infiinging system or process or license intellectual property that does not infiinge upon the rights of that other person or to obtain 
a license for the intellectual property fi^om the owner We may not be successfiil in that development or any such license may not be 
available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, any litigation could be lengthy and costly and could adversely affect 
us even if we are successful in such litigation. 

Our corporate name and certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, they are generic or in use by 
another party. We may be unable to prevent competitors from using trade names or corporate names that are confiisingly similar or 
identical to ours. A company organized under the laws of the State of Florida and whose shares are publicly traded imder the symbol 
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"WEGY" also operates under the name "World Eneigy Solutions, Inc." According to its filings with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, this other company changed its name to "World Energy Solutions" in November 2005, and is in the business of 
manufacturing and selling transient voltage surge suppressors and related products and commercial and resid^itial energy-saving 
equipment and applications to distributors and customers throughout the United States. Such fiUngs indicate that this other company 
plans to implement a new business model to market a multi-product package to commercial, industrial and residential fiicilities in 
order to lower tiieir overall cost of electricity, gas and water. This appears to be a different business tiian ours. We cannot assure you 
that this other company will not seek to chaUenge our right to the use of our name, in which case we could be drawn mto htigation 

! and, if unsuccessful could be required, or could decide, to cease usmg the name World Energy Solutions, Inc., in which case we would 
not realize any value we had buiU in our name. Additionally, our reputation could be damaged if the other company continues its use 

I of the name World Energy Solutions, Inc. and such other company develops a negative reputation. 
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Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock 

Because there is a limited trading history for our common stock and our stock price may be volatUe, you may not be able to 
resell your shares at or above your purchase price. 

We cannot predict the extent to which investors' interests will provide an active trading market for our common stodc or whether 
the market price of our common stock will be volatile. The market for early stage Intemet and technology stocks has been extremely 
volatile. The following factors, many of which are outside of our control, could cause the market price of our common stock to 
decrease significantly from recent prices: 

• loss of any of the major energy consumers or suppliers using our auction platform; 

• departure of key personnel; 

" variations in our quarterly operating results; 

• announcements by our competitors of significant contracts, new transaction capabiUties, enhancements, lower fees, acquisitions, 
distribution partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments; 

• changes in governmental regulations and standards affecting the energy mdustry and our products, including implementation of 
additional regulations relating to consumer data privacy; 

• decreases in financial estimates by equity research analysts; 

• sales of common stock or other securities by us in the future; 

• decreases in market valuations of Intemet or technology con^anies; and 

• fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes. 

In the past, securities class action litigation often has been mitiated against a company following a period of volatility in the 
market price of the company's securities. If class action litigation is initiated against us, we will incur substantial costs and our 
management's attention will be diverted fi-om our operations. AU of these factors could cause tiie market price of our stock to decline, 
and you may lose some or all of your investment. Also due to the size of the market capitaUzation of our shares, and the fact that we 
are only publicly listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the market for our common stock may be volatile and may not afford a high 
level of liquidity. 

Future sales of our common stock by persons who were stockholders prior to our initial public offering could cause our stock 
price to decline. 

If persons who were stockholders prior to our initial public offering sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public 
market, the market price of our common stock could decrease significantly. The perception in the pubUc market that our stockholders 
might sell shares of common stock could also depress the market price of our common stock. A substantial portion of our stockholders 
prior to our initial public offering are subject to lock-up agreements with the underwriters that restrict their ability to transfer their 
stock for at least 365 days after the date of the offering. Upon expuation of the lock-up agreements, an additional 43,368,733 shares of 
our common stock will be eligible for sale in the public market. In addition, we filed a registration statement with the SEC covering 
(a) substantially all of the shares of our common stock acquued upon option exercises prior to the closing of this offering, other than 
shares we beheve are ehgible for sale pursuant to Rule 144(k) under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as of the time of 
filing, (b) all of the shares subject to options outstanding, but not exercised, as of the closuig of this offering, and (c) aU of the shares 
available for future issuance under our stock incentive plans upon the closing of this offering. The market price of shares of our 
common stock may drop significantly when the restrictions on resale by our existing stockholders lapse and our stockholders are able 
to sell shares of our common stock into the market. A decline in the price of shares of our common stock might impede oin- abiUty to 
raise capital through the issuance of additional shares of our common stock or other equity securities, and may cause you to lose part 
or all of your investment in our shares of common stock. 

Massachusetts Capital Resource Company holds certain piggy-back and demand registration rights with respect to 
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600,000 shares. Certain underwriters for our initial public offering have piggy-back registration rights with respect to shares issuable 
upon exercise of the warrants issued in connection with our initial public offering. In the event that the holders of registration rights 
were to exercise such rights, upon registration of the shares of our common stock in connection with any such exercises, sales of a 
substantial number of shares of our common stock in the applicable pubUc market could occur. Such sales, or the perception in such 
market tiiat the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock. 

17 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21,2007 1̂  



Our auditors identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,2005 

In a letter dated August 2, 2006, our extemal auditors, UHY LLP, advised us that they were concemed that as of and for tiie year 
ended December 31, 2005, we were operating without an experienced principal accountii^financial officer with sufficient knowledge 
of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, SEC financial reporting issues, internal controls, and other complex 
accounting and reporting issues, and that the lack of such an officer constituted a "material weakness*' in our internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, A "material weakness" is a control deficiency or a combination of control deficiencies 
that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement in the financial statements or related disclosures will not be 
prevented or detected. In May 2006, we hired a fiill-tune chief financial officer with the appropriate experience and background to 
manage the diverse and complex financial issues that may arise in our business. In addition, we have recentiy reorganized oiu-
accounting staff and have hired an additional professional to augment our staff. We beUeve that these staffing additions have mitigated 
these risks and that the material weakness identified as of December 31, 2005, no longer exists. As a public company we are subject to 
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. CompUance with Section 404 will result m the incurrence of si^iificant costs, the 
commitment of time and operational resources and the diversion of management's attention. If our management identifies material 
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal controls are effective. If we are 
unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent auditors are unable to attest that our 
management's report is fairly stated or tiiey are unable to express an opinion on our management's evaluation or on the effectiveness 
of our intemal controls, oiu business may be harmed. Market perception of our financial condition and the tradit^ price of our stock 
may also be adversely affected and customer perception of our business may suffer 

Our directors and executive officers have substantial control over us and could limit your ability to influence the outcome of 
key transactions, including changes of control 

Our executive officers and directors and entities affiliated with them, m the aggregate, beneficially own approxunately 35.8% of 
our outstanding common stock. In particular, Richard Domaleski, our president and chief executive officer, beneficiaUy owns 
approximately 25.0% of our outstanding common stock. Our executive officers, directors and affiliated entities, if acting together, 
would be able to control or influence significantly all matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of 
directors and the approval of mergers or other significant corporate transactions. These stockholders may have interests that differ 
fi-om yours, and they may vote in a way with which you disagree and that may be adverse to your interests. The concentration of 
ownership of our common stock may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of our company, could 
deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our company, and may 
affect the market price of our common stock. 

Our corporate documents and Delaware law make a takeover of our company more difficult, we have a classified board of 
directors and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws require a super-minority vote to amend, all of 
which may prevent certain changes in control and limit the market price of our common stock. 

Our charter and by-laws and Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law contain provisions that might enable our 
management to resist a takeover of our company. In general. Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from 
engaging in a busmess combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the person became an interested 
stockholder, unless the interested stockholder attamed such status with the approval of our Board or the business combination is 
approved in a prescribed mamer. Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws establish a classified board of directors such that our 
directors serve staggered three-year terms and do not all stand for re-election every year. In addition, any action requhed or permitted 
to be taken by our stockholders at an annual meeting or special meetmg of stockholders may only be taken if it is properly brought 
before the meeting and may not be taken by written action in lieu of a meeting, and special meetings of the stockholders may only be 
called by the chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or our Board. Further, our certificate of incorporation provides that 
directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of 75% of our shares of capital stock entitied to vote, 
and any vacancy on our Board, including a vacancy resulting fi-om an enlargement of our Board, may only be fiUed by vote of a 
majority of our directors then in office. In addition, our by-laws establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be 
brought before an annual meeting of stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for election to tiie Board. These 
provisions of oiu certificate of incorporation and by-laws, including those settmg fortii the classified board, require a super-majority 
vote of stockholders to amend. These provisions might discourage, delay or prevent a change in the control of our company or a 
change in our management. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other 
stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. The existence of these provisions could Umit the price that investors 
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might be wiUing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. 
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We may choose not to continue to file periodic reports with the SEC if we are not required to do so, which would Umit the 
information available about us in the United States, and because we are not listing on a United States exchange, we do not 
have the same disclosure and corporate governance obligations as a company that is so listed. 

Under United States securities laws, we are required to file mfoimational reports about us with the SEC, including periodic 
reports on Forms 10-K and 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K. However, unless we Ust our shares on a market located in the 
United States, our obligation to file those reports wiU be suspended as to any year in the event that our shares are held by fewer than 
300 stockholders of record as of the beginning of that year. In such an event, we may choose not to file those reports and the 
information you would thereafter receive about us would be limited. We may choose not to file those reports for cost or other reasons. 
In addition, in the event we are not required to be a reporting issuer under the Exchange Act we will no longer be subject to certain 
mles intended to protect U.S. investors, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our determination not to file those reports could have the 
result of limiting the market for our shares, and thereby have a negative effect on our stock price. Should we not have an obhgation to 
file periodic reports in accordance with United States securities laws, we expect to file periodic reports in compUance with National 
Instrament 51-102 of the Canadian securities regulators so long as shares of our common stock is Usted on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange. 

Our shares are registered on the Toronto Stock Exchange and not on any U.S. exchange. Because we are not currently Usted on 
any U.S. exchange, we do not have the same disclosure ^id corporate govemance obUgations as companies that are Usted on a 
U.S. exchange. However, we are subject to corporate govemance and disclosure requirements of companies listed on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange and as a result of being a reporting issuer m each of the provinces of Canada. 

Item IB. Unresolved Staff Comments 

Not apphcable. 

Item 2. Properties 

We do not own any real property. We lease tiie business premises m the following locations for the stated principal uses: 

Location 

446 Main Street, Worcester, Massachusetts (I) 

1215 I9th Street NW, Washington, District of Columbia (2) 

Approximate 
Floor Space 

(Square Feet) 
5,104 

1,500 

Principal Use 

Executive office and general 
administration 
Branch office 

Note: 

(1) Pursuant to a five-year lease agreement dated September 8, 2004 with Sovereign Bank at a monthly rate of $6,380 in the 
first year, $7,443.33 in tiie second year, $8,081.33 m tiie tiurd and fourth years and $8,400.33 in tiie fifth year, plus 
operating expenses and taxes. 

(2) Pursuant to a one-year lease agreement dated June 21, 2006 with Roosevelt Land, LP at a monthly rate of $4,000 plus 
operating expenses and taxes. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedin£s 

From time to time we may be a party to various legal proceedings arismg m the ordinary course of our business. Our management is 
not aware of any litigation outstanding, threatened or pending as of the date hereof by or against us or our properties which we beUeve 
would be material to our financial condition or results of operations. 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote nf Secuntv Holders 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Enuitv. related Stncklinldcr Matters and Issuer Purchases pf Eonitv Securities 

Our common stock (Symbol "XWE") began traduig on the Toronto Stock Exchange (*TSX") on November 16,2006. Prior to this 
date, there was no established public trading market for the Company's common stock. Our common stock does not cinr^itiy trade on 
a U.S. national market. 

The following table sets forth tiie high and low closing prices per share reported on TSX smce our mitial pubhc offering on 
November 16,2006 to December 31,2006 (m US $'s). 

High Lsw 
Fourth quarter $1.25 $0.91 

On March 2, 2007, the last reported sale price of our common stock on TSX was CADS0.95 per share and there were 
approximately 131 holders of record of our common stock. 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain our fiiture earnings, if 
any, to finance the expansion of our business and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable fiiture. 

Information regarding our equity compensation plans required by tius item is incorporated by reference to the information 
appearing under the caption "Equity Compensation Plan Information" in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meetmg 
of Stockholders. 

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities 
We registered shares of our common stock in connection with our initial public offering concurrently in Canada under the terms of a 
Supplemented Prep Prospectus dated November 9, 2006 and m the United States under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the 
Securities Act. Our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-136528) m connection with our initial pubUc offering was declared 
effective by the SEC on November 9,2006. The offering commenced as of November 10,2006 and did not terminate before all 
securities were sold. The offering was co-managed by Sprott Securities, Inc., Cannacord Capital Corporation and CIBC World 
Markets Inc. A total of 30,441,064 shares of common stock were registered and sold m die initial public offering, including 3,000,000 
shares of common stock sold upon exercise of the underwriters* over-allotment option. Of these shares, 7,441,064 shares were offered 
by certain selling shareholders from which we did not receive any proceeds. No payments for expenses related to the iiutial public 
offering were made directly or indirectly to (i) any of our directors, officers, or their associates, (ii) any person ownit^ 10% or more of 
any class of our equity securities, or (iii) any of our afRUates. The net proceeds of the initial public offering, approximately S17.5 
million, were invested in short-term, highly liquid money market accounts with an original maturity of 90 days or less. As of March 2, 
2007, we have used approximately $2 million of tiie net proceeds of the initial pubUc offering to redeem our long-term debt. There has 
been no material change in the planned use of proceeds fi-om our initial pubUc offering as described in our final prospectus filed with 
tiie SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b). 

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 
During the year ended December 31, 2006, we sold 2,190,671 shares of common stock to employees, durectors, consultants or fi^rmer 
employees through the exercise of options that were not registered under the Securities Act. These shares were issued pursuant to 
written compensatory plans or arrangements with our employees, durectors and consultants, in reUance on the exemption fix)m 
registration provided by Rule 701 under the Securities Act. In addition, common stock warrants were exercised by the payment of 
cash resulting in 1,070,958 shares of common stock that were not registered under the Securities Act. These shares were issued 
pursuant to the exemption fi-om registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act. No underwriters were involved in the 
foregoing sales of securities. 

Repurchase of Equity Securities 
None. 
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Item 6. Selected ConsoUdated Financial Data 

The foUowing table summarizes our consolidated financial data for the periods presented. You should read the following financial 
information together with the information under "Management*s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations" and our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in 
this annual report. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for tiie fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 
2004, and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are derived fi-om the audited consolidated 
financial statements, which are included elsewhere in tiiis document. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the 
year ended December 31, 2003 and tiie consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2004 are derived fixmi our audited 
consolidated financial statements not included in this document. The selected consolidated statement of operating data for the year 
ended December 31, 2002 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 are derived fixim our unaudited 
consolidated financial statements not included in this document. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be 
expected in fiiture periods. 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenue 
Cost of revenue 
Gross profit 

Operating expenses: 
Sales and marketing 
General and administrative 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 
Other income (expense), net(l) 
Income (loss) before income taxes 
Income tax benefit 

Net income (loss) 
Accretion of preferred stock issuance costs 

Net income (loss) available to common 
stockholders 

Net income (loss) available to common 
stockholders per share: 

Basic Voting 
Basic Non-Voting 
Diluted Voting and Non-Voting 
Weighted average shares outstanding — Basic: 

Voting Common Stock 
Non-Voting Common Stock 
Total Common Stock-Basic 

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — 
Diluted: 

2006 

$ 5,763,098 $ 

1,166,426 

4,596,672 

3,227,263 

1,862,450 

5,089,713 

(493,041) 

(312,280) 

(805,321) 

304,228 

(501,093) 

(6,299) 

$ (507,392) $ 

$ (0.01) $ 
— 

(0.01) 

45,576,477 
— 

45,576,477 

45,576,477 

2005 

4,673,987 $ 

648,410 

4,025,577 

2,649,786 

995,703 

3,645,489 

380,088 

(86,838) 

293,250 

754,000 

1,047,250 

(7,199) 

1.040,051 $ 

0.02 $ 

0.02 

0.02 

33,049,472 

6,778,327 

39,827,799 

54,506,566 

2004 

3,191,660 $ 

563,972 

2,627,688 

1,814,799 

710,462 

2,525,261 

102,427 

960,524 

1,062,951 

— 
1,062,951 

(7,199) 

1,055,752 $ 

0.02 $ 

0.02 

0.02 

32,058.759 

2,880,592 

34,939,351 

52,096,206 

2003 

2,474,699 $ 

872,647 

1,602,052 

1,781,173 

557,910 

2,339,083 

(737,031) 

(180,738) 

(917,769) 

— 
(917,769) 

(7,199) 

(924,968) $ 

(0.03) $ 

(0.03) 

(0.03) 

30,105,188 

339,726 

30,444,914 

30,444,914 

2002 

1,627,286 

795,367 

831,919 

1,485,410 

577,371 

2,062,781 

(1,230,862) 

(272,866) 

(1,503.728) 

— 
(1.503,728) 

— 

(1,503,728) 

(0.05) 

— 
(0.05) 

30,340,029 

— 
30,340,029 

30,340,029 

(1) Other income (expense) for tiie year ended December 31, 2004 includes a gain of $1,062,775 from extmguishment of debt. 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Working capital 

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

$ 17,483,886 $ 1.584,066 $ 49,389 S 220,796 $ 263,531 
16,639,898 1,372,542 (882,162) (2,051,277) (999,592) 
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Total assets 
Long-term Habilities 
Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock 
Accumulated deficit 
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 

20,791,381 
87,844 

— 

(4,211,367) 

17,945,002 $ 

21 

3,787,842 

1,879,745 

1,501.698 

(3,710,274) 

(938.883) $ 

941,688 

150,368 

1,494,499 

(4,747,524) 

(2.241,134) $ 

934,635 

25,565 

1,487,300 

(5,820.475) 

(3,485,026) $ 

1,141,337 

3,835,283 

— 
(4.902,707) 

(2.669,421) 
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Item 7. Management's Discussinn and Analvsis of Financial Conditinn and Results of Oncrations 

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our 
consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form lO-K, Some of the 
information contained in this discussion and analysis includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You 
should review the "Risk Factors " section of this Annual Report for a discussion of important factors thai could cause actual results to 
differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and 
analysis. 

Overview 

World Energy Solutions, Inc. is an energy brokerage company that has developed an onluie auction platform, the World Energy 
Exchange. We bring energy suppliers and commercial, industrial and government, or CIG, energy consumers together in the -virtual 
marketplace, often with the assistance of channel partners. Our auction platform, the World Energy Exchange, is an online auction 
supplemented with information about market rules, pricing trends, energy consumer usage and load profiles. Our procurement staff 
uses this auction platform to conduct auctions, analyze results, guide energy consumers through contracting, and track then contracts, 
sites, accounts and usage history. While our core competency is brokering electricity, we have adapted our World Energy Exchange 
auction platform to accommodate the brokering of natural gas, green power (i.e., electricity generated by renewable resources) and 
energy-related products. In addition, we have adapted our World Energy Exchange auction platform to accommodate transactions in 
fiiel oils including: diesel, heating oil, propane and jet fiiel and are m the process of adapting the platform to accommodate green 
credit transactions. 

In 2006, we grew our cost base to support our growth plans. As of December 31, 2006. we employed 20 fiill time employees 
versus 10 as of December 31, 2005 as we hired additional staff to pursue the development of our channel partner network, expand the 
base of energy consumers using our auction platform and accommodate expansion into brokerage of additional energy-related 
products. We also hired additional staff for our back office fimctions in expectation of the additional requirements of being a public 
company. These increased employee costs (salaries and commissions) and related costs were tiie major factors contributing to our 
increased cost structure in all fimctional areas in 2006. We expect to significantiy increase our operating expenses in 2007 as we 
continue to expand our brokerage capabihties to offer additional energy-related products, mcrease our sales and marketing efforts and 
continue to expand our back office operation. In January 2007, we hired a Senior Vice President of Sales aod expect to build out a 
sales staff witiiin the major deregulated markets where we currently do not have a strong representation including Texas, New 
England, New York and the Midwest. In addition, we plan to build out our wholesale and green credit auction c^ability, which will 
require additional staffing and outside technical resources. We also expect there to be significant additional compliance costs 
associated with being a pubUc company reportmg in botii the United States and Canada. 

Operations 

Revenue 

For the vast majority of our transactions, we receive a monthly commission on energy sales contracted through our online auction 
platform from each enei^ supplier based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy suppUer and eneî gy 
consumer. Our commissions are based on the energy usage generated and transacted between tiie energy s i l l i e r and energy 
consumer multiplied by our contractual commission rate. Our contractual commission rate is negotiated with the energy consumer on 
a procurement by procurement basis based on energy consumer specific circumstances, mcluding size of auction (kilowatt hours for 
electricity or decatherms for gas), intemal effort required to organize and run the respective auction and competitive factors, among 
others. Once the contractual commission is agreed to with the energy consumer, all energy suppliers participating in the auction agree 
to that rate. That commission rate remains fixed for the duration of the contractual term regardless of energy usage. Energy consumers 
provide us with a letter of authority to request theu* usage history from the local utiUty. We then use this data to compile a usage 
profile for that energy consumer that will become the basis for the auction. This data may also be used to estimate revenue on a gomg 
forward basis, as noted below. 
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Revenue from commissions is recognized as eamed on a monthly basis over the life of each contrail as energy is consumed. We 
gather actual usage data through multiple mechanisms includmg certain suppliers' contractual requirements to supply actual usage 
data to us on a monthly basis, and/or usage data we receive on a quarterly basis from local utilities. We review these usage reports in 
detail to determine whether we believe that the data reported is a fiill and accurate assessment of the usage during that period. We 
record brokerage commissions based on actual usage data obtained from the energy supplier for that accounting period or, to the 
extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity and gas delivered to the energy consumers for 
that accounting period. Actual data might not be received from energy suppliers due to any one of a mmiber of things, including; 
timmg of meter reads, utility delays in gathering the data, and/or delays within the suppUer organization in forwarding data to us. We 
develop our estimates on a quarterly basis based on the foUowing criteria: payments received prior to the issuance of the financial 
statements; usage updates firom energy suppliers; and usage data from utilities. We regularly evaluate our estimates and inwleriymg 
assumptions based upon our historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
To tiie extent actual results differ fi-om tiiose estimates, adjustments wiU be made in tiie period in which tiie difference is determined. 
Historically, our revenue and operating results have varied from quarter-to-quarter and are expected to continue to fluctuate in the 
fiiture. These fluctuations are primarily due to energy usage, particularly electricity, having higher demand in our second and third 
quarters and lower demand during our fourth and first quarters. In addition, the activity levels on the World Eneigy Exchange can 
fluctuate due to a number of factors, includmg geopolitical events, weather conditions and maricet prices. To the extent these factors 
affect the purchasing decisions of energy consumers, our fiiture results of operations may be affected. We also receive commissions 
on wholesale energy sales contracted through our onlme auction platform from each energy supplier based on a fixed fee for service. 
These revenues are not tied to future energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the auction. 

Contracts are signed for a variety of term lengths, with a one year contract term being typical for commercial and industrial 
energy consumers, and govemment contracts typically having two to three year terms. Our revenue has grown over the last three years 
through new participants utilizing our World Energy Exchange as weU as energy consumers increasing the size or frequency of then 
transactions on our exchange platform. 

We generally do not directly invoice energy suppliers and, therefore, we report all of our receivables as **unbilled." Unbilled 
accounts receivable represents management's best estimate of energy provided by the energy suppliers to the energy consumers for a 
specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made up of two components. The first component represents 
energy usage for which we have received actual data from the supplier and/or the utility but for which payment has not been received 
at the balance sheet date. The majority of our contractual relationships with energy suppliers require them to supply actual usage data 
to us on a monthly basis and remit payment to us based on that usage. The second component represents energy usage for which we 
have not received actual data, but for which we have estimated usage. 

Cost of revenue 

Cost of revenue primarily consists of: 

• employee costs (salaries and commissions) and other employee-related costs (primarily payroll taxes and fiinge benefits) 
associated with our auction management services, which are directly related to the development and production of the online 
auction and maintenance of market-related data on our auction platform (our supply desk fimction); 

• amortization of capitalized costs associated with our auction platform; and 

• rent, depreciation and other related overhead and faciUty-related costs. 

Sales and marketing 

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of: 

• third party commission expenses to our channel partners; 

• employee costs (salaries and commissions) and other employee-related costs (primarily payroU taxes and fiinge benefits) related 
to sales and marketing personnel; 

• travel and related expenses; 
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• general marketing costs such as trade shows and marketing materials; and 

• rent, depreciation and other related overhead and fecility-related costs. 

While third party and sales commission expense vary as a fimction of revenue from period-to-period, we expect increases in 
non-commission sales and marketing expenses as we plan to mcrease the size of our sales and marketing staff within our govemment 
and channel partner groups, expand our geogr^hic reach through the opening of additional sales 
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offices within tiie United States and launch new business mitiatives. In January 2007, we hired a Senior Vice Presidrait of Sales to 
extend our national footprint and deepen our Texas presence. As a result, we plan to estabUsh a sales office in Texas and increase our 
staffing levels in that region and in other deregulated regions mcluding, but not limited to, Texas, New England, New York and the 
Midwest. We expect to incur losses in the near term as we build our staff to address tiie opportunities within these regions. 

General and administration 

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of 

• employee costs (salaries), employee-related costs (primarily payroU taxes and fiinge benefits) and stock-based compensation 
related to general and administrative personnel; 

• accounting, legal and other professional fees; and 

• rent, depreciation and other related overhead and fecility-related costs. 

Other income (expense) 

Other income (expense) consists primarily of: 

• uiterest expense on our $500,000 line of credit with a bank that matured on December 14, 2005 and our $2.0 million 
subordinated note payable to Massachusetts Capital Resource Company (tiie "MCRC note") tiiat was redeemed <m December 4, 
2006; 

• interest expense related to capital leases; 

• interest income related to tiie proceeds from our initial pubUc offering; 

• interest expense related to the accretion of warrants associated with the MCRC note; and 

• gain on extinguishment of debt in 2004. 

Income tax benefit 

Income tax benefit primarily relates to our pre-tax loss generated in 2006 and the partial reversal of our valuation allowance m 
2005 against our previously estabhshed deferred tax assets. A valuation allowance is provided against the deferred tax assets 
generated in prior years due to uncertainty regarding the realization of those deferred tax assets, primarily net operating loss 
carryforwards, in the future. 

Results of Operations 

The following table sets forth certain items as a percent of revenue for the periods presented: 

Revenue 
Cost of revenue 

Gross profit 
Operating expenses: 

Sales and marketing 
General and administrative 

Operating income (loss) 
Other income (expense) 
Income tax benefit 
Net income (loss) 
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For the Year Ended 

December 31, 

2006 

100% 

20 
80 

56 
33 

(9) 
(5) 
5 
(9)% 

2005 

100% 
14 
86 

57 
21 
8 
(2) 
16 
22% 

2004 

100% 

18 
82 

57 
22 
3 
30 
— 
33% 

/06 
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 

Revenue 

For the Years Ended 
December 31, 

2006 2005 Increase 

Revenue $ 5,763,098 $ 4,673,987 $ 1.089,111 23% 

Revenue increased 23% primarily due to increased energy usage by energy consumers during the year end§jd December 31, 2006 
as compared to the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily due to the addition of new govemment procurements and the 
increase to 29 channel partners as of December 31, 2006 fi-om 16 as of December3l, 2005. Of tiiose channel partners. 18 had 
successfiilly contributed to our revenue by brokering transactions over the exchange during 2006 as compared to 10 during 2005. 

Cost of revenue 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2006 2005 

Vo of Revenue S % of Revenue Increase 
Cost of revenue $ 1,166,426 20%$ 648,410 14%$ 518,016 80% 

The 80% increase in cost of revenue related to the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the same period in 2005 was 
substantially due to an increase in employee and employee-related costs associated with the addition of four new employees and 
general salary increases. Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue increased 6% primarily due to the cost increases noted above, 
partially offset by the 23% increase in revenue. 

Operating expenses 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

Sales and marketing 

General and administrative 

Total operating expenses 

2006 2005 

$ % of Revenue $ % of Revenue 

$ 3,227,263 56%$ 2.649,786 57%$ 
1,862,450 33 995.703 21 

$ 5,089,713 89%$ 3,645,489 78%$ 

Increase 

577.477 
866.747 

1,444,224 

22% 
87 

40% 

The 22% increase in sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the same period in 2005 
was primarily due to an increase in employee and employee-related costs associated with one additional employee, general salary 
increases and increased commission costs associated with otu" higher sales activity as well as higher travel expenses. Sales and 
marketing expense as a percentage of revenue during the period decreased 1% due to the increase in revenue discussed above 
substantially offset by the increase in employee and employee-related costs. 

The 87% mcrease in general and administrative expenses related to the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the same 
period in 2005 was primarily due to employee-related costs associated with the addition of four new employees, compliance and 
recruiting costs as we increased staffing in all functional areas. General and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue increased 
12% substantially due to the cost increases noted above, partially offset by the 23% increase in revenue. 

Other income (expense) 

Interest expense increased approximately $357,000, or 376%, during tiie year ended December 31,2006 as compared to tiie same 
period in 2005 primarily due to eleven months of interest on the MCRC note in 2006 as compared to two months in 2005. The 
increase in interest expense was substantially offset by an approximate $132,000 increase in interest income eamed on the mvested 
portion of the proceeds fi-om our initial public offering in November 2006 and, to a lesser extent, proceeds fix)m the MCRC note. In 
addition, in connection with our initial public offering, we redeemed the MCRC note at fece value resititing in non-cash interest 
expense of approximately $221,000 due to the accelerated amortization of tiie balance of unamortized discount related to warrant 
issuances. 
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Income tax benefit 

We recorded an income tax benefit of approximately $304,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 reflecting an expected 
effective federal and state tax rate of 38% as we determined that it was more likely than not that a portion of our deferred tax assets 
would be benefited against expected future income. At December 31, 2006, we had gross deferred tax assets of approximately $1.7 
million, against which a valuation allowance of approximately $639,000 had been apphed. Gross deferred tax liabilities of 
approximately $266,000 were also applied agamst the net deferred tax asset. A valuation allowance was provided against the tax 
benefit generated during this period due to uncertainty regarding the reahzation of the net operatmg loss in the future. 

We recorded an income tax benefit of $754,000 for tiie year ended December 31, 2005 as we determined it was more hkely than 
not that a portion of our deferred tax assets would be benefited against future income. 
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Net income (loss) 

We reported a net loss for tiie year ended December 31, 2006 of approximately $501,000 conqiared to net income of 
approximately $1,047,000 in 2005. The net loss in 2006 versus net income m 2005 is primarily due to the increases in operating 
expenses and net interest expense discussed above, which were partially offset by the 23% increase hi revenue for the year ended 
December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005. 

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31,2005 and 2004 

Revenue 

For the Years Ended 
December 31, 

2005 2004 Increase (Decrease) 

Revenue $ 4,673,987 S 3,191,660 $ 1,482.327 46% 

Revenue increased approximately $1.5 million, or 46%, in 2005 primarily due to an increase in auction activity being conducted 
on the World Energy Exchange. The increase was substantially due to the increase to 16 channel partners at the end of 2005 fi-om 10 
at the end of 2004. Of those channel partners, 10 had successfully contributed to our revenue by brokering transactions over the World 
Energy Exchange in 2005, compared to eight m 2004. in addition, we benefited from a fiill year of reventie fix)m the State of Maryland 
procurement in 2005, which was contracted in June 2004, and m December 2004, the second largest procurement in our history using 
our auction platform was completed by the District of Columbia. 

Cost of revenue 

For the Years Ended December 31 

2005 2004 

% of Revenue % of Revenue 
Cost of revenue $ 648,410 

Increase 

(Decrease) 

14%$ 563,972 18%$ 84.438 15% 

The 15% increase in cost of revenue in 2005 was substantially due to employee-related costs witiun the supply desk function and, 
to a lesser extent, increased amortization of capitalized software costs, rent and depreciation expense. Employee related costs 
increased primarily due to increased internal commissions durectly related to the increase in revenue. Cost of revenue as a percent of 
revenue decreased 4% primarily due to tiie 46% mcrease in revenue partially offset by the cost increases discussed above. 

Operating expenses 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

Sales and marketing 
General and administrative 
Total operating expenses 

2005 2004 

$ % of Revenue $ % of Revenue Increase (Decrease) 

$ 2,649,786 57%$ 1,814,799 57%$ 834,987 
995,703 21 710,462 22 285,241 

$ 3,645,489 78%$ 2,525.261 79%$ 1,120.228 

46% 
40 

44% 

The 46% increase in sales and marketing expense m 2005 was primarily due to third party commissions due our channel partners 
and, to a lesser extent, employee-related costs, including mteraal commissions and pajmall and increased occupancy costs, PayroU 
increased due to the addition of one person in sales and marketing during 2005 and increased mtemal commission costs associated 
with our increase in revenue. Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue was flat year over year as the percentage 
increase in revenue in 2005 resulted in a correspondmg percentage increase in commission expenses. 

The 40% increase in general and administrative expense in 2005 was primarily due to compliance related costs, including legal 
and accounting services, employee-related costs and recruiting and human resource costs. These cost increases were all related to 
developing and enhancing our intemal processes includmg general business matters, auditing expense and staff requirements, 
retention and recruitment. In addition, err^jloyee related costs increased in 2005 as fewer costs were allocated to capitaUzed software 
costs as compared to 2004. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased 1% primarily due to the 
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increase in revenue substantially offset by the 40% increase in costs discussed above. 
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Other income (expense) 

Other expense was approximately $87,000 in 2005 as compared to otiier mcome of t^roxunately $961,000 in 2004. Other 
income in 2004 included an approximate $1,063,000 gam firom extinguishment of debt with no similar gain in 2005. Interest expense 
decreased approximately $7,000, or 7%, primarily due to a decrease in interest expense on our capital leases and a decrease in interest 
expense related to an obligation to a securing party of our bank debt. These decreases were partially offeet by interest on tlw MCRC 
note and increases in the effective borrowing rate on our $500,000 revolving line of credit with a bank. 

Income tax 

We recorded an income tax benefit during the fourth quarter in 2005 as we determined that it was more likely than not that a 
portion of our deferred tax assets would be benefited against expected future mcome. We did not record an income tax provision for 
the year ended December 31, 2004 as income (loss) before mcome taxes was substantially offset by net operating loss canyforwards 
of approximately $3.2 million and a valuation allowance was provided against our net deferred tax assets. At December 31,2005, we 
had gross deferred tax assets of approximately $1.4 milHon, against which a valuation allowance of approximately $639,000 had been 
applied. Gross deferred tax liabihties of approximately $40,0(X) were apptied against the net deferred tax asset. Prior to December 31, 
2005, we had determined that it was not more likely than not that we would be able to benefit fix)m our deferred tax assets in the 
fiiture. At December 31, 2005, we reassessed the recoverabihty of these deferred tax items both on recent operating history and 
forecasts for the next three years and determined that a portion of oxu deferred tax assets would, more likely than not, be recoverable 
in the future. As a result, we recognized a tax benefit of approximately $754,000 for the year ended December 31,2005. 

Net income 

We reported net income for the year ended December 31,2005 of $1,047,250 compared to net mcome of $1,062,951 in 2004. The 
decrease in net income in 2005 versus 2004 is primarily due to the $1,062,775 gain fi-om debt extinguishment included in other 
income (expense) in 2004 with no similar gain in 2005. This decrease was substantially offset by tiie $754,000 tax benefit resulting 
from the release of a portion of the valuation allowance related to our deferred tax assets and, to a lesser extent, the approximate 
$278,000 increase in operating income resulting from the increased revenue and improvement in the gross margin percentage in 2005 
as compared to 2004. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

We had a loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, which matured on December 14,2005. The agreement consisted 
of a committed revolving line of credit of up to $500,000 and a security agreement with one of our investors who had agreed to 
provide an unconditional guarantee to the bank. We repaid the balance due imder the agreement of $500,000 on November 7, 2005 
and, accordingly, the security agreement was terminated. 

In November 2005, we received $2.0 milhon in exchange for a suborduiated note with the Massachusetts Capital Resource 
Company ("MCRC"), which bears interest of 10% per annum, and requires quarterly interest payments beginning on December 31, 
2005. On December 4, 2006, we exercised our option to redeem the MCRC note without premium as a result of the completion of otu-
initial public offering. In connection with the MCRC note redemption, MCRC exercised warrants to purchase 600,000 shares of the 
Company's common stock. The remaining warrants to purchase 2,400,000 shares of common stock did not vest and subsequentiy 
expired due to the successfiil completion of our initial public offering on November 16, 2006. The net redemption amount was 
$1,795,000, including interest eamed through the date of redemption. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, interest 
expense related to the subordinated debt was $437,000 and $29,444. respectively. 

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed its mitial public offering (listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange) of 27,441,064 
shares of common stock at a price of CDN$ 1.05 (approximately US$0.93) per share. The offering was comprised of 20,000,000 shares 
sold by World Energy for gross proceeds to the Company of CDN$21,000,000 and 7,441,064 shares sold by certain sellmg 
stockholders for gross proceeds to such stockholders of approximately CDNS7,800,000. 

On December 5, 2006, the Company issued an additional 3.000,000 shares of common stock in accordance with an 
over-allotment option granted to the underwriters of the initial pubhc offering at a price of CDN$1.05 (approximately US$0.92) per 
share for gross proceeds to the Company of CDN$3,150,000. Net proceeds to the Company fii^m the mitial public offering and 
over-alloUnent option were approximately $17.5 milUon, net of offering costs of approxunately $3.6 million. In addition, the 
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Company granted the underwriters of tiie initial public offering, warrants to purchase up to 1,150,000 shares of common stock at the 
public offering price. The warrants are exercisable fi-om the 1-year anniversary of the warrant issuance (November 16^1 and December 
5tii for the over allotment) and expue 18 montiis fi-om tiiat date (May 15, 2009 and June 4, 2009 for tiie over allotment). The warrants 
allow for net share settlement and certain of the holders of these warrants have piggy-back registration rights. The Company valued 
the warrants at $274,129 and recorded it as a component of additional paid-in capital. 

At December 31, 2006, we had no commitments for material coital expenditures. We have identified a number of strategic 
initiatives that we believe are key components of our fiiture growth, including: expanding our commtmity of channel partners, energy 
consumer and energy supplier on the exchange; strengthening and extendmg our long-term relationships witii government agencies; 
entry into other energy-related 
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December 31, 
2006 

$ 17.483,886 
1,702.798 

95 
16,639,898 

December 31, 
2005 

$ 1.584,066 $ 
1,028.807 

75 
1,372,542 

Increase/(Decrea5e) 

15,899.820 1,004% 
673,991 66 

20 27 
15,267,356 1,112 

markets; wholesale transactions with utilities and emerging green credits market, making strategic acquisitions and growing our sales 
force. We beheve that our current management and financial resources are adequate to piusue these initiatives and to maintain our 
competitive position in both the short and long term. In January 2007, we hired a Senior Vice President of Sales to extend our national 
sales efforts and deepen our Texas presence. We expect to hire additional resources in an effort to pursue our strategic initiatives 
including: development of our channel partner, govemment agency and utility relationships; pursiut and development of other 
eneigy-related markets; development of our green credit trading platform; and pursuit of overseas opportunities. 

Comparison of December 31, 2006 to December 31,2005 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Unbilled accounts receivable 
Days sales outstanding 
Working capital 
Stockholders' equity (deficit) 17,945,002 (938.883) 18,883,885 N/A 

Cash and cash equivalents increased approximately $15.9 million, or 1,040%, due primarily to net proceeds of $17.5 milUon fi'om 
our initial public offering in late 2006. This mcrease was partially oflfeet by the redemption of the $2.0 miUion MCRC note in 
December 2006 and the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006. Unbilled accounts receivable increased 66%, due to the 
increase in large govemment procurements. These procurements tend to have longer payment cycles due to: 

• added complexity and volume; 

• the inclusion of various federal, state and local agencies that may be covered by the procurement (e.g. housing and prison 
authorities); 

• varied and extensive intemal approval processes; and 

• an additional party (e.g., the local utility) involved in the payment cycle. 

To the extent we are awarded any large government procurements in the future, we expect to experience short term increases in 
our unbilled accounts receivable. We believe that we have adequate working capital to account for these short term fluctuations and 
that these accounts will not have a significant short-term impact on our fiiture Uquidity. We believe these receivables are coUectible 
and the energy consumers and energy suppliers who are parties to these contracts are all large, credit worthy entities. 

Workmg capital (consisting of current assets less current Uabihties) mcreased approximately $15.3 milUon, or 1,112%, primarily 
due to the increase in cash described above. Stockholders' equity increased due to our irutial pubUc offerir^ and, to a lesser extent, tiie 
automatic conversion of Series A Preferred stock into common stock concurrent with the offering, and the exercise of warrants. These 
increases in stockholders' equity were partially offset by the net loss for the year ended December 31,2006. 

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $259,000, due primarily to 
increases in accounts payable and accrued expenses substantially offeet by accounts receivable, the net loss for tiie year and deferred 
taxes for the period. Cash used ui investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $138,000, primarily 
due to the purchases of property and equipment and costs incurred m software development. Osh provided by financing activities for 
year ended December 31,2006 was approximately $15.8 milUon, primarily due to the net proceeds fi-om our initial pubhc offering and 
the issuance of warrants partially offset by the retirement of long-term debt. 

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 was approximately $171,000, primarily resulting 
fi-om net income for the period partially offset by increases m deferred tax assets and worldng capital. Cash used m investing activities 
for the year ended December 31, 2005 was approximately $80,000 primarily related to costs associated with software development 
and, to a lesser extent, purchase of property and equipment. Cash provided by financing activities for year ended December 31, 2005 
was approximately $1.4 million primarily due to the MCRC note described above less the repayment of the $500,000 line of credit. 
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$ 1,584,066 $ 

1,028,807 

75 

49.389 $ 

548.904 

63 

1.534,677 

479,903 

12 

3,107% 

87 
19 

Comparison of December 31,2005 to December 31, 2004 

2005 2004 Increase/(Decrease) 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Unbilled accounts receivable 
Days sales outstanding 
Working capital 1,372.542 (882,162) 2.254,704 256 
Stockholders' deficit (938,883) (2,241,134) (1,302,251) (5^) 

Cash and cash equivalents increased $1,534,677, or 3,107%, primarily due to tiie $2.0 million MCRC note. This increase was 
partially offset by tiie repayment of our $500,000 line of credit in December 2005. Unbilled accounts receivable increased $479,903, 
or 87%, due to the 46% increase in revenue in 2005 as compared to 2004. This increase in revenue was partiaUy due to two lai^e 
govemment procurements including the completion of the District of Columbia procurement in December 2004. These large 
govemment procurements accounted for the uicremental percentage mcrease in tmbilled accounts receivable in excess of the 
percentage revenue increase. Day's sales outstanding increased 12 days, or 19%, primarily due to tiie effect of these large govemment 
procurements. Working capital increased $2,254,704 or 256%, primarily due to tiie proceeds firom tiie MCRC note and, to a lesser 
extent, an increase in unbilled accounts receivable. These increases were partially offset by tiie repayment of tiie Une of credit and, to a 
lesser extent, increases in current liabilities. Stockholders' deficit decreased $1,302,251, or 58%, substantially due to net income for 
the year and, to a lesser extent, the fair value of warrants associated with the MCRC note. 

Cash provided by operating activities for tiie year ended December 31, 2005 was approxunately $171,000. primarily resititing 
fi-om net income for the period partially offset by the increases in deferred tax assets and worldng coital. Cash used in investing 
activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 was approxunately $80,000, primarily related to costs associated -witii software 
development and, to a lesser extent, purchases of property and equipment. Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2005 was approximately $1.4 million, primarily due to the MCRC note described above less the repayment of the 
$500,000 line of credit. 

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31,2004 was approxunately $39,000 primarily resulting fi-om 
net income for the period partially offset by an increase in working capital. Cash used in mvesting activities for the year ^ided 
December 31, 2004 was approximately $96,000 primarily related to costs associated with software development and, to a lesser 
extent, purchases of property and equipment. Cash used ui financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 was 
approximately $114,000 primarily due to a payment related to a note payable with a third party and, to a lesser extent, principal 
payments on other notes payable. These cash uses were partiaUy offset by the receipt of approximately $169,000 from the exercise of 
options and warrants. 

We have historically funded our operations from cash flow from operations and, when reqiured, the issuance of various debt and 
equity instruments. We have approximately $17.5 miUion of cash and cash equivalents and no long term debt as of December 31, 
2006. We expect to continue to fimd our operations from operating cash flow and, when requu^d. the issuance of various debt and 
equity insfruments. That notwithstanding, we expect that our operations and our cash and cash equivalents on hand at December 31, 
2006 will meet our working capital requirements at least to December 31,2007. 

Contractual ObUgations and Other Commercial Commitments 

The table below summarizes our gross contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2006. As 
of December 31,2006, we did not have any purchase obligations other than our capital and operating leases. 

Payments Due by Period 

$ 

2008 and 

2007 2009 

66,277 $ 91,968 

123,040 197,780 

2010 and 2012 and 
2011 Thereafter 

$ 3,990 $ — $ 
— — 

Total 

162,235 

320,820 

Contractual Obligations 
Capital leases 
Operating leases 

Total conU-actual obligations $ 189.317 $ 289,748 $ 3.990 $ ^ $ 483,055 
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Critical Accounting PoUcies 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generaUy accepted in the Ututed States of 
America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and UabUities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabihties at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. Among the significant estunates affecting our consohdated financial statements are those relating to revenue 
recognition, software development costs, accmed commissions, employee and consultant stock option grants, impairment of 
long-lived assets and income taxes. We regularly evaluate our estimates and assumptions based upon historical experience and various 
other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the resitits of which form the basis for making judgments about 
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readUy apparent firom other sources. To the extent actual results differ fixim 
those estimates, our future results of operations may be affected. We believe the following critical accotmting poUcies affect our more 
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 2 of our notes to 
consolidated financial statements for a description of our accotmting policies. 

Revenue Recognition 

For the vast majority of our transactions, we receive a monthly commission on energy sales contracted tiirough our online auction 
platform from each energy supplier based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy suppUer and eneigy 
consumer. Our commissions are not based on the retail price for electricity; rather they are based on the energy usage generated and 
transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer multipUed by our contractual commission rate. Revalue from 
commissions is recognized as eamed on a monthly basis over the life of each contract as energy is consumed, provided there is 
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable, coUection of the related receivable is reasonably 
assured, and customer acceptance criteria, if any, has been successfully demonstrated. 

We record brokerage commissions based on actual usage data obtained fi^m the energy supplier for that accounting period, or to 
the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amoimt of electricity and gas deUvered to the eneigy cotistuners 
for that accounting period. We develop our estunates on a quarterly basis based on the followuig criteria: 

• Payments received prior to the issuance of the financial statements; 

• Usage updates from energy suppliers; 

• Usage data from utilities; 

• Comparable historical usage data; and 

• Historical variances to previous estimates. 

To the extent usage data cannot be attained, we estimate revenue as follows: 

• Historical usage data obtained from the energy consumer in conjunction with the execution of the auction; 

• Geographic/utility usage patterns based on actual data received; 

• Analysis of prior year usage patterns; and 

• Specific review of individual energy supplier/location accounts. 

In addition, we perform sensitivity analyses on this estimated data based on overaU industry trends including prevailing weather 
conditions and usage data. Once the actual usage data is received, we adjust the estimated accoimts receivable ^id revenue to the 
actual total amount in the period during which the payment is received. Based on management's current capacity to obtain actual 
energy usage, the Company currently estimates approximately 4 to 6 weeks of revenue at the end of its accounting period. Differences 
between estimated and actual revenue have been within management's expectations and have not been material to date. 

We generally do not directiy invoice energy suppliers and, therefore, we report all of our receivables as '*unbilled." Unbilled 
accounts receivable represents management's best estimate of energy provided by the energy suppliers to the energy consumers for a 

Source: World Energy Solulio. 10-K, March 21, 2007 
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specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made up of two components. The first component rqjresents 
energy usage for which we have received actual data from the suppUer and/or the utiUty but for which payment has not been received 
at the balance sheet date. The majority of our contractual relationships with energy suppUers require them to siqiply actual usage data 
to us on a monthly basis and remit payment to us based on that usage. The second coit^onent represents energy usage for which we 
have not received actual data, but for which we have estimated usage. Commissions paid in advance by certain eneigy siwUeis are 
recorded as deferred revenue and amortized to commission revenue on a monthly basis based on the energy exchaiged that month. 
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We also receive commissions on wholesale energy sales contracted through our online auction platform fix>m each ^eigy 
supplier based on a fixed fee for service. These revenues are not tied to future energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of 
the online auction. We also earn revenue for market research and analysis. We recognize revenue fi-om these services as eamed, 
generally on a time and materials basis, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the arrangement. Any research diat we provide, in 
order to facilitate the onlme auction, is non-bUlable and is absorbed by us as a period cost and charged to operaticms during the period 
in which it is incurred. 

We pay commissions to our channel partners at contractual rates based on monthly eneigy transactions between energy suppUers 
and energy consumers. The commission is accmed monthly and charged to sales and marketing expense as revenue is recognized. We 
pay commissions to our salespeople at contractual commission rates based upon cash collections from our customers. 

Our estimates in relation to revenue recognition affect revenue and sales and marketing expense as reflected on our statements of 
operations, and unbilled accounts receivable and accmed commissions accounts as reflected on our balance sheets. For any quarterly 
reporting period, we may not have actual usage data for certain energy suppliers and will need to estimate revenue. We record revenue 
utilizing estimated usage based on the energy consumers' historical usage profile. At the end of each reporting period, we adjust 
estimated revenue to reflect actual usage for the period. For the year ended December 31,2006, we estimated usage for approximately 
17% of our revenue resuUing in an approximate 0.1% ($4,000) adjustment. This reduction in revenue, which is based on adjusted 
revenue for the quarter, resulted in an approximate 0.05% reduction in sales and marketing expense related to third party commission 
expense associated with those revenues. Corresponding adjustments were made to unbiUed accounts receivable and accrued 
commissions, respectively. A 1% difference between this estimate and actual usage would have an approximate $60,000 effect on our 
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. 

Software Development 

Certain acquired software and significant enhancements to our software are recorded in accordance with Statement of Position 
98-1, "Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Intemal Use". Accordingly, internally developed 
software costs of $65,652, $54,375 and $85,567 related to implementation, codmg and configuration have been capitaUzed in 2006, 
2005 and 2004, respectively. We amortize intemally developed and purchased software over the estimated useful life of tiie software 
(generally three years). For tiie years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, $73,290, $54,747 and $28,625 of amortization 
expense was recorded as a component of cost of revenue, respectively. 

Our estimates for capitalization of software development costs affect cost of revenue and capitaUzed software as reflected on our 
statements of operations and on our balance sheets. We capitalize certain acquired software and intemal costs related to significant 
enhancements to our software by estimating the amount of time our intemal staff has expended for implementation, coding and 
configuration to develop software. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we capitaUzed approximately $66,000, or 0.3% of our 
total assets. We amortize intemally developed and purchased software over its estimated useful Ufe, which is generally three years. 
Amortization for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately 6% of cost of revenue ($73,000). To tiie extent the carrying 
amount of the capitalized software costs may not be fuUy recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no longer appropriate. 
we may need to record an impairment (non-cash) charge and write-off a portion or all of the capitalized software balance on the 
balance sheet. 

Long-Lived and Intangible Assets 

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal 
of Long-Lived Assets", we periodically review long-lived assets and intar^ble assets for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable or that the usefiil lives of those assets are 
no longer appropriate. Recoverabihty of these assets is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the 
operation to which the assets relate to the canying amount. 

Income Taxes 

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes". Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are determined at the end of each period based on the future tax consequences that can be attributed to net operating loss 
carryforwards, as well as differences between the financial statement canying amounts of the existing assets and liabihties and their 
respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the asset or liabihty from period to period. 
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Valuation allowances are provided if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely tiian not tiiat some or all of the 
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of fiiture taxable 
income. In determining the valuation aUowance, we consider past performance, expected future taxable mcome, and quaUtative factors 
which we consider to be appropriate in estimatuig future taxable income. Our forecast of expected future taxable income is for fiiture 
periods that can be reasonably estimated. Results that differ materially from current expectations may cause management to change its 
judgment on future taxable income. These changes, if any, may require us to adjust our existmg tax valuation allowance higher or 
lower tiian the amount recorded. 
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Our estimates in relation to mcome taxes affect mcome tax benefit and deferred tax assets as reflected on our statements of 
operations and balance sheets, respectively. The deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not 
tiiat the tax benefits wiU not be reaUzed. As of December 31, 2006, we had deferred tax assets of approximately $1,7 miUion agamst 
which we had appUed an approximate $639,000 valuation allowance. To the extent we determme that our deferred tax assets are no 
longer recoverable, it could result in a maximum $1.1 miUion non-cash tax charge. To the extent we determine tiiat it is more likely 
tiian not that we will recover all our deferred tax assets, it could result m a maximum $639,000 non-cash tax credit. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

Effective January!, 2006, we account for stock-based compensation in accordance witii SFAS No. 123(R), "Share-based 
Payments ", which requires aU share-based payments to employees, includuig grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in 
the income statement based on then fair values. SFAS No. 123(R) requfres nonpubUc companies that used the mmimum value metiiod 
in SFAS No. 123 for eitiier recognition or pro forma disclosures to apply SFAS No. 123(R) using tiie prospective-transition metiiod. 
As such, we will continue to apply Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25 "Accounting For Stock Issued to 
Employees ", in future periods to equity awards outstanding at tiie date of SFAS No. l23(R)'s adoption that were measured usmg the 
mmimum value method and prior period pro foima stock information has not been restated. In accordance with SFAS No. !23(R), we 
will recognize the compensation cost of share-based awards on a straight-Une basis over tiie vestit^ period of tiie award. 

Effective witii tiie adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we elected to use tiie Black-Scholes option pricing model to determme tiie 
weighted average fair value of options granted. As otn- stock has a limited trading history, we detemuned the volatiUty for options 
granted in 2006 based on an analysis of our historical data and reported data for a peer group of companies tiiat issued options with 
substantially similar terms. The expected volatility for options granted for tiie year ended December 31, 2006 was 47% to 48%. The 
expected life of options has been determmed utilizing tiie "sunplified" metiiod as prescribed by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission's Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, "Share-Based Payment". The expected life of options granted during tiie year 
ended December 31, 2006 was 4.75 years. The risk-free interest rate is based on a ti^asury mstrument whose term is consistent with 
the expected life of the stock options. We have not paid and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on otu: common stock; therefore, 
the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero, hi addition, SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to utiUze an estnnated forfeiture 
rate when calculating the expense for the period, whereas, SFAS No, 123 permitted companies to record forfeitures based on actual 
forfeihires, which was tiie company's historical policy under SFAS No. 123. As a resuU, we applied an estimated forfeiture rate of 
13% in tiie first nine montiis of 2006 and 12% in the last tiiree montiis of 2006 in determining the expense recorded m tiie 
accompanying consolidated statement of operations. 

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method prescribed m 
APB 25 and related interpretations. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation expense is measured on tiie date of grant as the 
difference between the deemed fair value of the company's common stock and tiie option exercise price multiplied by the number of 
options granted. We provided the disclosures as reqmred by SFAS No. 148, "Accountingfor Stock-Based Compensation and 
Disclosure, an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123". 

A summary of options outstanding and options exercisable as of December 31, 2006 is as follows: 

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable 

Range of 

$0,025 

$0,240 

$0,380 

$0,950 

Weighted 
Average Weighted Weighted 

Remaining Average Aggregate Number Average Aggregate 
Contractual Exercise Intrinsic ofSliares Exercise Intrinsic 

Options Life Price Value Exercisable Price Value 

3.85 
2,851,029 years $ 0.025 $ 2,742,162 2,665,171 $ 0.025 $ 2,563,402 

5.22 
430,000 years 0.240 321,130 182,500 0.240 136,294 

6.05 
340,000 years 0.380 206,317 — — — 

6.58 
742,000 years 0.950 27,317 — — — 
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6.96 
$0,950 120,000 Y S ^ 1.130 ^ :;:: ^^ :::: 

4.68 
4,483,029 ^ea^ $ 0.260 $ 3,296,926 2,847,671 $ 0.039 $ 2,699,696 

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total mtrinsic value of our outstanding opticms and exercisable 
options as of December 31, 2006. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised diuing the year ended December 31, 2006 was 
approximately $1,980,144. 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, "Accountingfor Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments" which amwids 
SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities", dX\&%VKS\io. 140, "Accountingfor Transfers and 
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities". SFAS No. 155 resolves issues addressed in SFAS No. 133 
Implementation Issue No. Dl, Application of Statement 133 to Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets, among other 
matters, permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise 
would require bifurcation. SFAS No. 155 is effective for all financial mstruments acquired or issued after tiie begmning of an entity's 
fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006, except early adoption is allowed m certain circumstances. We expect to adopt 
SFAS No. 155 on January 1, 2007. 

In July 2006, the Financial Accountmg Standards Board ("FASB") issued Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty 
in Income Taxes-an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109̂ % or FIN 48, which clarifies the accotmting for uncertainty in tax 
positions. This interpretation requires that we recognize in our financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position is 
more likely than not to be sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective as of 
January 1, 2007. The Company is currentiy in the process of evaluatmg the effects of the adoption of FIN 48. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Fmancial Accountii^ Standard No. 157, Fan Value Measurements ("SFAS 
157"). SFAS 157 provides guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. The standard also responds to mvestors' 
requests for more information about (1) the extent to which compmues measiue assets and liabilities at feir value, (2) tiie information 
used to measure fair value, and (3) the effect that feu-value measurements have on earnings. SFAS 157 will apply whenever another 
standard requires (or permits) assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value. The standard does not expand the use of fair value to 
any new circumstances. FAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years begmning after November 15, 2007, and 
interim periods witiiin those fiscal years and will be in effect for the Company January 1,2008. The Company is currently evahiating 
the potential impact that the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on its financial statements. 

In September 2006, tiie SEC staff issued Staff Accountuig BuUetin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements 
when Quantitying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108 was issued in order to elinunate tiie 
diversity in practice surrounding how pubUc companies quantify financial statement misstatements. SAB 108 requires that registrants 
quantify errors using both a balance sheet and income statement approach and evaluate whether either approach results in a misstated 
amoimt that, when all relevant quantitative and quaUtative factors are considered, is material. SAB 108 must be unplemented by the 
end of the Company's fiscal 2007. The Company is cunentiy assessing tiie potential effect of SAB 108 on its financial statements. 

SeasonaUty 

Our revenue is subject to seasonality and fluctuations during the year primarily as a result of weather conditions and their impact 
on the demand for energy. Our revenue is generated from the commissions we receive under any given energy contract, which is tied 
to the energy consumer's consumption of energy. Therefore, revenue fix)m natural gas consumption tends to be strongest during the 
winter months due to the increase in heating usage, and revenue from electricity consumption tends to be strongest during the summer 
months due to the increase in air conditioning usage. Our revenue is also subject to fluctuations within any given season, depending on 
the severity of weather conditions — during a particularly cold -wmter or an unseasonably warm summer, energy consumption wiU 
rise. 

CycUcality 

We beUeve that our business will be cyclical m nature and is tied, in part, to market energy prices which impact transaction volume. 
When energy prices increase in competitive markets above the price levels of the regulated utilities, energy consumers are less likely 
to lock-in to higher fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so they are less likely to use our auction platform. Conversely, 
when energy prices decrease in competitive markets below the price levels of the regulated utilities, energy consumers are more likely 
to lock-in to lower fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so they are more likely to use our auction platform. Although 
our short term revenue is impacted by usage trends, these cyclical effects will also have longer term implications on our business 
because we derive future revenue from current auctions. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and QuaUtative Disclosures about Market Risk 
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Market Risk 

Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes hi market rates and prices, such as foreign currency rates, interest rates, 
and other relevant market rates or price changes. In the ordinary course of business, the CJompany is exposed to market risk resulting 
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and the Company regularly evaluates its exposure to such changes. The Company's 
overall risk management strategy seeks to balance the magnitude of the expostue and the costs and availability of appropriate financial 
instruments. 
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Foreign Currency Fluctuation 

Our commission revenue is primarily denominated in U.S. dollars. Therefore, we are not dhectly affected by foreign exchange 
fluctuations on our current orders. However, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates do have an effect on energy consumers' access to 
U.S. dollars and on pricing competition. We have entered into non-U.S. dollar contracts but they have not had a material unpact on 
our operations. We do not believe that foreign exchange fluctuations will materially affect our results of operations. 

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices 

Historically, our business has not been materially impacted by inflation. We provide our service at the inception of the service 
contract between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Our fee is set as a fixed dollar amount per unit of measure and fluctuates 
with changes in energy demand over the contract period. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Sunniementflrv Data 

The consolidated financial statements listed in Item 15(a) are mcorporated herein by reference and are filed as a part of this report 
and follow the signature pages to this Annual Report on Form 10-K on page 38. 

Item 9. Chanyes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

Not applicable. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

As required by Rule 13a-15 imder the Exchange Act, the Company carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the 
participation of the Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness 
of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31,2006. In designing and evaluating the Company's disclosure 
controls and procedures, the Company and its management recognize that there are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any 
system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overridii^ of the 
controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable asstuance of 
achieving their desired control objectives. Additionally, in evaluating and implementing possible controls and procedm-es, the 
Company's management was reqiured to apply its reasonable judgment. Based î >on the required evaluation, the Chief Executive 
Officer and tiie Chief Financial Officer concluded tiiat, as of December 31, 2006, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures 
were effective at the reasonable assurance level to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in tiie reports it 
files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms. 

In a letter dated August 2, 2006, our external auditors, UHY LLP, advised us tiiat they were concemed that as of and for tiie year 
ended December 31, 2005, we were operating without an experienced principal accounting/financial officer with sufficient knowledge 
of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, SEC financial reporting issues, intemal controls, and other complex 
accounting and reporting issues, and that the lack of such an officer constituted a "material weakness" in our intemal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005. A '*material weakness" is a control deficiency or a combination of control deficiencies 
that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement in the financial statements or related disclosures will not be 
prevented or detected. In May 2006, we hired a full-time chief financial officer with the appropriate experience and background to 
manage the diverse and complex financial issues that may arise in our business. In addition, we have recentiy reorganized our 
accounting staff and have hired an additional professional to augment our staff. We believe that these staffing additions have mitigated 
these risks and tiiat the material weakness identified as of December 31,2005 no longer exists. As a public company we are subject to 
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. 

Intemal Control Over Financial Reporting 

This annual report does not include a report of management's assessment regarding intemal control over financial r^orting or an 
attestation report of the Company's registered public accounting firm due to a transition period estabhshed by the rules of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission for newly pubUc companies. 
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Changes in Intemal Control Over Financial Reporting 

The Company added professional staff at the end of the thud fiscal quarter of 2006 that materially affected and improved tiie 
intemal control over financial reporting during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2006. 

Item 9B. Other Information 

Not applicable. 
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PART i n 

Item 10. Directors. Executive Officers and rorpnratc Gnvemancc 

The information required to be disclosed by this item 10 is hereby uicorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy 
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days of the close of its fiscal year. 

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics apphcable to all of our directors and employees. The code of busuiess 
conduct and ethics is available on the corporate governance section of "Investor Relations" of our website www.worldenergy.com 

Any waiter of the code of business conduct and ethics for directors or executive officers, or any amendment to the code that 
applies to directors or executive officers, may only be made by the board of directors. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement 
under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding ^i amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this code of ethics by posting such 
information on its website, at the address and location specified above. To date, no such waivers have been requested or granted. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The information required to be disclosed by this item 11 is hereby uicorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy 
statement to be filed by the Company withm 120 days after the close of its fiscal year. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Manayement and Related Stockholder Matters 

The information required to be disclosed by this item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy 
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related TVansactinns anrt Director Independence 

The information required to be disclosed by this item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy 
statement to be filed by the Company withui 120 days after the close of its fiscal year. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The information required to be disclosed by this item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy 
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year. 
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PART IV 
Item IS. Exhihits and Financial Statement Schedules 

The following Exhibits are either filed herewith or are mcoiporated by reference as may be indicated. 

(a)(1) Financial Statements 
For a Ust of the financial mformation included herein, see "Index to Consolidated Financial Statements" on page 38 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K. 

(ay2^ Financial Statement Schedules 
AU schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in the financial statements or notes 
thereto. 

ra¥3^ Exhibits 
The list of exhibits filed as part of tiiis Annual Report on Form lO-K is set forth on the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the 
exhibits hereto and is incorporated herein by reference. 
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SIGNATURES 

In accordance witii Section 13 or 15(d) of tiie Exchange Act, tiie registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 

undersigned, thereimto duly authorized. 

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC. 

Date: March 21,2007 By: /s/ Richard Domaleski 

Richard Domaleski 
Chief Executive Officer and President 

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the foUowing persons on behdf of the registrant and m the 

capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature 

/s/ Richard Domaleski 

Richard Domaleski 

Title 

Chief Executive Officer and President March 21,2007 

/s/ James Parslow 

James Parslow 

Is! Edward Libbey 

Edward Libbey 

/s/ Nicholas Zaldastani 

Nicholas Zaldastani 

/s/ Patrick Bishcoff 

Patrick Bishcoff 

/s/John Wellard 

John Wellard 

Chief Financial Officer 

Chairman of the Board and Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

March 21,2007 

March 21,2007 

March 21,2007 

March 21,2007 

March 21,2007 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED WITH REPORTS FILED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(d) OF THE 

EXCHANGE ACT BY REGISTRANTS WHICH HAVE NOT REGISTERED SECURITIES PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF 

THE EXCHANGE ACT 

No annual report to security holders covering the Company's prior fiscal year or proxy materials have been fiimished to security 

holders which have not been furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company wiU furnish to the Securities and 

Exchange Commission any annual report to security holders covering the Company's prior fiscal year and any proxy materials to be 

fiimished to security holders subsequent to the filing of this aimual report. 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21,2007 
£l& 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
World Energy Solutions, Inc. 
Worcester, Massachusetts 

We have audited tiie accompanying consolidated balance sheets of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "Company") as of 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and tiie related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders* equity (deficit), and cash flows for 
each of tiie three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements are tiie responsibility of the Company's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on tiiese financial statements based on otu* audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with tiie standards of the Public Company Accountuig Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. The Company is not reqmred to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its intemal controls 
over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of intemal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing otu 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the cucumstances, but not for the purpose of expressmg an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's intemal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opmion. An audit also mcludes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessmg the accountii^ principles used and 
significant estunates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opmion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consohdated 
financial position of Worid Energy Solutions, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and die consohdated results of tiieu* operations 
and their cash flows for each of tiie three years m the period ended December 31, 2006 m conformity with accotmting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statBmenls, on January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standard No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment 

/s/ UHY LLP 

Boston, Massachusetts 
March 21,2007 

39 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 

/<^9 



WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Unbilled accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

Total current assets 
Property and equipment, net 
Capitalized software, net 
Deferred tax assets 

Total assets 

December 31, 

2006 

17,483,886 $ 
1,702,798 

211,749 

19,398,433 
225,932 
105,296 

1.061,720 

2005 

1,584,066 
1,028,807 

104,951 

2,717,824 
203,084 
112,934 
754,000 

$ 20,79U8I $ 3,787,842 

LIABILITIES, SERIES A REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(DEFICIT) 
Current liabihties: 
Accounts payable 
Accmed commissions 
Accmed compensation 
Accmed expenses 
Due to customer 
Deferred revenue 
Guaranteed return on voting common stock 
Capital lease obhgations 

Total current liabilities 

$ 848,518 $ 

1,021,433 

304,330 

232,587 

277,546 

17,862 
— 

56,259 

157,610 

864,893 

85.000 

48,009 

65,324 

64,416 

10,523 

49,507 

2,758,535 1,345,282 

Long-term debt 
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 

Total Uabihties 
Commitments (Note 10) 
Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 15,000,000 shares 

authorized at December 31, 2005; no shares issued and outstanding at December 31,2006 
and 10,433,504 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005; stated at redemption 
value; (Uquidation preference of $1,523,295 at December 31,2005) 

Stockholders' equity (deficit): 
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares autiiorized at December 31,2006; no 

shares issued or outstanding 
Common stock, non-voting, $0.0001 par value; no shares authorized at December 31, 2006 

and 15,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2005; no shares issued and outstanding 
at December 31, 2006 and 6,792,135 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,2005 

Common stock, voting, $0.0001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 76,511,741 shares 
issued and outstanding at December 31,2006 and 33,724,819 shares issued and 
33,049,473 shares outstanding at December 31,2005 

Treasury stock; 675,346 shares of voting common stock at cost, at December 31,2005 
Additional paid-in capital 
Accumulated deficit 

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 

87,844 
2,846,379 

1,748,000 
131.745 

3,225,027 

1.501.698 

679 

7,651 
— 

22,148,718 

(4,211,367) 

17,945.002 

3,372 

(151,953) 

2,919,293 

(3,710,274) 

(938,883) 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21,2007 ISO 



Total liabilities, Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders' eqtuty 
(deficit) $ 20,791.381 $ 3.787.842 

The accompanymg notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 

Revenue: 
Brokerage commissions 
Consulting 

Total revenue 
Cost of revenue 

Gross profit 
Operating expenses: 
Sales and marketing 
General and administrative 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 
Other income (expense): 
Gain from debt extinguishment 
Interest income 
Interest expense 

Total other income (expense) 
Income (loss) before income taxes 
Income tax benefit 

Net income (loss) 
Accretion of preferred stock issuance costs 

Net income (loss) available to common stockholdera 

Years Ended December 31, 

2006 

$ 5,762,098 $ 

1,000 

5,763,098 

1.166,426 

4,596.672 

3,227,263 

1,862,450 

5,089,713 

(493,041) 

139,617 

(451,897) 

(312,280) 

(805.321) 

304,228 

(501,093) 

(6,299) 

$ (507,392) $ 

2005 

4,673,987 $ 
— 

4,673,987 

648.410 

4.025.577 

2,649,786 

995,703 

3,645,489 

380.088 

8.004 

(94,842) 

(86,838) 

293.250 

754,000 

1,047,250 

(7,199) 

1,040,051 $ 

2004 

3,186,660 

5.000 

3,191.660 

563.972 

2,627.688 

1,814.799 

710,462 

2.525,261 

102,427 

1,062.775 

— 
(102,251) 

960.524 

1,062,951 
— 

1,062,951 

(7,199) 

1,055,752 

Earnings (loss) per share: 

Net income (loss) per voting common share — basic 

Net income (loss) per non-voting common share — basic 

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders — diluted 

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic: 
Voting common stock 
Non-voting common stock 

(0.01) £ 

— $ 

(0.01) 

45,576,477 

45,576,477 

0.02 $ 

0.02 $ 

0.02 $ 

33,049,472 
6,778,327 

39.827,799 

0.02 

0.02 

0.02 

32,058,759 
2,880,592 

34,939.351 

Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted 45.576.477 54,506,566 52,096,206 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS. INC. 

ConsoUdated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) 
Years Ended December 31,2006,2005, and 2004 

Non-Voting 
Common Stock 

Vot i i^ 
Common Stock TVeasury Stodc 

Number of S0.0001 Number of SO.OOOl Number of Stated a t 
Pa r P a r 

Shares Value Shares Value Shares Cost 

dditioiuil 

Paid-in Accumulated 

TDta! 
Stockholders 

Equity 

Capital Deficit flPefidt) 

2,000,000 $ 200 31,889,204 $ 3,189 675,346 $ (151,953)$ 

4,552,135 455 _ _ _ _ 

6,552,135 655 33,724,819 3372 675,346 (151,953) 

240,000 24 _ _ _ _ 

Balance, 
December 31, 
2003 

Exercise of stock 
options 

Accretion of stock 
issuance costs 

Common stock 
warrants 
exercised 

Issuance of fiilly 
vested stock 
options to 
non-employees 

Net income 
Balance, 

December 31, 
2004 

Exercise of stock 
options 

Accretion of stock 
issuance costs 

Issuance of 
warrants in 
coimection with 
long-term debt 

Net income 
Balance, 

December 31, 
2005 

Exercise of stock 
options 

Common stock 
warrants 
exercised 

Issuance of 
common stock in 
connection with 
initial public 
offering, net of 
$3.6 million of 
offering costs 

Issuance of 
warrants in 
connection with 
initial public 
offering 

Conversion of 
Non-Voting 
Common Stock 
to Voting 
Common Stock 
in connection 
with initial 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 

1,835,615 183 

6,792,135 679 33,724,819 3,372 675,346 (151,953) 

2,190,671 219 _ _ _ _ 

1,070,958 107 

23,000,000 2,300 

898 

2,484,013 $ (5,820.475)$ (3,485,026) 

113348 — 113,803 

(7,199) — (7,199) 

54,886 

19,268 
1,062,951 

256.200 
1,047,250 

253,098 

— 17,264,968 

274,129 

55,069 

19,268 
1,062.951 

2,664,316 (4,757,524) (2,241,134) 

5,976 — 6,000 

(7,199) — (7,199) 

256.200 
1,047.250 

2,919,293 (3,710,274) (938.883) 

56,698 — 56,917 

253,205 

17,267,268 

274.129 

IS3 



public offering 
Conversion of 

Series A 
Redeemable 
Convertible 
Preferred Stock 
in connection 
with initial 
public offering 

Accretion of stock 
issuance costs 

Stock-based 
compensation 

Purchase of 
treasury stock 

Retirement of 
treasury stock 

Net loss 

Balance, 
December 31, 
2006 

10,433,504 1,044 

— — 25.000 (12,500) 

(700,346) (70) (700,346) 164,453 

1,506,953 

(6.299) 

44.261 

(164,383) 
(501,093) 

1,507,997 

(6,299) 

44,261 

(12,500) 

(501,093) 

76.511,741 $ 7.651 — $ 22,148,718 $ (4,211367)$ 17.945,002 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consohdated financial statements. 
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended December 31, 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income (loss) 

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by 
operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 
Deferred taxes 
Share-based compensation 
Accretion of warrants 
Gain related to the extinguishment of debt 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
Unbilled accoimts receivable 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
Accounts payable 
Accrued commissions 
Accrued compensation 
Accmed expenses 
Due to customer 
Deferred revenue 

Net cash provided by operating activities 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Costs incurred in software development 
Purchases of property and equipment 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 

Net cash used in investing activities 
Cash flows from financing activities: 

Proceeds from exercise of options 
Proceeds from exercise of warrants 
Proceeds from initial pubhc offering of common stock, net of offering 

costs of S3.6 million 
Retirement of long-term debt 
Principal payments on line of credit 
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt 
Payment made on third party note 
Principal payments on stockholder notes payable 
Principal payments on capital lease obligations 
Principal payments on guaranteed retum 
Purchase of treasury stock 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, begiiming of year 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: 
Cash paid for interest 

Property and equipment acquired through capital lease obligations 

Conversion of series A preferred stock to common stock 

2006 

$ (501.093) $ 

135,446 

(307,720) 

44,261 

252,000 
— 

(673,991) 

(106,798) 

690,908 

156,540 

193,330 

210,578 

212,222 

(46,554) 

259,129 

(65,652) 

(72,061) 
— 

(137.713) 

56,917 

253,205 

17.541,397 

(2.000,000) 

— 
— 
— 
— 

(50,092) 

(10,523) 

(12.500) 

15,778,404 

15,899.820 

1.584,066 

$ 17.483,886 $ 

$ 129,401 S 

$ 12,943 $ 

$ 1.507.997 S 

2005 

1,047,250 $ 

105,831 

(754,000) 

— 
4,200 

— 

(479,903) 

(47,451) 

(42,041) 

496.035 

68,507 

38,009 

65,324 

(330,540) 

171,221 

(54,375) 

(25,374) 

— 

(79,749) 

6,000 

— 

— 

— 
(500,000) 

2,000,000 

— 
— 

(48,733) 

(14,062) 

— 
1,443,205 

1,534,677 

49,389 

1.584,066 $ 

94,842 $ 

56,205 $ 

— $ 

2004 

1,062.951 

61,113 

— 
19,268 

— 
(1,062,775) 

17,892 

10,427 

(59.073) 

(322,706) 

(87.007) 

3.536 

_ 
394.956 

38.582 

(85.567) 

(14.259) 

3.500 

(96,326) 

113,803 

55,069 

— 

— 
— 
— 

(150,000) 

(115,000) 

(4.836) 

(12,699) 

— 
(113.663) 

(171,407) 

220,796 

49,389 

157.827 

171.566 

— 

Source; World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 /SS-



Conversion of non-voting common stock to common stock $ 898 $ — $_ 

Issuance of warrants in coimection with initial public offering of common 
stock $ 274.129 $ — £ 

Issuance ofwarrants in connection with debt offering $ ^ $ 256.2QQ $_ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

NOTE 1 — NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

World Energy Solutions, hic. ("World Energy" or the "Company") was incorporated in 1999 as a Delaware corporation and is 
focused on providing energy procurement and value-added energy services to commercial, industrial, and govemment ctistomers. The 
Company commenced operations through an entity named Oceanside Energy, Inc., which was incorporated under the laws of the State 
of Delaware on Septembers, 1996. The Company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware under the name "World 
Energy Exchange, Inc." on June 22, 1999, and on October 31, 1999, Oceanside became a wholly-owned subsidiary of World Eneigy 
Solutions, Inc. through a share exchange whereby Oceanside stockholders were given shares of common stock of World Energy in 
exchange for their Oceanside shares. Pursuant to a certificate of amendment filed on November 30, 1999, World Energy Exchange, 
Inc. changed its name to "World Energy Exchange.com, Inc." and then back to "World Energy Exchange, Inc." on November 2,2000. 
World Energy Exchange, Inc. subsequently changed its name to World Energy Solutions, Inc. pursuant to a certificate of amendment 
filed on February 4, 2002. Oceanside was subsequently dissolved on May 18, 2006. On December 15, 2006 the Company established 
World Energy Securities Corp., a Massachusetts Securities Corporation, as a wholly-owned subsidiary. 

World Energy is an energy brokerage company that has developed an online auction platform, the World Energy Exchange, 
through which commercial, industrial and govemment energy consumers in the United States are able to pmxihase electricity and other 
energy resources from competing energy suppliers. Although the Company's primary source of revenue is fi>3m brokering electricity, 
the Company has adapted its World Energy Exchange auction platform to accommodate the brokering of natural gas, green power 
(i.e., electricity generated by renewable resources) and energy-related products. In addition, the Company has recently adapted the 
World Energy Exchange auction platform to accommodate transactions in fuel oils including: diesel, heating oil, propane and jet fuel 
and are in the process of developing the World Green Exchange auction platform to accommodate green credit transactions. 

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed its initial public offering (listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange) of 27,441,064 
shares of common stock at a price of CDN$ 1.05 (approximately US$0.93) per share. The offering was comprised of 20,000.000 shares 
sold by World Energy for gross proceeds to the Company of CDN$21,000,000 and 7,441,064 shares sold by certain selling 
stockholders for gross proceeds to such stockholders of approximately CDN$7,800,000. In connection with this offering, the 
Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to increase the authorized shares of common stock from 100,000,000 to 
150,000,000 shares. The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Company shall have the authority to issue after this 
amendment is 155,000,000, consisting of 150,000,000 shares of common stock and 5.000,000 shares of preferred stock. 

On December 5,2006, the Company issued an additional of 3,000,000 shares of common stock in accordance with sn 
over-allotment option granted to the underwriters of the initial pubhc offering at a price of CDN$1.05 (approximately US $0.92) per 
share for gross proceeds to the Company of CDN$3,150,000. Net proceeds to the Company from the initial public offering and 
over-allotment option were approximately $17.5 million, after deducting the underwriting discount of $1.3 million and other dkect 
costs of $2.3 million. In addition, the Company granted the imderwriters of the initial pubHc offering warrants to purchase \xp to 
1,150,000 shares of common stock at the public offerir^ price. The warrants are exercisable from the 1-year anniversary of the 
warrants issuance (November 16,2007 and December 5, 2007 related to the over allotment) and expire 18 months fix)m the date of the 
one year anniversary (May 15, 2009 and June 4, 2009, respectively). These warrants allow for net share settiement and certain of the 
holders of these warrants have piggy-back registration rights. The Company valued the warrants at $274,129 and recorded it as a 
component of additional paid-in capital. 

In connection with the initial pubhc offering, all 10,433,504 shares of Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and 
8,982,806 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock were converted into 19,416,310 shares of Common Stock. 

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Principles of Consolidation 

The Company's consolidated financial statements include its wholly-owned subsidiary. World Energy Securities Corp. All 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eUminated in consolidation. 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21.2007 /37 
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Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America 
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("generally accepted accounting principles") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabihties and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses diuing the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

The Company's most judgmental estimates relate to revenue recognition and the estimate of actual eneigy usage between the 
energy supplier and end user ("energy consumer") of such energy; software development costs; the fair value of the Compaiy's equity 
securities prior to our initial pubhc offering when there was no ready market for the purchase and sale of those shares; impairment of 
long-lived assets; and estimates of future taxable income as it relates to the realization of the Company's net deferred tax assets. The 
effect of those estimates could have a material impact on the Company's estimation of commission revenue, accounts receivable, 
accrued commission expense, capitalized software, stock-based compensation, earnings per share and deferred tax assets. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company generates revenue through commissions on sales of energy usage transacted on the Company's online auction 
platform. The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with the United States Secinities and Exchai^e Commission's ("SEC") 
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition ("SAB 104"). SAB 104 requires that four basic criteria must be met before 
revenue can be recognized: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) the service has been rendered; (3) the fee is fixed or 
determinable; and (4) collectibihty is reasonably assured. 

The Company's commissions are eamed based on executed contractual arrangements between the energy supplier and energy 
consumer of electricity or natural gas. These supply arrangements are typically 12 to 36 month arrangements and provide the 
Company with a monthly commission from each energy supplier based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the 
energy supplier and energy consumer multiplied by the Company's contractual commission rate. Revenue from commissions is 
recognized as eamed on a monthly basis using estimates of electricity and natural gas delivered for the month. To determine whether 
collectibility is reasonably assured, the Company assesses a variety of different factors mcludmg past transaction history and 
creditworthiness of the customer. The Company's commission arrangements generally do not provide for refunds or cancellation 
privileges. The Company's determination of whether the commission fee is fixed or determinable is based on the terms and conditions 
of the supply arrangement which provide for a fixed commission rate, and the ability of the Company to estimate actual energy usage 
when such actual information is not yet available from suppUers prior to the release of its financial statements. 

The Company records brokerage commissions based upon the estimated amount of electricity and gas delivered to energy 
consumers through the end of the accounting period. The Company develops its estimates on a quarterly basis based on the following: 

• Payments received prior to the issuance of the financial statements; 

• Usage updates from energy suppliers; 

• Usage data provided from utilities; 

• Comparable historical usage data; and 

• Historical variances to previous estimates. 

To the extent actual usage data carmot be attained, the Company estimates revenue as follows: 

• Historical usage data obtained from the energy consumer in conjunction with the execution of the auction; 

• Geographic/utility usage pattems based on actual data received; 

• Analysis of prior year usage pattems; and 

• Specific review of individual energy supplier/location accounts. 

In addition, die Company performs sensitivity analyses on this estnnated data based on overall industry trends including 
prevailing weather conditions and usage data. Once the actual usage data is received, the Company adjusts the estimated accounts 
receivable and revenue to the actual total amount in the period during which the usage data is received. Based on management's 
current capacity to obtain actual energy usage, the Company currently estimates approximately 4 to 6 weeks of revenue at the end of 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K. March 21,2007 
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its accounting period. Differences between estimated and actual revenues have been within management's expectations and have not 
been material to date. 
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We generally do not directiy invoice energy suppliers and, therefore, we r^ort all of our receivables as '"unbilled." Unbilled 
accounts receivable represents management's best estimate of energy provided by the energy suppliers to the energy consumers for a 
specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made vtp of two components. The first component represents 
energy usage for which we have received actual data from the supplier and/or the utility but for which payment has ncrt been received 
at the balance sheet date. The majority of our contractual relationships with energy suppliers require them to supply actual tisage data 
to us on a monthly basis and remit payment to us based on that usage. The second component represents energy usage for which we 
have not received actual data, but for which we have estimated usage. Commissions paid in advance by certain eneigy suppliers are 
recorded as deferred revenue and amortized to commission revenue on a monthly basis based on the energy exchanged for that month. 

We also receive commissions on wholesale energy sales contracted through the Company's online auction platform fix>m each 
energy supplier based on a fixed fee for service. Certain of these revenues are not tied to ftiture energy usage and are recognized upon 
the completion of tiie online auction, which is the deUvery of our service, provided that all the other elements for revenue recognition 
are met. The Company has also earned revenue for market research and analysis. The Company recognizes revenue from these 
services as eamed, generally on a time and materials basis, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the arrangement. Any research that 
the Company provides in order to facilitate the online auction is non-billable and is absorbed by the Company as a period cost and 
charged to operations during the period in which it is incurred. 

The Company pays coimnissions to its channel partners at contractual commission rates based on monthly energy transactions 
between energy suppliers and energy consumers. The commission is accrued monthly and charged to sales and marketing expense as 
revenue is recognized. The Company pays commissions to its salespeople at contractual commission rates based upon cash collections 
from its customers. 

Software Development 

Certain acquired software and significant enhancements to the Company's software are recorded in accordance with Statement of 
Position ("SOP") 98-1, "Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Intemal Use". Accordingly, 
intemally developed software costs of $65,652, $54,375. and $85,567 related to unplementation, coding and configuration have been 
capitalized in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The Company amortizes intemally developed and purchased software over the 
estimated useful life of the software (generally three years). Accordingly, during 2006. 2005. and 2004, $73,290, $54,747, and 
$28,625 respectively, were amortized to cost of revenues resulting in accumulated amortization of $161,786, $88,496, and $33,749 at 
December 31. 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. At December 31, 2006, estimated amortization expense for capitalized mtemally 
developed software is as follows: 

2007 $ 60,198 
2008 34,538 
2009 10.560 

$ 105,296 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company considers all highly Uquid debt instruments pmxhased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash 
equivalents. 

Long-Lived and Intangible Assets 

Long-lived assets primarily include property and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives (capitalized software). In 
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of 
Long-Lived Assets", the Company periodically reviews long-lived assets and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or 
changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable or tiiat the usefiil Uves 
of those assets are no longer appropriate. Each impairment test is based on a comparison of the undiscounted cash flows to the 
carrying value of the asset. 

Property and Equipment 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 HI 



Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
related assets or the life of the related lease, whichever is shorter, which range fix>m 3 to 7 years. 

Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for its income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, '̂'Accounting for Income Taxes" 
("SFAS No. 109"). Deferred tax assets and liabihties are determined at tiie end of each period based on the fiiture tax consequences 
that can be attributed to net operating loss carryforwards, as well as the differences between the financial statement ctinyiag amounts 
of existing assets and liabilities and 
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their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the assets and liabilities and their respective 
tax basis. The deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely 
than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependant i^on the 
generation of future taxable income. In determining the valuation allowance, the Company considers past performance, expected 
future taxable income, and qualitative factors which we consider to be appropriate to be considered in estunating fiiture taxable 
income. The Company's forecast of expected future taxable mcome is for future periods that can be reasonably estimated. Results that 
differ materially from current expectations may cause management to change its judgment on fiiture taxable income. These changes, if 
any, may require the Company to adjust its existing tax valuation allowance higher or lower than the amount recorded. 

Advertising Expense 

Advertising expense primarily includes promotional expenditures and is expensed as incurred, as such efforts have not met the 
direct-response criteria required for capitalization. Amounts mcurred for advertising expense were not material for the years ended 
December 31. 2006, 2005, and 2004. 

Comprehensive Income 

SFAS No. 130, '"Reporting Comprehensive Income", establishes standards for reporting ^ d displaying comprehensive income 
(loss) and its components in financial statements. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change m stockholders' equity of a 
business enterprise during a period fiT)m transactions and other events and cfrcumstances from non-owner sources. The comprehensive 
income (loss) for all periods presented does not differ from the reported net income (loss). 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

SFAS No. 107, "Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments" ("SFAS 107"), reqiures management to disclose the 
estimated fair value of certain assets and liabihties defined by SFAS 107 as financial instruments. Financial instruments are generally 
defined as cash, evidence of ownership interest in an entity, or a contractual obligation that both conveys to one entity a right to 
receive cash or other financial instruments from another entity and imposes on the other entity the obligation to dehver cash or other 
financial instruments to the fu t̂ entity. At December 31, 2006, management beheves that the carrying value of cash and cash 
equivalents, receivables and payables approximated fair value because of the short maturity of these financial instruments. At 
December 31, 2005, management believes diat the fair value of the Company's debt approximated its carrymg value based on interest 
rates available to the Company at the time. 

Segment Reporting 

SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information", established standards for reporting 
information about operating segments in financial statements. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about 
which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief decision maker in deciding how to allocate 
resources and in assessing performance. The Company's chief decision maker is the chief executive officer. The Company's chief 
decision maker reviews the results of operations based on one industry segment: the brokering of energy. 

Concentration of Credit Risk and Off-Balance Sheet Risk 

Financial instmments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and accounts 
receivable. The Company has no significant off-balance sheet risk such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts, or other 
foreign hedging arrangements. The Company places its cash with primarily one institution, which management beheves is of high 
credit quality. 

The Company provides credit to energy suppliers in the normal course of business. Collateral is not required for accounts 
receivable, but ongoing credit evaluations of eneigy suppliers are performed. Management provides for an allowance for doubtful 
accounts on a specifically identified basis, as well as through historical experience applied to an aging of accounts, if necessary. 
Accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. 

47 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21,2007 /93 



The Company receives commission pajmients fix)m energy suppliers based on the energy usage transacted between energy 
consumers and energy suppliers. The following represents revenue and accounts receivable from energy si^pUers exceedii^ 10% of 
the total in each category: 

December 31,2006 December 31,2005 

Customer 

A 
B 
C 
D 
E 

Revenue 

18% 
13% 
10% 
10% 
6% 

UnbUled 
Accounts 

Receivable 

21% 
12% 
4% 
4% 
1% 

Revenue 

18% 
10% 
18% 
— 

11% 

Unbilled 
Accounts 

Receivable 

10% 
16% 
32% 
— 

11% 

December 31,2004 

Revenue 
20% 

12% 

UnbiUed 
Accounts 

Receivable 
19% 

12% 

11% 

During 2006, supplier A was acqiured by another supplier who is not reflected above as its revenues represented less than 10% of 
total revenue. If these suppliers were combined as of January 1, 2006, revenue attributable to these customers would have been 27% 
for tiie year ended December 31,2006 and unbilled accounts receivable would have represented 46% of total unbilled accounts 
receivable as of December 31,2006. 

The Company considers energy suppliers as its customers. However, the Company also has a direct contractual relationship with 
enei^ consumers for the online procurement of then- energy usage needs. These energy consumers are primarily large businesses and 
govemment organizations. For the year ended December 31, 2006, four of these energy consumers accounted for transactions 
resulting in over 10% individually, and approximately 63% in the aggregate of our revenue, and three of these eneigy consumers 
accounted for transactions resulting in over 10% individually and approximately 51% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year 
ended December 31, 2005. 

Reclassifications 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the cimrent presentation. 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share 

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-6, "Participating Securities and 
the Two — Class Method under FAS 128" ("EITF Issue No. 03-6") EITF Issue No. 03-6 provides guidance in determining when the 
two-class method, as defined in SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share", must be utilized in calculating earnings per share. The 
Company was required to adopt EITF Issue No. 03-6 m the quarter ended September 30, 2004 and to apply the provisions of EITF 
Issue No. 03-6 retroactively to all periods presented. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had determined 
that its non-voting common stock and Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock (the "Series A Preferred") represented 
participating securities. The non-voting common had the same privileges and rights of the voting common stock, except for the right 
to vote. The Series A Preferred participated m dividends, if any, paid by the Company on a proportional basis with the voting common 
stock. The Series A Preferred and non-voting common automatically converted into voting common stock on a one-for-one basis upon 
the closing of the Company's initial public offering. EITF Issue No. 03-6 requires the income per share for each class of common 
stock to be calculated assuming 100% of the Company's earnings are distributed as dividends to each class of common stock based 
upon their respective dividend rights, even though the Company does not anticipate distributing 100% of its earnings as dividends, 

Basic earnings per share for the Company's voting common and non-voting common stock is calculated by dividing net income 
(loss) allocated to voting common and non-voting common stock by the weighted average number of shares of voting common and 
non-voting common stock outstanding, respectively. Diluted earnings per share for the Company's voting common stock assumes the 
conversion of all the Company's non-voting common stock and Series A Preferred so no allocation of earnings to non-voting common 
stock or the Series A Preferred is required. 
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For the basic earnings per share calculation in 2005 and 2004, net inccane was allocated to Series A Preferred shareholders based 
on dividend rights and then among the Company's two classes of common stock; voting common stock and non-votmg common stock 
based on ownership interests. The allocation among each class of stock was based upon the two-class method. The followmg table 
reflects the allocation of net income using this method: 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders 

Allocation of net income (loss) for basic: 
Voting common stock 
Non-voting common stock 
Series A Preferred stock 

As of December 31,2006, the Company only had one issued and outstandmg class of stock - common stock. As a result, the basic 
loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2006 is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. The computed loss per share does not assume conversion, 
exercise, or contingent exercise of securities that would have an anti-dilutive effect on loss per share. The following table reflects the 
weighted average shares used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share: 

$ 

$ _ 

2005 

1,040,051 

684.354 

140,407 

215,290 

1,040,051 

$_ 

$ 

2004 

1,055,752 

746,417 

66,512 

242,823 

1.055,752 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2006 2005 2004 

Weighed average number of voting common shares — basic 
Weighed average number of non-votmg common shares — basic 
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares 

outstanding — basic 
Dilutive Shares: 
Weighted average number of Series A Preferred shares 
Incremental shares under the treasury stock method for outstanding 

warrant 

Incremental shares under tiie treasury stock method for outstanding 

options 

Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares 
outstanding — diluted 

45.576,477 33,049.472 32,058.759 
6,778,327 2.880.592 

45,576,477 39,827,799 34,939,351 

— 10,433,504 10,433,504 

— 1,191,808 1,144,104 

::^ 3,053,455 5.579.247 

45,576,477 54.506,566 52.096.206 

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed an initial public offering of its common stock. As a result, all issued and 
outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock were automatically converted mto Voting Common 
Stock. As of December 31, 2006, tiie Company only had one series of capital stock tiiat had any issued and outstanding stock. For the 
year ended December 31, 2006, 9,147.182, 2,251,072 and 2.230,232 weighted average shares issuable relative to preferred stock, 
common stock warrants and stock options, respectively, were excluded from net loss per share since the mclusion of such shares 
would be anti-dilutive due to the Company's net loss position. 

The Company did not declare or pay any dividends in 2006,2005 and 2004. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

At December 31, 2006, the Company had one stock-based employee compensation plan, which is more fully described in Note 7, 
Effective January I, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation in accordance with Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") issued SFAS No. 123(R), ''Stock-Based Compensation" which is a revision of SFAS No. 123 
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation". SFAS No. 123(R) superseded Accounting Principles Board (APB) No. 25, *'Accounting 
for Stock Issued to Employees", and amends SFAS No. 95, "Statement of Cash Flows". SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based 
pa>Tnents to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair 
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values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an altemative. 

SFAS No. 123(R) requires nonpublic companies that used the mmimum value method in SFAS No. 123 for either recognition or 
pro forma disclosures to apply SFAS No. 123(R) using the prospective-transition m ^ o d . As such, the Company will continue to 
apply APB 25 in future periods to equity awards outstanding at the date of SFAS No. 123(R)'s adoption that were measured using the 
minimum value method. In accordance with this standard, the prior period pro forma stock information has not been restated. In 
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), the Company will recognize the compensation cost of share-based awards on a straight-Une basis 
over the vesting period of the award. 

Effective with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company has elected to use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to 
determine the weighted average fair value of options granted. As our stock has a limited trading histoay as of December 31, 2006, the 
Company determined 
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the volatility for options granted in 2006 based on an analysis of its historical data and reported data for a peer group of companies 
that issued options with substantially similar terms. The expected volatility for options granted during the year ^ded December 31, 
2006 was 47% to 48%. The expected life of options has been determined utilizing the "simplified" method as prescribed by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission's Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, "Share-Based Petyment". The expected life of options 
granted during 2006 was 4.75 years. The risk-free interest rate is based on a treasury instrument whose teim is consistent with the 
expected life of the stock options. The Company has not paid and does not anticipate paying cash dividends on its common stock; 
therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. In addition, SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to utilize an estimated 
forfeiture rate when calculating the expense for the period, whereas, SFAS No. 123 permitted companies to record forfeitures based on 
actual forfeitures, which was the Company's historical policy under SFAS No. 123. As a result, the Company applied an estimated 
forfeiture rate of 13% during the first nine months of 2006 and 12% m the last three months of 2006 in determinmg the expense 
recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2006, under the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model was approximately $0.36 per option share. The weighted-average assumptions utilized to detennine the above values 
are indicated in the following table: 

Dividend yield 
Risk-free interest rate 
Expected life 
Volatility 

0% 
4.27% to 4.83% 

4.75 years 
47% to 48% 

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $44,000 in 
connection with share-based payment awards as follows: $20,000 in sales and marketing, $2,000 m cost of revenue and $22,000 in 
general and administrative expenses. As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately $406,000 of unrecognized compensation 
expense related to non-vested stock option awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.75 years. See 
Note 7 for a summary of the stock option activity under the Company's stock-based employee compensation plan for the years ended 
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. 

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method 
prescribed in APB 25 and related interpretations. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation expense is measured on the date of 
grant as the difference between the deemed fair value of the Company's common stock and the option exercise price multiplied by the 
number of options granted. Generally, the Company grants stock options with exercise prices equal to the estimated fair value of its 
common stock; however, to the extent that the deemed fau: value of the common stock exceeded the exercise price of stock options 
granted to employees on the date of grant, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense ratably over the vesting schedule 
of the options, generally four years. The fair value of the Company's common stock is determined by the Company's Board of 
Directors (the "Board"). 

Prior to November 16, 2006, there had been no public market for the Company's common stock and the fair value for the 
Company's common stock was estimated by the Board, with input from management as well as from independent appraisals. The 
Board exercised judgment in determining the estimated fair value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant based on 
several factors, including tiie liquidation preferences, dividend rights, and voting control attributable to the Company's 
then-outstanding convertible preferred stock and, primarily, the likelihood of achieving a hquidity event such as an initial public 
offering or sale of the Company. In the absence of a public trading market for the Company's common stock, the Board considered 
objective and subjective factors in determining the fan* value of the Company's common stock. The Company beheves this to have 
been a reasonable methodology based upon the Company's intemal peer company analyses and based on arm's-length transactions, 
when applicable, involving the Company's common stock supportive of the results produced by this valuation methodology. 

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company granted options to employees to purchase a total of 
14,109,200 shares of non-voting common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0,025 to $0.24 per share. The Company granted the 
following stock options during 2006: 

Grant Date 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 

Options 
Granted 

Exercise 
Price 

Fair Value 
at Grant Date 

Estimated 
Intrinsic Value 

as of 
December 31, 

H7 



2006 

January 16, 2006 
February 10,2006 
March 30, 2006 
July31,2006 
December 15,2006 

In preparing for the initial public offering of the Company's common stock, the Company reassessed the valuations of its 
common stock during 2006, in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Pubhc Accoimtants' ("AICPA") Practice Aid, 
Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation 
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300,000 $ 

40.000 $ 

60,000 $ 

742,000 $ 

120,000 $ 

0.38 $ 

0.38 $ 

0.38 $ 

0.95 S 

1.13 $ 

0.38 $ 

0.38 $ 

0.50 $ 

0.95 $ 

1.01 $ 

182,045 

24,272 

— 
27.317 

— 
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(the "Practice Aid"). In May 2006, tiie company engaged an unrelated third-party valuation speciaUst to assist management m 
providing a retrospective valuation report of option grants during the first quarter of 2006 and a prospective valuation of the July 31, 
2006 option grants. The third-party valuation specialist valued the Company's common stock (both voting and non-voting common 
stock) at approximately $0.30, $0.39 and $0.95 as of January 16, 2006, February 10, 2006 and July 31, 2006. respectively, 
representing tiie dates when certain stock options were granted. 

The Company believes that the valuation methodologies that were used were consistent with the Practice Aid. With the exception 
of one option to purchase 60,000 shares on March 30, 2006. the Company has concluded that for all options granted to employees 
during the two years ended December 31. 2005 and the period from January 1, 2006 to November 16, 2006, tiie feir value of its 
common stock, for financial reporting piuposes, did not exceed the exercise price for those options at the time of grant The Company 
granted stock options to piuchase 60,000 shares of non-voting common stock, on March 30, 2006, to an employee with an exercise 
price of $0.38 per share, which was $0.12 per share below fair value as subsequentiy determined by the Board of Directors. 
Compensation expense related to this grant was deemed to be unmaterial. On July 19,2006 the Company and the option holder agreed 
to terminate the option grant. On July 31, 2006, the Company granted this employee an option to purchase 72,000 shares of common 
stock at an exercise price of $0.95, which tiie Board determined to be the feir value at tiiat date. No stock-based compensation expense 
was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2005 or 2004 as the exercise price of the Company's stock options was equal to tiie 
estimated fair value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. 

The Company accoimts for transactions in which services are received from non-employees in exchange for equity mstruments 
based on the fair value of such services received or of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measured, in 
accordance witii SFAS No. 123(R) and EITF 96-18, "Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees 
for Acquiring, or in Conjunction With Selling, Goods or Services". The Company granted stock options to purchase 526,400 shares of 
non-voting common stock during 2004 to non-employees, at an exercise price of $0,025 in consideration for services performed. At 
the time of the grants, these options had a fair value of $ 19,268 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, based on the fair value 
of the Company's non-voting common stock of $0,025 per share, an assumed volatility of 70%, risk-free interest rates ranging from 
2.94% to 4.65%, a weighted average expected life of five years, and a dividend rate of 0.0%. All of these option grants were fully 
vested on the date of grant. Accordingly, the Company recognized a charge of $19,268 to general and administrative exp^ise in the 
statements of operations for the year ended December 31,2004 related to these grants. 

The Company provides the disclosures as requhed by SFAS No. 148, "Accountingfor Stock-Based Compensation and 
Disclosure, an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123". 

The following table illustrates the assumptions used and the effect on net income (loss) if the Company had applied the fair value 
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation. For purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the 
Company estimated the fair value of stock options issued to employees using the minimum value option-pricing model. The 
Company's use of the minimum value model was primarily due to the determination as to its appropriateness, as well as its general 
acceptance as an option valuation technique for private companies. 

The weighted-average assumptions used to calculate the SFAS No. 123 pro forma expense for stock options granted to employees 
and directors for tiie years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. 

Dividend yield 0% 
Risk-free interest rate 3.47% to 4.41% 
Expected hfe 5 years 
Volatility 0% 
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Had compensation cost for tiiese awards been determined consistent witii SFAS No. 123, die Company's net income (loss) would 
have been as follows: 

2005 2004 

$ 
$ 
£ 

$ 
$ 
$ 

0,02 

0,02 

0,02 

0.02 

0.02 

0.02 

$ 
S 
$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 

0,02 

0.02 

0,02 

0.02 

0.02 

0.02 

Net income available to common shareholders, as reported $ 1,040,051 $ 1,055,752 
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensation expense determined imder fair value based 

method for all awards, net of related tax effects (7,499) (4,652) 
Net income available to common shareholders, pro forma $ 1,032,552 $ 1,051,100 

As Reported Per Share Amounts: 
Basic net income per weighted average voting common share 
Basic net income per weighted average non-voting common share 
Diluted net income per weighted average common share 
Pro-forma Per Share Amounts: 
Pro-forma basic net income per weighted average voting common share 
Pro-forma basic net income per weighted average non-voting common share 
Pro-forma diluted net income per weighted average common share 

As stock options vest over several years and additional stock option grants are expected to be made each year, the above pro 
forma disclosures are not necessarily representative of pro forma effects on results of operations for future periods. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In February 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 155, "Accountingfor Certain Hybrid 
Financial Instruments " which amends SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities ", and 
SFAS No. 140, "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities". SFAS No. 155 
resolves issues addressed in SFAS No. 133 Implementation Issue No. Dl, Apphcation of Statement 133 to Beneficial Interests in 
Securitized Financial Assets, among other matters, permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains 
an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifiircation. SFAS No. 155 is effective for all financial instruments acqiured or 
issued after the beginning of an entity's fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006, except early adoption is allowed in certam 
circumstances. We expect to adopt SFAS No. 155 on January 1, 2007. 

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, ''Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an Interpretation of FASB 
Statement No. 109", ("FIN 48") which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This Interpretation requires that the 
Company recognize in its financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not to be sustained on 
audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective as of January 1, 2007. The Company is 
currently in the process of evaluating the effects of the adoption of FIN 48. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ("SFAS 
157"). SFAS 157 provides guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. The standard also responds to investors' 
requests for more information about (1) the extent to which companies measure assets and liabilities at feir value, (2) the infonnation 
used to measure fair value, and (3) the effect that fair-value measurements have on earnings. SFAS 157 will apply whenever another 
standard requires (or permits) assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value. The standard does not expand the use of fair value to 
any new circumstances. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and 
interim periods witiiin those fiscal years and will be m effect for tiie Company January 1, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating 
the potential impact that the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on its financial statements. 

In September 2006, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements 
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108 was issued in order to elmunate the 
diversity in practice surrounding how pubhc companies quantify financial statement misstatements. SAB 108 requu-es that registrants 
quantify errors using both a balance sheet and income statement approach and evaluate whether either approach results in a misstated 
amount that, when all relevant quantitative and qualitative fectors are considered, is material. SAB 108 must be implemented by the 
end of the Company's fiscal 2007. The Company is currently assessmg the potential effect of SAB 108 on its financial statements. 
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NOTE 3 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment consists of the following: 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 

2006 

16,751 
225,051 
194,552 

436,354 

(1,339) 
(150.583) 
(58.500) 

(210.422) 

225.932 

$ 

$ 

2005 

_ 

190,826 
160^24 

351,350 

__ 

(116.328) 
(31.938) 

(148,266) 

203,084 

Leasehold improvements 
Equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 

Less accumulated depreciation: 
Leasehold improvements 
Equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 

Property and equipment, net 

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2006. 2005 and 2004 was $62,156, $51,084 and $32,488, respectively. 
Property and equipment purchased under capital lease obligations during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $272,704 
and $259,761, respectively. Accumulated depreciation for property and equipment purchased under capital lease was $137,758 and 
$91,828 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

NOTE 4 — LINE OF CREDIT 

The Company had a loan and security agreement (the "Agreement") with a bank, which matured on December 14, 2005, The 
Agreement consisted of a committed revolvmg line of credit (the "Line") of up to $500,000 and a security agreement witibi another 
party (the "Securing Party"), who is also an investor in the Company, who had agreed to provide an unconditional guarantee (the 
"Guarantee") to the bank. The Company repaid the balance due imder the Agreement of $500,000 on November 7, 2005. The loan 
bore interest at the prime lending rate, plus 1% and was payable monthly. Interest expense under the Agreement was approximately 
$30,000 and $29,000 for tiie years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. respectively. 

The Company agreed to pay the Securing Party 2% interest per annum of any cash amounts that were used to secure the Line, as 
well as to issue the Securing Party 1.5 options for each $ 1.00 the Company drew down on the Line (see Note 6, "Series A Redeemable 
Convertible Preferred Stock"). The Company issued 750,000 options in conjunction with the Line during the year ended 
December 31, 2004. The options were accounted for at then estimated fair value of $11,214 and charged to interest expense m the 
year ended December 31, 2004 (see Note 7, "Common Stock"), 

NOTE 5 — DEBT 

Subordinated Notes Payable 

Long-term debt consists of the following: 

$ 

$ 

December 31 

2006 

— $ 

— $ 

2005 

1,748,000 

1,748,000 

1,748.000 

Subordinated note payable to Massachusetts Capital Resource Company, bearing interest at 
10% per annum net of unamortized discount of $252,000 related to warrants 

Total long-term debt 
Less: current portion 

In November 2005, the Company received $2,000,000 in exchange for a subordinated note with the Massachusetts Capital 
Resource Company ("MCRC"), which bore interest at 10% per annum, and required quarterly interest payments beginning on 
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December 31, 2005. The note also required quarterly principal payments of $125,000 beginning on September 30. 2009 through liie 
maturity date of June 30, 2013 (heremafter referred to as the "Subordinated Note"). 

In connection with the Subordinated Note, the Company also issued to MCRC a warrant to purchase fi'om the Company, at a 
purchase price per share of forty cents ($0.40). at any time before June 30, 2013, 3,000.000 fully paid and non-assessable shares of 
voting common stock of the Company, of which 600.000 wairants vested upon issuance and 2,400,000 warrants were to vest by 
December 31, 2006 if the Company did not consummate an mitial underwritten public offering of its common stock with gross 
proceeds to the Company of at least $5,000,000 prior to December 31, 2006 (see Note 7 — Common Stock). The warrants provided 
for net share settlement. 
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In accordance with Accounting Principles Board No. 14. "Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase 
Warrants" ("APB No. 14"), the Company allocated $256,200 to the warrants based on its relative fair value and has accounted for 
such warrants as additional paid-in capital with a corresponding discount on the Subordinated Note, The cost of the warrants was 
being amortized to interest expense over the expected life of the Subordinated Note and resulted in amortization expense of $252,000 
and $4,200 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The discount on the Subordinated Note was fiilly 
amortized as of December 31, 2006. 

On December 4, 2006, the Company exercised its option to redeem the entire amount of principal and all accrued interest of the 
Subordinated Note without premium as a result of the completion of its initial public offering. In connection with the Note 
redemption, MCRC exercised warrants to purchase 600.000 shares of the Company's common stock. The remaining warrants to 
purchase 2,400,000 shares of common stock did not vest and expired due to the successful consummation of the Company's initial 
public offering on November 16, 2006. The net redemption amount was $1,795,000, includmg interest eamed tiirotigh tiie date of 
redemption. 

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. uiterest expense related to the Subordinated Note was approximately $437,000 
and $30,000, respectively 

Third Party Note 

The Company entered into a note payable agreement on June 29, 2001 for the purchase of certain long-hved intangible assets 
from a third party, bearing interest at 10% per annum for a three year period with any unpaid principal and uiterest due on June 29, 
2004. In June 2004, the thnd party forgave the principal balance due under the note plus accrued interest in exchange for a one-time 
payment. The net effect is the $1,062,775 included under die caption "otiier income (expense)" m the accompanymg consolidated 
statement of operations. During the year ended December 31. 2004 approximately $46,000 was charged to mterest expense related to 
the third party note. 

NOTE 6 — SERIES A REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK 

On November 16, 2006. in connection with its initial public offering, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to 
eliminate all references to the Series A Preferred Stock and authorize 5,000,000 shares of $0.0001 par value undesignated preferred 
stock. No shares have been issued as of December 31, 2006. 

Prior to November 16, 2006, tiie Company had authorized 15,000,000 shares of SO.OOOl par value Series A Redeemable 
Convertible Preferred Stock (tiie "Series A Preferred"). The Series A Preferred had tiie following terms and conditions: 

Dividends — In the event that the Company pays a dividend (other than a dividend payable solely in shares of common stock) on 
its common stock, the holders of shares of Series A will be entitled to a proportionate share of any such distribution as though it was 
the holder of the number of shares of common stock into which its share of Series A is convertible as of the date fixed for the 
determination of the holders of common stock entitied to receive the distribution. 

Automatic Conversion ~ Shares of Series A Preferred will automatically convert into common stock at the applicable conversion 
rate (one share of common stock for one share of Series A Preferred) in the event of: (I) the closmg of an underwritten initial public 
offering with aggregate proceeds to the Company of at least $10,000,000 and a per share price to the public of at least three times the 
initial conversion price (a "quahfied pubhc offering") or (2) the election of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of 
Series A Preferred. 

Optional Conversion — The holders of Series A Preferred have the right to convert their shares, at any time, into shares of voting 
common stock on a one for one basis. 

Liquidation Preference — In the event of hquidation or winding up of the Company, each holder of Series A Preferred shall be 
entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders in preference to the common 
stockholders, in an amount equal to the price per share of the Series A Preferred or $0,146 (the "Liquidation Amount"). After the 
payment of this amount to holders of Series A Preferred, the common stockholders will be entitled to receive any remaining assets of 
the Company on a pro rata basis. The following qualify as events that would trigger a liquidation: (1) a merger or consolidation (other 
than one in which the stockholders, at the time of the merger or consolidation, continue to hold more than 50% of the stock of the 
surviving entity) or (2) a sale or exclusive license of all or substantially all of the assets or intellectual property of the Company. 
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Redemption Provisions — All shares of Series A Preferred will be redeemed by the Con:̂ >any. at the Liquidation Amount, at any 
time after January 31, 2009, if the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred request, by written notice to 
tiie Company, that the shares be redeemed. The shares will be redeemed within 60 days of the Company receiving such written notice. 
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The Company has classified tiie Series A Preferred outside of permanent equity due to its redemption feature being outside the 
control of the Company. The activity within the Series A Preferred shares and redemption value for the years ended December 31. 
2006,2005 and 2004 is as follows: 

Balance, December 31, 2003 
Accretion of stock issuance costs 

Balance, December 31, 2004 
Accretion of stock issuance costs 
Balance, December 31, 2005 
Accretion of stock issuance costs 

Conversion of Series A preferred stock into common stock 
Balance, December 31, 2006 

NOTE 7 — COMMON STOCK 

Number of 
Shares _ 

10.433.504 $ 

10.433,504 

10,433,504 

(10,433,504) 

Redemption 
Value 

1,487,300 
7.199 

1,494,499 
7,199 

1.501,698 
6,299 

(1.507.997) 

On March 31, 2003, tiie Board increased the number of shares of $0.0001 par value common stock firom 50,000.000 to 
90,000,000, of which 75.000,000 were designated voting common stock ("Voting Common Stock") and 15.000,000 were designated 
as non-voting common stock (*'Non-Voting Common Stock"), 

On October 16, 2006, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to increase the authorized shares of voting common 
stock fi-om 75,000,000 to 100,000,000 shares. The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Company had the autiiority 
to issue after tiiis amendment was 130,000,000, consisting of 15,000.000 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock, 100,000.000 shares of 
Voting Common Stock and 15,000,000 shares of Series A preferred stock. 

On November 16,2006, the Company completed its initial public offering (listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange) of 27,441,064 
shares of common stock at a price of CDN$ 1.05 (approximately US$0.93) per share. The offering was comprised of 20,000,000 shares 
sold by Worid Energy for gross proceeds to tiie Company of CDN$21,000.000 and 7,441,064 shares sold by certain sellmg 
stockholders for gross proceeds to such stockholders of approximately CDN$7,800,000. In connection with this offering, the 
Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to increase the authorized shares of common stock from 100,000,000 to 
150,000,000 shares. The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Company shall have the authority to issue after tiiis 
amendment is 155,000,000, consisting of 150,000,000 shares of common stock and 5,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock. 

On December 5, 2006, the Company issued an additional 3.000,000 shares of common stock in accordance with an 
over-allotment option granted to the underwriters of the initial public offering at a price of CDN$1.05 (approximately US $0.92) per 
share for gross proceeds to the Company of CDNS3,150.000. Net proceeds to the Company from tiie initial pubhc offering and 
over-allotment option were approximately $17.5 million, after deductmg the underwritmg discount of $1.3 milUon and other direct 
costs of $2.3 million. 

As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, 76,511,741, 33,049,473 and 33,724,819 shares of Voting Common Stock were issued 
and outstanding, respectively, while 6,792,135 and 6,552,135 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock were issued and outstanding as of 
December 31. 2005 and 2004, respectively. The holders of the Non-Voting Common Stock had the same privileges and rights of the 
holders of tiie Voting Common Stock, except for the right to vote. The 8,982,806 shares of Non-Votmg Common Stock automatically 
converted to Voting Common Stock at the closing of an initial pubhc offering of the Company's common stock. 

Guaranteed Return on Voting Common Stock 

In 2002, a certain shareholder purchased shares of Voting Common Stock of the Company and the Company agreed to pay an 8% 
guaranteed retum per year based on the initial investment of $200,000 with payments to continue until the earlier of a liquid market 
for the Company's equity or August 31, 2006. In accordance with SFAS 133, " Accounting for Dertvatrves and Hedging Activities", 
the Company bifurcated the guaranteed return on the Voting Common Stock at its then deemed fair value of $66,651 and recorded the 
guaranteed retum as a liability. The payments on the guaranteed retum were being amortized to principal and interest, using the 
interest method, through August 31, 2006. The Company has deemed the difference between the stated value and the fair value of the 
derivative feature to be immaterial and has not recorded a "mark-to-market" adjustment during the life of the feature. 
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Fair Value of Common Stock 

The Company has granted common stock, common stock warrants, and common stock option awards ("equity awards") to 
consultants, employees, debt holders, and others since its inception. The Company's determination of tiie fair value of the imderlyii^ 
common stock is a significant aspect in accounting for these aforementioned equity awards in accordance with generally accepted 
accoimting principles. 
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During each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, the Company and the Board had determined the fair value 
of the Series A Preferred Stock, the Voting and Non-Voting Common Stock at each issuance of such equity awards. Prior to the 
consummation of the Company's initial public offering, the feh value of the Votmg and Non-Voting Common Stock had been 
determined by the Board at the measurement date of each of the aforementioned equity awards, based on a variety of different fiictors 
including, but not limited to the Company's financial position and historical financial performance, the status of technological 
developments within the Company, the composition and ability of the current engmeering, operations, and management team, an 
evaluation and benchmark of the Company's competition, the current climate in the marketplace, the illiquid nature of the common 
stock, arms-length sales and anticipated sales of the Company's capital stock (mcluding preferred stock), the effect of the rights and 
preferences of preferred shareholders, independent third party appraisals, and the prospects of a liquidity event, among others. 

Treasury Stock 

On March 14, 2006, the Company purchased 25,000 of its voting common stock from certain shareholders at $2.00 per share. The 
excess of the piu*chase price and the then deemed fair value on the date of the purchase of $0.50 per share, or $37,500, has been 
charged to general and administrative expense. On June 19, 2006, the Company's Board of Du^ctors voted to retire 700,346 shares of 
its treasury stock which had a cost of $164,453. 

Common Stock Warrants 

At December 31, 2006, the Company had warrants to purchase 2,000,814 shares of conunon stock at a weighted average price of 
$0.54. During 2004,1,835,615 shares of Voting Common Stock was issued upon the exercise of warrants. During 2005, the Company 
issued warrants to purchase 3.000,000 shares of Voting Common Stock in connection with the Subordinated Note issued to MCRC. 
Of the warrants that were issued in connection with this note. 600.000 were vested upon issuance and the remaining 2,400,000 did not 
vest and subsequently expired due to the successful consummation of the Company's initial underwritten pubtic offering of its 
common stock on November 16,2006 (see Note 5). On December 4,2006, MCRC exercised its warrant to purchase 600,000 shares of 
the Company's common stock at $0.40 in connection with the redemption of the Subordinated Note by the Company. 

On November 16, 2006 and December 5, 2006, the Company granted tiie underwriters of the initial public offering warrants to 
purchase up to 1,000,000 and 150,000 shares of common stock, respectively at the mitial public offering price. The warrants are 
exercisable at the 1-year aimiversary of the warrants issuance (November 16.2007 and December 5,2007, respectively) and expire 18 
months from the date of the one year anniversary (May 15, 2009 and June 4. 2009. respectively). These warrants allow for net share 
settiement and certain of the holders of these warrants have piggy-back registration rights. The Company valued the warrants at 
$274,129 and recorded them as a component of additional paid-in capital. The following table summarizes the Company's warrant 
activity: 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Sliares Price 
Warrants outstanding, December 31,2003 3,157,387 $ 0.03 

Granted — $ — 
Exercised (1,835.615) $ 0.03 
Canceled/expired —- $ — 

Warrants outstanding, December 31.2004 1,321,772 $ 0.03 
Granted 3,000,000 $ 0.40 
Exercised — $ — 
Canceled/expired — $ — 

Warrants outstanding, December 31.2005 4,321,772 $ 0.29 
Granted 1,150,000 $ 0.92 
Exercised (1,070,958) $ 0.24 
Canceled/expired (2.400.000) $ 0.40 

Warrants outstanding, December 31,2006 2,000,814 $ 0,54 

Source: World Energy Solutio. 10-K, March 21, 2007 
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The weighed average remaining contractual hfe of warrants outstanding is 2.3 years and 6.1 years as of December 31, 2006 and 
2005, respectively. 
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Stock Options 

On May 9, 2003, tiie Company formally approved tiie adoption of tiie 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2003 Plan") and had 
reserved 15,000,000 shares for the grant of options to purchase shares of Non-Voting Common Stock. As of December 31, 2006, 
4,363,029 shares of common stock were reserved under the 2003 Plan. On November 16. 2006 the Company adopted the 2006 Stock 
Incentive Plan (tiie "2006 Plan") and reserved 4,738,161 shares of common stock for grant thereunder. No further grants are allowed 
under tiie 2003 Plan. A summary of option activity under the Plan is as follows: 

Siiares 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 

Granted 
Canceled 

Exercised 

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 
Granted 
Canceled 
Exercised 

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 
Granted 
Canceled 
Exercised 

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 

9,752.800 $ 
1.916.400 $ 
(452,865) $ 

(4,552,135) $ 

6,664,200 S 
440,000 $ 

(1,392,500) $ 
(240,000) $ 

0.025 
0.025 
0,025 
0,025 

0,025 
0.240 
0.025 
0.025 

5,471.700 
1,262,000 

(60,000) 
(2,190.671) 

4.483,029 

0,042 
0.790 
0.380 
0,026 
0.260 

A summary of options outstanding and options exercisable as of December 31, 2006 is as follows: 

Range of 
Exercise Prices 

$0,025 

$0,240 

$0,380 

$0,950 

$0,950 

Options 

2,851,029 

430,000 

340,000 

742,000 

120,000 

4,483,029 

Weiglited 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life 

3.85 
years 
5.22 

years 
6.05 

years 
6.58 

years 
6.96 

years 

4.68 
years 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

S 0.025 

0.240 

0.380 

0.950 

1.130 

$ 0.260 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 
Value 

$ 2,742,162 

321,130 

206,317 

27,317 

— 

$ 3,296.926 

Number 
of Sliares 

Exercisable 

2,665,171 

182,500 

— 

— 

— 

2.847,671 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

$ 0.025 

0.240 

— 

— 

— 

$ 0.039 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 
Value 

$ 2,563,402 

136.294 

— 

J 

— 

$ 2,699,696 

The aggregate intrinsic value in tiie table above represents the total mtrinsic value of our outstandhig options and exercisable 
options as of December 31, 2006. The aggregate mtrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December31, 2006 was 
approximately $1,980,144. 

As of December 31, 2005 4,481,700 shares of common stock under the 2003 Plan were exercisable at a weighted average exercise 
price of $0.03. 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 
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There were 9,101,190 shares reserved for issuance under these plans at December 31, 2006. 

NOTE 8 — RELATED PARTIES 

In 2006, tiie Company entered into a consultk^ agreement with a board member to assist the Company in its research of potential 
equity financing. Costs incurred during the year ended December 31. 2006 were approximately $32,000 and were charged to general 
and administrative expense. 
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NOTE 9 — INCOME TAXES 

The components of the net deferred tax asset were as follows: 

Depreciation and amortization 
Commission income 
Accruals & reserves 
Prepaids 

Net operating loss carryforwards 

Valuation allowance 

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the followmg: 

Current income tax expense: 
Federal 
State 

Deferred income tax benefit: 
Federal 
State 

Total income tax benefit 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 

2006 

22.242 
(266,310) 
155,263 
20,099 

1,769,489 

1,700,723 
(639.063) 

1,061.720 

$ 

$ 

2005 

21,226 
(40,068) 
115,451 
35,271 

1,261,183 

1,393,063 
(639.063) 

754,000 

Years Ended December 31, 

$ 

2006 

— 

— 

(232,091) 
(72,137) 

(304.228) 

$ (304,228) 

2005 2D04 

— $ 

(588,120) 
(165.880) 

(754,000) 

(754.000) £ 

A reconciliation of the Company's federal statutory tax rate to its effective rate is as follows: 

Years Ended December 31, 

2003 2005 

(34.0)% 

(6.3)% 
2.1% 

(•0)% 

0.0% 

(38.1)% 

2004 

34.0% 

6.3% 
2.3% 

(270.0)% 
0,0% 

(227.4)% 

34.0% 

6.3% 
0.6% 

(40.9)% 
0.0% 

0.0% 

Income tax at federal statutory rate 
Increase (decrease) in tax resulting fi-om: 

State taxes, net of federal benefit 
Permanent differences 
Change in valuation allowance 
Otiier 

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $4,400,000 each, 
which begin to expire in 2007 tiu-ough 2022 for state and federal purposes, respectively. A valuation allowance is established, if it is 
more likely than not, tiiat all or a portion of tiie deferred tax asset will not be reaUzed, 

Pursuant to SFAS No. 109, management of the Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the 
realizability of its deferred tax assets, which are comprised principally of net operating loss carryforwards, and other temporary 
differences. Management has determined at this time that it is more likely than not that tiie Company will recognize a portion of the 
benefits of its federal and state deferred tax assets based on estunates of expected fiiture income. Accordingly, as of December 31, 
2006 the Company has recognized approximately $1.1 million of deferred taxes. The Company has maintained a valuation allowance 
of approxunately $639,000 has been estabhshed at December 31,2006. During 2005 tiie Company released $754,000 of its valuation 
allowance. During 2004, tiie Company's deferred tax assets decreased $430,707. The amount of the net deferred tax asset considered 
realizable at December 31, 2006 could be reduced or mcreased in the near term if estimates of fiiture taxable income during the 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 
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carryforward period change. 

Under tiie provisions of the Intemal Revenue Code, certain substantial changes in tiie Company's ownership may have limited or 

may limit in the future the amount of net operating loss carryforwards which could be utilized atmually to ofi&et fiiture taxable income 

and income tax liabilities. The amount of any aimual limitation is determined based upon the Company's value prior to an ownership 

change. 

The Company has approximately $235,000 of future tax deductions which, when realized, will be credited to additional paid-in capital. 
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NOTE 10 — COMMITMENTS 

Leases 

The Company leases certain eqitipment under capital leases that expire through May 2011 and are collateralized by the related 
equipment. The Company has accounted for these leases using an incremental borrowing rate of 8%. In December 2004, the Company 
entered into an operating lease for its office space under a five year agreement, paid in installments due the beginning of each month 
and which expires in December 2009. Future aggregate minimum payments under capital and operating leases as of December 31, 
2006 were as follows: 

2007 

2008 

2009 

2010 

2011 

Total future mmimum lease payments 

Less: amounts representing interest 

Present value of future minimum lease payments 
Less: current portion 

Capital lease obligation, net of current portion 

$ 

$_ 

Capital 
Leases 

66.277 $ 
47,223 
44,745 

3,192 
798 

162,235 $_ 

18,132 

144,103 
56,259 

87,844 

Operating 
Leases 

123,040 
96,976 

100,804 
— 
— 

320,820 

The accompanying statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 includes approxunately 
$118,902, $78,800 and $40,300 of rent expense, respectively. 

Service Agreement 

On February 2, 2005, the Company entered into a two year service agreement with an unrelated party for a hosting environment 
and dedicated server for the Company's online energy procurement software. The terms of the agreement requires awnthly payments 
of $600. The agreement expires on February 1, 2008. 

NOTE 11 — 401(k) PLAN 

During tiie fourth quarter of 2006 the Company established tiie Worid Energy Solutions, hic. 401(k) Plan (the "401 (k) Plan") 
under Section 401(k) of the Intemal Revenue Code covering all eligible employees. Employees of the Company may participate in the 
401(k) Plan after reaching the age of 21. The Company may make discretionary matching contributions as determined by the 
Company. Employee contributions vest immediately, while Company matchmg contributions vest over 5 years begmning in the 
second year of service. To date, the Company has not made any discretionary contributions to the 401(k) Plan. 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

EjMal Description 

3.1 Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Worid Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to 
our Registration Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

3.2 Form of Amended and Restated By-laws of Worid Energy (uicorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to our Registration 
Statement of Form S-l(FileNo. 333-136528)). 

4.1 Specimen Certificate evidencing shares of common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration 
Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.1+ 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Registration Statement of Form S-l(File 
No. 333-136528)). 

10.2+ 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Registration Statement of Form S-I(FiIe 
No. 333-136528)). 

10.3 Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated November 1,2005, between Worid Energy and Massachusetts Capital 
Resource Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Registration Statement of Form S-l(File 
No. 333-136528)). 

10.4 Subordinated Note due 2013, dated November 7, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Registration 
Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.5 Voting Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated November 7, 2005 (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our 
Registration Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.6 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrants (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our R^istration Statement of 
Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.7 Solicitation/Contract/Order for Commercial Items, dated September 28, 2005, between U.S. General Services 
Administration and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Registration Statement of 
Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.8 Agreement to Provide Software and Support for a Reverse Energy Auction Procurement to tiie Maryland Department of 
General Services, dated March 16, 2006, by and between Worid Energy and the State of Maryland (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Registration Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.9 Contract, dated January 9,2006, by and between Montgomery County, Maryland and Worid Energy (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our Registi^tion Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.10 Emergency Purchase/Interim Agreement, dated March 28, 2006, by and between tiie Commonwealtii of Pennsylvania, 
Department of General Services and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Registi^tion 
Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.11 Professional Services Agreement, dated June 1,2005, between Worid Energy and Science AppUcations Intemational 
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1 (File 
No. 333-136528)). 

10.12 Escrow Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to our Registration Statement of Form S-l(File 
No. 333-136528)). 

10.13+ Offer letter agreement, dated October 1, 2003, between Worid Energy and Philip Y Adams (mcorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.13 to our Registration Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.14+ Offer letter agreement, dated April 5,2006, between Worid Energy and James Parslow (mcorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.14 to our Registration Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.15 Lease, dated September 8,2004, between Sovereign Bank and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 
to our Registration Statement of Fonn S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.16 Lease, dated June 21, 2006, between RooseveU Land, LP and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 
to our Registration Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.17 Form of Warrant being issued to Underwriters (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to our Registration Statement 
of Form S-l(FileNo. 333-136528)). 

10.18 Form of Regisft^tion Rights Agreement with Underwriters (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to our Registration 
Statement of Form S-l(File No. 333-136528)). 

10.19 Solicitation, Offer and Award, dated August 18,2006, between Govemment of tiie District of Columbia and Worid 
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Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to our Registration Statement of Form S-l(File No, 333-136528)). 
21.1* List of Subsidiaries 
23.1 * Consent of UHY LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
31.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act. 
31.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-l4(a) under the Securities Exchange Act, 
32.1 * Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act, 
32.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-l4(b) under the Securities Exchange Act 

* Filed herewith 

+ Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 
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EXHIBIT 2L1 

SUBSIDLVRIES OF REGISTRANT 

Subsidiary State of Incorporation 

World Ene i^ Securities Corp. Massachusetts 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 /c>7 
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING RRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
of World Energy Solutions, Inc.: 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-1140014) of our Report 
dated March 20, 2007, (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the 
Company's change in its method of accounting for share based payments upon the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment", effective January 1, 2006) relatmg to tiie consohdated financial statements which 
appear in tiie Annual report to Shareholders, which is included in this Annual Report on From 10-K of World Energy Solutions, Inc., 
for the year ended December 31, 2006. 

/s/UHY, LLP 

Boston, Massachusetts 
March 21, 2007 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 /C'i 



EXinPIT3M 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
§302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

1. Richard Domaleski, Chief Executive Officer and President of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "Company"), certify that: 

1.1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of the Company. 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report. 

3. Based on my knowledge, tiie fmancial statements, and otiier financial information included m tiiis report, fairly present m all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report. 

4. The Company's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Company and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period m which this report is being prepared; 

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and 

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company's mtemal control over financial reportuig that occurred during the Company's 
most recent fiscal quarter tiiat has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's intemal control over 
financial reportmg. 

5. The Company's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of mtemal control over financial 
reporting, to the Company's auditors and the audit committee of the Company's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fi-aud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Comp^iy's 
intemal control over financial reporting. 

Dated: March 21,2007 By: /s/ Richard Domaleski 

Richard Domaleski 
Chief Executive Officer 
and President 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21,2007 1^9 



EXHIBIT :t1.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
§302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

1. James Parslow, Chief Financial Officer of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "Company*'), certify that: 

1.1 have reviewed this aimual report on Form 10-K of the Company. 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, m tight of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report. 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairiy present in all 
material respects the financial condition, resuUs of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report. 

4. The Company's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules I3a-15(e) and 15d-l5(e)) for the Company and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and 

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company's intemal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company's 
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's intemal control over 
financial reporting. 

5. The Company's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the Company's auditors and the audit committee of the Company's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company's abilify to record, process, summarize and report financial mformation; and 

b) Any fi-aud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role m the Company's 
intemal control over financial reporting. 

Dated: March 21, 2007 By: /s/James Parslow 

James Parslow 
Chief Financial Officer 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 21, 2007 170 



CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT TO §906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection witii the annual report of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "Company*') on Form 10-K (tiie "Report") for tiie year 
ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Richard Domaleski, Chief 
Executive Officer and President of tiie Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuit to §906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, tiiat: 

(1) The Report fiilly compUes with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) The infonnation contained in the report fanly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

Dated: March 21, 2007 By: /s/ Richard Domaleski 

Richard Domaleski 
Chief Executive Officer 
and President 

A signed origmal of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledguig, or otherwise 
adopting die signatures that appear in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement reqmred by Section 906, has 
been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its 
staff upon request. 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K. March 21.2007 m 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT TO §906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the annual report of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K (tiie "Report**) for the year 
ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, James Parslow, Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1) The Report fiilly compUes with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) The information contained in tiie Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

Dated: March 21,2007 By: /s/ James Parslow 

James Parslow 

Chief Financial Officer 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otiierwise 
adopting the signatures that appear in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has 
been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and fimushed to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its 
staff upon request. 

Created by lOKWizard www. lOKWizard.com 
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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D,C. 20549 

F O R M 10-K 

[UAmiual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeActof 1934 
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 or 

DTransition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
For the transition period from to 

Commission file number: 333-136528 

World Energy Solutions, Inc, 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Delaware 04-3474959 
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number) 

446 Main Street 
Worcester. Massachusetts 01608 

(Address of principal executive offices) 

(508^459-8100 
(Registrant's telephone nimiber, including area code) 

Securities registered imder Section 12(b) of the Act: 
None 

Securities registered imder Section 12(g) of the Act: 
None 

Indicate by checkmark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes • No El 

Indicate by checkmark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes D No 
12 

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), 
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes (El No D 

Indicate by checkmark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not 
be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or infonnation statements incorporated by reference in Part III 
of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. \S\ 

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller 
reporting company. See definitions of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of 
the Exchange Act. (Check one): 

Large accelerated filer D Accelerated filer El Non-accelerated filer D Smaller rq)orting company D 

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes D No [HI 

The aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant based on the last sale price of such stock as 
reported by the Toronto Stock Exchange on June 29, 2007 (tiie last business day of the Registrant's most recently completed second 
fiscal quarter) was approximately $85,411,000. 

As of February 29,2008, the registrant had 84,023,734 shares of Common Stock outstanding. 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008 . r^y 

I /(o 



DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

Portions of the registrant's definitive proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 22, 2008, are 
incorporated by reference into Part III of this Report. 

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008 i*^t^ 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933. as amended, 
or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which statements 
involve risks and uncertainties. These statements relate to our fiiture plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. These statements 
may be identified by the use of words such as "may", "could", "would", "should", "will", "expects", "anticipates", "intends", 
"plans ", "believes ", "estimates " and similar expressions. Our actual results and timing of certain events could differ materially from 
those discussed in these statements. Factors that could contribute to these differences include but are not limited to, those discussed 
under "Risk Factors ", "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ", and elsewhere in 
this Report. The cautionary statements made in this Report should be read as being applicable to all forward-looking statements 
wherever they appear in this Report. 
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PARTI 

Item 1. Business 

Overview 

World Energy Solutions, Inc. is an energy and envu-onmental commodities brokerage company that has developed online auction 
platforms, the World Energy Exchange and the World Green Exchange. On the World Energy Exchange, energy consumers in the 
United States are able to negotiate for the purchase or sale of electricity and other energy resources fi-om competing energy suppliers 
which have agreed to participate on our auction platform in a given auction. On the World Green Exchange, buyers and seUers 
negotiate for the purchase or sale of envhronmental commodities such as Renewable Energy Certificates, Verified Emissions 
Reductions and Certified Emissions Reductions. 

World Energy was founded in response to the restructuring of the electricity industry in some U.S. states, which are increasingly 
permitting energy consumers to choose their electricity supplier. While our core competency has been brokering electricity, we 
adapted our World Energy Exchange auction platform to accommodate the brokering of natural gas in 2002 and green power in 2003 
(i.e., electricity generated by renewable resources). In 2005, we expanded the platform to handle wholesale transactions. In 2007, we 
created the World Green Exchange based on the World Energy Exchange technology and business process. 

Since 2001, we have brokered over 40 billion kilowatt hours of electricity for energy consumers in North America. We believe 
that we are among the pioneering companies brokering electricity online and we are not aware of any third-party competitor brokering 
more electricity online than we do. With our acquisition of substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway, LLC, or EnergyGateway, 
in June of 2007, we have brokered over 1 trillion decatherms of natural gas. 

In the United States, the electricity and natural gas industry restracturir^ that has permitted energy consumers a choice of supplier 
has taken place on a state-by-state basis. This development presents energy consumers with a number of challenges because they 
generally lack the expertise, experience and information necessary to effectively source energy from competitive energy suppliers. We 
provide energy consumers that choose to switch to a competitive energy suppher with a comprehensive eneigy procurement solution 
that is designed to ensure that they receive market-based pricing terms. To date we have focused on commercial, mdustrial and 
govemment, or CIG, energy consumers in the retail market. 

Our expansion into the wholesale energy market was a natural outgrowth of our services to the retail energy maricets. We apply 
the same tools and processes utiHzed within the retail electricity and natural gas markets to transactions between utilities, electricity 
retailers or intermediaries as buyers and energy suppliers or other intermediaries as sellers. 

The envirormiental commodity market also has similar characteristics to the retail eneiigy markets - lack of liquidity, lack of price 
transparency and differentiated products - creating an opportunity for the fiirther deployment of our technology. Customers can be 
either buyers or sellers of environmental commodities including US CIG customers, utilities, independent power producers, project 
developers and environmental brokers. 

The Retail Energy Industry 

Retail Electricity Deregulation 

The electricity industry in the United States is governed by both federal and state laws and regulations, with the federal 
government having jurisdiction over the sale and transmission of electricity at the wholesale level in interstate commerce, and the 
states having jurisdiction over the sale and distribution of electricity at the retail level. 

The federal govemment regulates the electricity wholesale and transmission business through the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission, or FERC, which draws its jurisdiction from the Federal Power Act, and from other legislation such as the Public Utility 
Regulatory Policies Act of 1978, tiie Energy Policy Act of 1992, or EPA 1992, and die recentiy enacted Energy Policy Act of 2005. 
FERC has comprehensive and plenary jurisdiction over the rates and terms for sales of power at wholesale, and over the organization, 
govemance and financing of the companies engaged in such sales. States regulate the sale of electricity at the retail level within their 
respective jurisdictions, in accordance with individual state laws which can vary widely in material respects. Restructuring of the retail 
electricity industry in the United States began in the mid-1990s, when certain state legislatures restructured their elecfticity markets to 
create competitive markets that enable energy consumers to purchase electricity fix)m competitive energy supphers. 

Prior to the restructuring of the retail electricity industry, the electricity market structure in the United States consisted of 
vertically integrated utihties which had a near monopoly over the generation, tr^ismission and distribution of electricity to retail 
energy consumers. In states that have embraced electricity restracturir^, the generation component (i.e., the source of liie electricity) 
has become more competitive while the energy delivery fimctions of transmission and distribution remain as monopoly services 
provided by the incumbent local utility and subject to comprehensive rate regulation. In other words, in these 
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states, certain retail energy consumers (specifically, those served by mvestor-owned utilities and not by municipal power con^anies or 
rural power cooperatives) can choose then electricity supplier but must still rely upon their local utility to deliver that electricity to 
their home or place of business. 

The structure and, ultimately, the success level of industry restructuring has been determined on a state by state basis. There have 
been three general models for electricity industry restructuring: (i) delayed competition, (ii) phased-in competition, and (iii) fijll 
competition. The delayed competition model consists of the state passmg legislation authorizing competitive retail electricity markets 
(i.e., customer choice of electric energy supplier), however, no action is taken by the state regulatory authority charged with utility 
industry oversight within such state to change die incumbent utility rates for electric energy to encourage competition. The phased-in 
competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizing competitive retail electricity markets together with a gradual 
change of the incumbent local utility's retail electric rates to encourage the competitive supply of electricity over time. The fidl 
competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizmg competitive retail electricity m^kets together with an 
immediate change to the incumbent local utilities' retail electric rates that results in tiie whole CIG electricity mr te t in such state 
being competitive immediately. 

Energy consumers who choose to switch electricity suppliers can either do it themselves by contacting competitive eneigy 
suppliers directly, or indirectly, by engaging aggregators, brokers or consultants, collectively referred to as ABCs, to assist them with 
their electricity procurement. 

Competitive Energy Suppliers: These entities take title to power and resell it directiy to energy consumers. These are typically 
well-fimded entities, which both service energy consumers and also work with ABCs to contract with energy consumers. Presently, 
we estimate there are over 40 competitive suppliers several of which operate on a national level and are registered in neariy all of the 
14 states and the District of Columbia that permit CIG energy consumers to choose their electricity supplier and have deregulated 
pricing to create competitive markets. Of tiie 14 deregulated states, 10 have viable competitive markets. 

Aggregators, Brokers and Consultants: ABCs facilitate transactions by having competitive energy suppliers compete against 
each other in an effort to get their energy customers the lowest price. This group generally uses manual request for proposal, or RFP, 
processes that are labor intensive, relying on phone, fax and email solicitations. We believe that the onlme RFP process is superior to 
the traditional paper based RFP process as it involves a larger number of eneigy suppliers, can accommodate a larger munbea- of bids 
within a shorter time span, and allows for a larger amount of contract variations including various year terms, territories and energy 
usage pattems. 

Online Brokers: Online brokers are a subset of the ABCs. These entities use online platforms to run electronic RFP processes in 
an effort to secure the lowest prices for then energy customers by having competitors bid against one another. We believe that we are 
among the pioneering companies brokering electricity online and we are not aware of any competitor that has brokered more 
electricity online than we have. 

Retail Natural Gas 

The natural gas industry in the United States is governed by both federal and state laws and regulations, with the federal 
govemment having jurisdiction over the transmission of natural gas in interstate commerce, and the states having jurisdiction over the 
sale and distribution at the retail level. 

The federal govemment regulates tiie natural gas transmission busmess tiirough FERC which draws its jurisdiction from the 
Natural Gas Act, and from other legislation such as the recently enacted Energy Policy Act of 2005. FERC has comprehensive and 
plenary jurisdiction over the rates and terms for transmission of gas m interstate commerce, and over the organization, govemance and 
financing of the companies engaged in such transmission. States regulate the distribution and sale of gas at the retail level within their 
respective jurisdictions, in accordance with individual state laws which can vary widely in material respects. 

The natural gas market in the United States is deregulated in most states and offers retail energy consumers access to their choice 
of natural gas commodity suppher. 

Follovsong a period of heavy regulation, the gas industry was deregulated in three phases as a result of legislation enacted in 1978 
followed by multiple orders of FERC. The expected result of this deregulation was to stimulate competition in the natural gas industry 
dovra the pipeline to the distribution level. 

At the retail level, reforms and restructuring have taken place on a state by state basis, with varymg nuances to tiie restructuring m 
different states. For example, state commissions have allowed local distribution companies to ofrer unbundled transportation service to 
large customers; occasionally to provide flexible pricmg in competitive maricets; and to engage m other competitive activities. 

Today, we estimate that utilities in over 40 states permit retail natural gas consumers to choose theu" natural gas commodity 
suppliers. In most instances, the incumbent local distribution utility still delivers the commodity to the consumers* premises, even 
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if a different supplier is selected to provide the commodity. The level of competitive choice available to retail CIG eneigy consumers 
has increased, with a wide range of products and a significant number of suppliers participating in both retail and wholesale 
transactions. 

Wholesale Energy 

The wholesale electricity market is the competitive market tiiat connects generators (sellers) with utilities, electricity retailers and 
intermediaries (buyers) who purchase electricity to re-sell on the retail market Total wholesale purchases of electric power in 2006 
totaled 5.5 billion MWh. Natural gas is an important input fuel for generators, and purchases of natural gas in 2006 totaled 6 trillion 
cubic feet. 

The U.S. wholesale electricity market emerged in the late 1970's when independent power producers, or IPPs, and other 
non-utilities entered the electricity generation market, although the maiket was restricted until the early 1990s w h ^ competitive 
constraints were removed. These new generation entities began to compete directly with traditional utihties and offered customers 
more than one choice to obtain electricity. Today, participants m the wholesale market mclude IPPs, traditional utilities, and 
intermediary power marketers. In addition, banks, traders, and brokers participate in die wholesale market. 

IPPs and traditional utilities comprise the generation portion of the wholesale market. Many employ intemal sales forces to assist 
in the sale and distribution of their power, enabling them to participate as both buyers and sellers within the wholesale market 
However, a growing number of IPPs and utilities have found it easier and more cost effective to sell their generation tiiiough power 
marketing services, which has contributed to the power marketers' mcreased role within the market. Power marketers utilize several 
different platforms to purchase power from generators for distribution, which include paper RFPs, phone brokerage, electronic 
exchanges and auctions. 

Our customers in the wholesale market can be either buyers or sellers and can include utilities and municipal utilities that buy 
power to fill in gaps in their portfolios or natural gas to consume in their generation facilities, and retail marketers who buy nahiral gas 
and power to resell to retail customers. If tiie customer is a buyer, we will run a reverse (descending price) auction to secure a low 
price. If the customer is a seller, we will run a forward (ascending price) auction to secure a higher price. 

Environmental Commodities 

Concerns about global warming have spawned a number of initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The most widely 
adopted of these initiatives is the Kyoto Protocol pursuant to which many countries in Europe, Asia and elsewhere have created 
carbon cap and trade systems. While tiie United States has not adopted the Kyoto Protocol at a federal level, there are a number of 
initiatives in the U.S. at the regional, state and local level aimed at limiting greenhouse gas emissions including the Regional 
Greenhouse Gas Initiative - a collaboration of 10 Northeastern states, and renewable portfolio standards - initiatives adopted by over 
25 states and the District of Columbia regarding the minimum requirements mandated to utilities to derive power from renewable 
sources. 

These initiatives and mandates are spurring mvestments in renewable energy, carbon efficiency and recovery processes to create 
credits that can be traded to countries or companies seeking to get beneath mandated carbon emission limits. Thus far, these credits are 
being traded privately or via exchanges (such as the European Climate Exchange, Evomarkets, and the Chicago Climate Exchange) 
that have been formed to take advantage of these opportunities, although we believe that a structured auction event may be a more 
efficient mechanism for transacting these credits. 

Our customers in the exchange of envnorunental commodities can be eitiier buyers or sellers and include US CIG customers 
seeking to buy renewable energy to voluntarily "green" their energy portfolio, utilities seeking to meet mandated renewable portfolio 
standards, independent power producers looking to sell renewable energy, project developers interested in selling carbon offsets, 
entities that must meet compliance requirements and need to purchase carbon offsets, and environmental commodity brokers. If the 
customer is a buyer, we will run a reverse (descending price) auction to secure a lower price. If the customer is a seller, we will run a 
forward (ascending price) auction to secure a higher price. 

Company Strategy and Operations 

Overview 

We are an energy and environmental commodities brokerage company that has developed onluie auction platforms, the World 
Energy Exchange and the World Green Exchange. On the World Energy Exchange energy consumers in the US are able to negotiate 
for the purchase or sale of electricity and other energy resources fium competing energy siq>pliers which have agreed to participate on 
our auction platform in a given auction. On the Worid Green Exchange, buyers and seUers negotiate for the purchase or sale of 
environmental commodities such as Renewable Energy Certificates, Verified Emissions Reductions and Certified Emissions 
Reductions. 
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We bring suppliers and consumers together in our virtual marketplaces, often with the assistance of otu* channel partners, who 
identify and work with customers to consummate transactions. Our exchanges are comprised of a series of software modules that 
automate our comprehensive procurement process including: 

• energy and environmental commodities sourcmg management — a database of suppliers and contacts; 

• lead management — a module to track prospective customers through tiie sales process; 

• deal and task management — a module to list, assign and track steps to complete a procurement successfiilly; 

• market intelligence — databases of information related to market rules and pricmg trends for markets; 

• request for proposal, or RFP, development — a module to create RFPs with a variety of terms and parameters; 

• conducting auctions — underlying software to manage the bidding and timing of an auction and display the results; 

• portfolio management — a database of contracts, sites, accounts and usage; 

• commission reporting — a system to display forecasted and actual commissions due to chaimel partners; and 

• receivables management — a system to upload data received from suppliers and track payment receipt. 

Our technology-based solution is attractive to channel partners as it provides them with a busmess automation platform to 
enhance their growth, profitability and customer satisfaction. Channel partners are important to our business because these entities 
offer our auction platforms to enhance their service offerings to their customers. By accessmg our market intelligence and automated 
auction platform, channel partners significantly contribute to our transaction volume, and in return we pay them a fixed percentage of 
the revenue we receive from wiiming bidders (i.e. energy suppliers and other buyers). This third party commission structure is 
negotiated in advance within the channel partner agreement based on a number of factors, including expected volume, effort reqiured 
in the auction process and competitive factors. 

As a requirement to bid in an auction (which is described in greater detail below), bidders must agree to an on-line agreement to 
pay our fee if they execute a contract as a result of the auction. Following an auction event, our employees continue to work with the 
energy consumer and other listers or collectively, the customer, and bidder through the contract negotiation process and, accordingly, 
we are aware of whether a contract between the customer and bidder is consummated. If a contract is entered into between a customer 
and bidder using our auction platforms, we are compensated based upon a fixed fee, or commission, that is built into tbe price of the 
commodity. This approach is attractive to both the customer and bidder as there is no fee charged to either party if the brokering 
process does not result in a contract. Our fees are based on the total amount of the commodity transacted between the customer and 
bidder multiplied by our contractual commission rate, and is set forth m two contracts between us and the bidder. The first agreement 
is a master agreement, whereby bidders are allowed to bid on customer requfrements in exchange for agreeing to pay the fee that we 
have negotiated with the customer, and the second is a fee addendum to the contract between the bidder and us that sets forth the fee 
and products to which the fee applies. In addition, bidders are required to acknowledge and agree to our fee on our online platform 
prior to participating in any specific auction. 

Retail Electricitv Transactions 

For retail electricity transactions, monthly revenue is based on actual usage data obtained fi^m the energy supplier for a given 
month or, to the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity delivered to the energy 
consumer for that month. While the number of contracts closed via the World Energy Exchange in any given period can fluctuate 
widely due to a number of factors, this revenue recognition method provides for a relatively predictable revenue stream, as revenue is 
based on the energy consumers' actual historical energy usage profile. However, monthly revenue can still vaiy from our expectations 
because usage is affected by a number of variables which cannot always be accurately predicted, such as tiie weather and general 
business conditions affecting our energy consumers. 

Contracts between energy consumers and energy suppliers are signed for a variety of term lengths, with a one year contract term 
being typical for commercial and industrial energy consumers, and govemment contracts typically havuig two to three year, and 
occasionally five year terms. The chart below displays our annualized backlog as at year-end from 2003 through 2007. Annualized 
backlog represents tiie revenue that we would derive within the twelve months following the date on which the backlog is calculated 
from contracts between energy consumers and energy suppliers that are in force on such date, assuming such eneigy consumers use 
energy at their historical usage levels. For any particular contract, annualized backlog is calculated by multiplymg the energy 
consumer's historical usage by our fixed contractual commission rate. This metric is not intended as an estimate of overall fiiture 
revenues, since it does not purport to include revenues that may be eamed during the relevant 12 montii backlog period fixim new 
contracts or renewals of contracts that expire during such period. In addition, annualized backlog does not represent guaranteed fiiture 
revenues, and to the extent actual usage under a particular contract varies from historical usage, our revenues under such contract vvill 
differ from the amount included in annualized backlog. 
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In addition to retail electricity contracts, we have ongoing contractual arrangements with retail natural gas customers under which 
we deliver certain risk management services for which we receive a monthly fee. Annualized backlog as at December 31, 2007 
includes monthly management fees related to natural gas contracts of $1.4 million that have expected revenue associated vrith them 
from January 1, 2008 through December 31,2008. These contracts may expire during tiie period and therefore the annuahzed backlog 
does not include any revenue from expected contract renewals. 

Annualized Backlog 
(in millions) 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 

Because the calculation of backlog is a calculation of a contracted commission rate multiplied by a historical energy usage figure 
and our management contracts are cancelable by our natural gas customers, our annualized backlog may not necessarily be indicative 
of future results. Annualized backlog should not be viewed in isolation or as a substitute for our historical revenues presented in the 
financial statements included in this Form 10-K. Events that may cause fiiture revenues from contracts m force to differ materially 
from our annualized backlog include the events that may affect energy usage, such as overall business activity levels, changes in 
energy consumers' businesses, weather pattems and other factors described under "Risk Factors". 

Retail Natural Gas Transactions 

There are two primary fee components to our retail natural gas services - transaction fees and management fees. Transaction fees 
are billed to and paid by tiie supplier awarded busuiess on the platform. Transaction fees for natural gas awards are established prior 
to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our natural gas transactions, we bill the supplier upon the conclusion 
of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire award term multipUed by the transaction 
fee. Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered based on 
terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While substantially all of our retail natural gas transactions are accounted 
in accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and recognized as 
revenue in accordance with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above. 

Wholesale and Green Transactions 

For wholesale energy and environmental commodity transactions, substantially all transaction fees are invoiced upon the 
conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to fiiture energy usage and are recognized upon the 
completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers bid for a consumer's business, the fees are paid by the 
bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy or credits, the fees are typically paid by the hster. In 
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addition, revenue may not be recognized on certain green transactions until the credits being auctioned have been verified. While 
substantially all wholesale and green transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage of wholesale transactions is 
accounted for as the electricity or gas is delivered, similar to the retail electricity transaction methodology described above. 

The Brokerage Process 

Our brokerage process is supported by a variety of software modules designed with the goal to find the best possible price while 
providing step-by-step process management and detailed documentation prior to, during and foUovring the auction. Our process 
includes data collection and analysis, establishing the benchmark price, conducting multiple auction events to enable testily of various 
term and price combinations and assisting in contract completion. We create an audit trail of all the steps taken in a given transaction. 
Specific web pages track all information provided to energy suppliers including energy supplier calls, supplier mvitations, usage 
profiles and desired contract parameters. 

At tiie commencement of the process, non-govemment eneigy consumers will enter uito a procurement services agreement with 
us pursuant to which we are appointed as the brokerage service provider to solicit and obtain bids for the supply of energy or 
environmental commodities and to assist in the procurement of these commodities. Govemment energy consumers will send out a 
solicitation at the commencement of the brokerage process which sets out the contract terms. Only bidders that are qualified under the 
solicitation may participate in the auction. Bidders who wish to bid on the provision of energy or envfronmental commodities to such 
customers must partake in our brokerage process and cannot contract with customers outeide of our brokerage process. 

For retail energy, tiie procurement services agreement authorizes us to retrieve the eneigy consumer's energy usage history from 
the utility serving its accounts. We utilize the usage history to identify and analyze the energy consumer's energy needs and to run a 
rate and tariff model which calculates the utility rate for that energy consumer's facilities. This price is used as a benchmark price to 
beat for the auction event. For other customers or commodities, the benchmark price may be negotiated or calculated in another 
manner. 

Prior to conducting the auction, the auction parameters, including target price, supplier preferences, contract terms, payment terms 
and product mix, as applicable, are discussed with the customer and agreed upon. Approximately two to five days prior to the auction, 
we will post RFP's with these auction parameters on our World Energy Exchange or World Green Exchai^e and alert the potential 
bidders. Additionally, bidders are provided with information about the customer, historical energy usage information relating to the 
energy consumer's facilities (if retail customers), and the desired contract parameters, several days in advance of the auction as part of 
tiie RFP. This advanced notice gives the bidders the opportunity to analyze the value of a potential deal and the creditworthiness of the 
customer We believe that, using this information along witii the auction parameters described in the RFP, the bidders develop a 
bidding strategy for the auction. 

The auction is run on the World Energy Exchange or tiie World Green Exchange, depending on the commodity auctioned. The 
auction creates a competitive bidding environment that is designed to cause bidders to dehver better prices m response to other 
competitive bids. Specifically, bidders enter an auction by submitting an opening bid at or better than the suggested opening bid 
posted on tiie RFP. After they enter the auction and assess the bidding activity, bidders may begin testing the competition by 
submitting a bid better than the then leading bid. They do this presumably to test their pricing and to gauge the relative level of 
competition for the deal. There is typically a modest level of bidding and counter-bidding activity among bidders until the final 30 
seconds of the auction when bidding activity tends to increase. In the final seconds, all bidders see the then-leading bid and must make 
a judgment as to how aggressively to submit their last bid in order to win the deal. At this pomt ia the auction, bidders make their fiinal 
bid without knowledge of what any other bidders are bidding. We call this a final "blind" bid. Because a bidder does not know what 
tiie other bidders will bid in thek blmd bid, this process has often resuhed ui the leading bidder outbidding itself at the moment before 
the auction closes in an effort to maintain its lead position and win the auction event. 

Typically, a number of auctions tailored to the customer's specific needs will be held. Our exchanges provide r^id results and 
can accommodate a multitude of permutations for offers, including various year terms, quantities, load factors and green power 
requirements. For commercial and industrial customers or project owners, we typically run two to six auction events per procurement 
and for large govemment aggregations that generally are more complex, we typically run 20 to 40 auction events. Each auction event 
usually lasts less tiian 15 minutes. Included as part of any auction transaction are date and time stamping of bids, con^arison of each 
bid with benchmark prices, as well as automated stop times, which ensure the integrity of auction events. The exchanges are also 
periodically synchronized to the atomic clock which is intended to ensure that auction start and stop times are precise. 

Following an auction, tiie auction results are analyzed and if the auction has been successfiil, we assist the customer with the 
contracting process with the winning bidder which is typically finalized withm one hour of the closing of the last auction event. In the 
case of a commercial energy consumer, we facilitate any remauiing discussion between the leading energy supplier and the energy 
consumer relating to the energy supplier's contract terms that were not addressed in establishing the auction param^ers. In the case of 
govemment energy consumers, the energy suppliers have seen and, in general, have agreed to the form of supply contract being 
required by the govemment energy consumer. Accordingly, the time period between the end of the auction and tiie execution of a 
contract is usually shorter tiian in the case of non-govemment energy consumers. Not all auctions result in awarded contracts. 
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As part of the contracting process between the successfiil bidder and the customer, the bidder vwll enter into a fee addendum with 
us which provides for payment of a commission. For electricity contracts, we have historically received a commission ranging 
generally from $0.00005 to $0.0025 per kilowatt hour consumed by the energy consumer. For natural gas contracts, we have 
historically received a commission ranging generally from $0,01 to $0.10 per decatherm of gas consumed by the energy consumer. 
For wholesale transactions, we have historically received a commission ranging generally from $0.10 - $0.25 per megawatt hour and 
$0.01 to SO.IO per decatherm of gas. For envfronmental commodity transactions, we have historically received a commission ranging 
generally from $0.10 - $0.25 per unit. If a channel partner was mvolved, the channel partner will receive a commission based on a fee 
sharing arrangement it has negotiated with us in the applicable channel partner agreement. 

For retail energy transactions, tiie incumbent local utility serving a given location is typically obligated to deliver the commodity 
to the customer's premises from the location where the supplier detivers electricity eneigy into that local utility's delivery system. 
However, the energy supplier is responsible for enrolling the energy consumer's account with the applicable local utility and the 
energy supplier remains liable for any costs resuhing from the physical loss of energy during transmission and delivery to the 
customer's premises. We never buy, sell or take title to the energy products or envfronmental commodities on our auction platfoim. 

We typically interface directly with the customer through the brokerage process. However, if a channel partner is involved, the 
channel partner will often perform one or more of the following fimctions: working with a customer to sign a procurement services 
agreement, interacting witii the customer relating to World Energy analyses, supporting the decision-making, and interfacing with the 
customer during the contracting process. However, even if a channel partner is involved, we are still primarily responsible for tasks 
such as interacting with utilities to obtain an enei^ consumer's usage history, performing analyses, creating RFPs, interfocing with 
bidders, and scheduling, conducting and monitoring auctions and collecting the commission eamed from the bidder. 

Growth Strategy 

Our overall objective is to achieve a preeminent position as the exchange of choice for executing transactions in energy and 
environmental commodities. We seek to achieve our objective by expanding our community of channel partners, customers and 
bidders on our exchange, strengthening and expanding long-term relationships with govemment agencies, broadenmg our product 
offerings, making strategic acquisitions, and growing our sales force. Key elements of our strategy are as follows: 

Continuing to Develop Channel Partner Relationships. A significant majority of the customers using our auction platforms have 
been introduced to us through our channel partners. Our primary growth strategy is to focus on developing and increasing our number 
of channel partner relationships in an effort to expand the base of customers using our auction platforms. As illustrated by the diagram 
below, we have consistently increased the number of channel partners smce 2003 from 6 to 42, and have recentiy made investments to 
focus on recruitment and training in an effort to accelerate the addition of channel partners. We will also consider fiiture opportunities 
to work with chaimel partners who have succeeded in establishing a significant customer base. The following table sets out the growth 
in our channel partner relationships since the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 and data is presented as at December 31, 2007. 

Number of Channel Partners 

2003 2004 2005 200G 2007 

Strengthening and Expanding Long-term Relationships with GovemmentAgencies. We mtend to build on the relationships we 
have established with federal, state and local govemment agencies. We expect that our expertise in brokering cost-savuig energy 
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contracts for govemment agencies will contmue to be in demand as contract terms expire and governments look to contract for low 
energy prices in a competitive market. We also have seen govemment agencies leading the way in seeking energy supply from 
renewable sources and in purchasing Renewable Energy Certificates. We intend to leverage our govemment presence into the 
environmental commodities markets. 

In 2001, we first penetrated the govemment segment by brokering energy for the United States Federal Government's General 
Services Administration, or GSA, as a subcontractor to channel partner Science Apphcations International Corporation, or SAIC. In 
September 2005, we were awarded a five-year contract to provide energy brokerage services to the GSA. Working with SAIC, we 
have completed hundreds of auctions resultmg in dozens of procurements for GSA and its federal govemment electricity consumers in 
four states and for natural gas in over 30 states. Many of these procurements have a "green" component, and govemment customers 
have purchased over 700,000,000 kilowatt hours of renewable energy or renewable energy certificates, and have won two awards for 
"greening" their portfolios. 

In 2004, together with SAIC, we assisted the State of Maryland in procuring a two-year electricity supply contract through our 
World Energy Exchange, leading to an annual savmgs that we estimate to be over $5 million compared to tie incumbent utility's 
previous rate. In 2005, Maryland was awarded the National Association of State Facilities Administrators Innovation Award and tiie 
National Association of State Chief Administrators Outstandmg Program Award ui recognition of its innovative approach to energy 
procurement and leadership. This recognition has contributed to us along vsdth our channel partners being awarded contracts to broker 
energy for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Montgomery County, Maryland, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the State of 
Delaware, tiie State of New Jersey and the State of Connecticut. We intend to leverage this track record to secure busmess 
relationships with other state and local governments. 

Expand our Share in the Natural Gas market While our core competence has traditionally been in electricity brokerage for retail 
energy consumers, we have significantiy expanded our current natural gas market share with our acquisition of substantially all of the 
assets of EnergyGateway. This acquisition gives us additional staff, natural gas expertise ^ d a post-and-respond software solution to 
add to our auction capability. We expect this combination to strengthen om natural gas offering and present cross-selling 
opportunities. 

Leverage Early Wins in the Wholesale Market An important rationale for our initial public offering was to enter the wholesale 
market where we had initial success in 2005 and 2006. In 2007, we hired five individuals in sales, and subsequent to year end, one m 
operations to increase our presence in the wholesale markets. Our initial successes have been validated as we have now served 
fourteen wholesale customers, adding twelve new relationships hi 2007. We will continue our push into this market segment in order 
to expand our presence and market share. 

Brokering Environmental Commodities. We have expanded our operations by entering into the environmental commodities 
market by creating the World Green Exchange in 2007 and successfully transacting a variety of commodities during the fourth quarter 
of 2007. This success led to a market entry announcement witii tiie formal launch of the World Green Exchange subsequent to year 
end. As countries attempt to reduce their envmsnmental emissions in order to achieve compliance under the Kyoto Protocol and 
U.S.-based initiatives, we believe that the creation and trading of environmental commodities will accelerate. We also believe that the 
characteristics of this market and these commodities - namely lack of hquidity, lack of transparency, and product complexity and 
differentiation - make our auction software and process an excellent approach to transacting these commodities. We are pursuing 
several sub-markets both domestically and internationally - including serving utihties seeking to meet their renewable portfolio 
standards, working with project owners to maximize the value of theu- carbon offsets, and facilitatmg trades between brokers in the 
secondary market. 

Making Strategic Acquisitions. We are also pursuing strategic acquisitions to help us expand geographically, add expertise and 
product depth, provide accretive revenue and profit streams or a combination of two or more of the above. 

Growing our Direct Sales Force. In certain retail markets and in the emerging wholesale energy and environmental commodities 
markets, we believe a direct sales presence wiW be a benefit to us. A key growth strategy for us has been to open regional offices (in 
addition to our Worcester headquarters and Washington, DC sales offices), and staff them with direct sales people. In 2007, we added 
23 sales, marketing and account management personnel, and opened offices in Houston, TX, Philadelphia, PA, and Boulder, CO, in 
addition to adding the EnergyGateway office in Dublin, OH. 

Bidders, Customers and Channel Partners 

Bidders. Our success is heavily dependent on our bidder relationships, the credibility of our bidders and the integrity of the 
auction process. There are over 200 competitive electricity and natural gas suppliers and over 75 wholesale electricity suppliers 
registered on tiie World Energy Exchange, representing a majority of all suppliers in die deregulated electricity md natural gas 
markets. To date, there are over 30 registered bidders on the World Green Exchai^e. Of the registered energy suppliers, 
approximately 40 had active contracts with energy consumers that were brokered tiirough our World Energy Exchange as of 
December 31, 2007. Two of these energy supphers each accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 31% in the aggregate 
of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007, and four of these energy suppliers each accounted for over 10% individually 
and approximately 51% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. In order to participate in an auction 
event, bidders must register with us by either entering into a standard-form agreement pursuant to which 
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tiie bidder is granted a license to access our auction platform and bid at auction events or by quaUfying to participate in an auction 
pursuant to a govemment solicitation. Our national standard form agreement is for an indefinite term, may be terminated by either 
party upon 30 days prior written notice, is non-exclusive, non-transferable and cannot be sublicensed. Under our standard-form 
agreement or the govemment solicitation, the bidder agrees to pay us a commission, which varies fi^m contract to contract and which 
is based on a set rate per energy unit consumed by the customer. 

Customers. Customers using our auction platform to procure energy and environmental commodities include govemment 
agencies, commercial and industrial energy consumers, utihties, municipal utilities, environmental commodity project owners, 
financial institutions and brokers. Govemment energy consumers have complex energy needs in terms of both scope and scale, which 
we believe can best be met with a technology-based solution such as the World Energy Exchange. Additionally, the automated nature 
of our World Energy Exchange auction platform is designed to support protest fi^e auctions. We have brokered energy for the GSA 
and over 25 federal agencies, Montgomery County, Maryland, the State of Maiyland, the Commonwealth of Ma^achusetts, the 
Commonwealth of Peimsylvania, the State of Delaware, the State of New Jersey and the State of Connecticut. 

Our contracts for the online energy procurements with these governmental entities are typically for multiple years ranging fiwm 2 
to 5 years. During this contractual period, the governmental entity may run various auctions for different locations or agencies that 
fall under their purview. As a result, revenue fii^m these customers could extend beyond the actual contractual term. We currentiy 
have contracts with 6 of the 10 currently deregulated states that are competitive. As additional states open their electricity markets to 
competition and suppliers enter those markets creating a competitive landscape, we plan to actively market our services to them. 
These contracts do not require that the govemment energy consumer use our services and, as is typical in govemment procurements, 
contain termination for convenience clauses. If a contract was terminated for convenience, it would t5T>ically not have any bearing on 
energy delivered through the termination date. 

Two of the energy consumers using our auction platform each accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 30% in the 
aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007, and four of these energy consumers accounted for over 10% 
individually and approximately 63% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. 

Percent of 
Revenue 

for the Year 
Ended 

Contract Partv December 31,2007 
State of Maryland 16% 
General Services Administration 14% 

Direct Sales. We also maintain a direct sales arm. Retail targets of direct sales efforts are typically large companies with facilities 
in many geographic locations including hotel chains, wholesale clubs, property management firms, big box retailors, supermarkets, 
department stores, dmg stores, convenience stores, restaurant chams, financial services firms, and manufacturers across various 
industries. We also are pursuing utilities, municipal utilities, and retail energy providers in the wholesale market, and project owners, 
customers seeking to meet compliance obligations, and brokers in the environmental commodities maricets. 

Channel Partners. We also target customers through our channel partner model. These are firms with existing chent relationships 
with certain customers that would benefit from the addition of an online procurement solution. Channel partners consist of a diverse 
array of companies including energy service companies, demand side consultants and manufecturers, ABCs and strategic sourcing 
companies, but in the most general terms they are resellers or distributors. As of December 31,2007, we have entered into agreements 
with 42 chaimel partners, including SAIC and Cargill Energy Services, LLC, which are currently engaged in efforts to somce potential 
transactions to our exchanges, although not all have sourced a transaction for which an auction has been completed. Upon identifying 
opportunities with new channel partners, we enter into a channel partner agreement that grants the channel partner a non-exchisive 
right to sell our procurement process for a term of one year, which term renews automatically unless terminated upon 30 days written 
notice. The channel partner receives a commission based on the amount of involvement of the channel partner in the procurement 
process. 

Competition 

Customers have a broad array of options when purchasing energy or environmental commodities. Retail energy consumers can 
either purchase energy directly from the utility at the utility's rate or purchase energy in the deregulated market through one of the 
following types of entities: competitive energy suppliers, ABCs and online brokers. We compete with competitive energy suppliers, 
ABCs and other online brokers for energy consumers that are seeking an alternative to purchasing directiy from the utility. Wholesale 
customers typically buy from generators, traders, traditional brokers who use phone-based methods, or bid-ask 
exchanges. Environmental commodity customers typically buy or sell directiy through bilateral transactions, brokers, traders or 
bid-ask exchanges. 

Technology 

Our World Energy Exchange and World Green Exchange auction platforms are comprised of a scalable transaction processmg 
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architecture and web-based user interface. The auction platforms are primarily based on mtemally developed proprietary software, but 
also includes third party components for user interface elements and reportmg. The auction platfoiros support the selling and buying 
processes including bid placements, bidder registration and management, channel partner management deal process management, 
contract management, site management, coUection and commission management, and reporting. The auction platforms maintain 
current and historical data online for all of these components. 

Our technology systems are monitored and upgraded as necessary to accommodate increasing levels of traffic and transaction 
volume on the website. However, future upgrades or additional technology licensmg may be reqmred to ensure optimal performance 
of our auction platform services. See "Risk Factors" at Item IA, To provide maximum uptime and system availability, our auction 
platform is hosted in a multi-tiered, secure, and reliable fault tolerant environment which includes backup power supply to computer 
equipment, climate control, as well as physical security to the buildmg and data center. In the event of a major system component 
failure, such as a system motherboard, spare servers are available. 

We strive to offer a high level of data security in order to build tiie confidence in our services among customers and to protect the 
participants' private information. Our security infi^tmcture has been designed to protect data from unauthorized access, both 
physically and over the Intemet. The most sensitive data and hardware of the exchanges reside at tiie data centers. 

Intellectual Property 

We enter into confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements witii third parties with whom we conduct business in order to limit 
access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. 

We operate our auction platform under the trade names "World Energy Exchange" and "World Green Exchange". We also ovra 
the following domain names: worldenergy.com, wesplatform.com, wexch.com, worldenergyexchange.com, echoicenet.com, 
e-choicenet.com, worldenergysolutions.com, worldenergysolutions.net, worldenergy.biz, worldgreenexchange.com, 
worldgreenexchange.biz, worldgreenexchange.info, worldgreenexchange.us and worldpowerexchange.com. To protect our intellectual 
property, we rely on a combination of copyright and trade secret laws and the domain name dispute resolution system. 

Our corporate name and certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, they are generic or m use by 
another party. We may be unable to prevent competitors from using trade names or corporate names that are confiisingly shnilar or 
identical to ours. A company organized under the laws of tiie State of Florida and whose shares are pubhcly traded under tiie symbol 
"WEGY" also operates under the name "World Energy Solutions, Inc." Accordmg to its filings with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, this other company changed its name to "World Energy Solutions" in November 2005, and is m the busmess of energy 
conservation technologies and environmental sustainability. This appears to be a different business than ours. We cannot assure you 
tiiat this other company will not seek to challenge our rigjit to the use of our name, m which case we could be drawn into litigation 
and, if unsuccessful could be required, or could decide, to cease usmg the name World Energy Solutions, Inc., m which case we would 
not realize any value we had built in our name. Additionally, our reputation could be damaged if die otiier company continues its use 
of the name World Energy Solutions, Inc. and such other company develops a negative reputation. 

We do not have any patents and if we are unable to protect our copyrights, trade secrets or domain names, our business could be 
adversely affected. Others may claim in the future that we have infiinged their intellectual property rights. 

Personnel 

As of December 31, 2007, we had sixty-three employees consisting of three members of senior management, twenty-nine sales 
and marketing employees, four information technology employees, twenty-two trading desk employees and five administrative 
employees. In addition, we rely on a number of consultants and other advisors. The extent and tuning of any increase in staffii^ will 
depend on the availability of qualified personnel and other developments in our business. None of tiie employees are represented by a 
labor union, and we believe tiiat we have good relationships with our employees. 

Company Information 

We commenced operations through an entity named Oceanside Eneigy, Die, or Oceanside, which was incorporated under tiie 
laws of tiie State of Delaware on Septembers, 1996. We incorporated World Eneigy Solutions, Inc. under die laws of the State of 
Delaware under the name "World Energy Exchange, Inc." on June 22, 1999, and on October 31, 1999, Oceanside became a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of World Energy Solutions, Inc. through a share exchange whereby Oceanside stockholders were given 
shares of common stock of World Energy in exchange for tiieir Oceanside shares. Oceanside was subsequentiy dissolved on May 18, 
2006. On December 21, 2006, we incorporated a 100% owned subsidiary, Worid Energy Securities Corp., under the laws of die 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

On December 5, 2006 we concluded our initial public offering for the sale of 23,000,000 shares of common stock resulting in net 
proceeds to tiie Company of approximately $17.5 million (net of offering costs of approxunately $3.6 million). In connection witii the 
closing of this offering all of tiie outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock and non-voting common stock 
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converted into 19,416,310 shares of voting common stock. 

Our registered and principal office is located at 446 Main Street, Worcester, Massachusetts, 01608, United States of America, and 
our telephone number is (508) 459-8100. Our website is located at www.worldenergy.com. 

Item IA. Risk Factors 

You should carefully consider the risksand imcertainties described below before deciding to invest in shares of our common stock. 
Ifany of the following risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our business, prospects financial condition and operating results would 
likely suffer, possibly materially.In that event the market price of our common stock could decline and you could loseall or part of 
your investment. 

Risks Related to Our Business 

We have limited operating experience and a history of operating losses, and we may hesubject to risks inherent in early stage 
companies, which may make it difficult foryou to evaluate our business and prospects. 

We have a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our busmess and prospects. We began assisting in energy 
transactions in 2001 and introduced our current auction model m April of that same year. Further, we have a history of losses and, at 
December 31, 2007, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $12.9 million. We cannot provide any assurance tiiat we will be 
profitable in any given period or at all. You must consider our business, financial history and prospects in light of the risks and 
difficulties we face as an early stage company with a limited operating history. In particular, our management may have less 
experience in implementing our business plan and strategy compared to our competitors, including our strategy to increase our market 
share and build our brand name. In addition, we may face challenges in plannmg and forecasting accurately as a result of our limited 
historical data and inexperience in implementing and evaluating our business strategies. Our inability to successfully address these 
risks, difficuhies and challenges as a result of our mexperience and lunited operatmg history may have a negative impact on our 
ability to implement our strategic initiatives, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

Our costs will increase significantly as we expand our business and in the event thatour revenue does not increase 
proportionately, we will generate significantoperating losses in the future. 

We expect to significantly increase our operating expenses as we continue to expand our brokerage capabilities to offer additional 
energy-related products, increase our sales and marketing efforts and develop our admmistrative organization. We also are incurring 
increased costs as a result of being a publicly held company with shares Usted on the Toronto Stock Exchange. As we seek to expand 
our business rapidly, we may incur significant operating losses. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, we incurred a net 
loss of approximately $8.6 million, which was a direct result of these increased costs. In addition, our budgeted expense levels are 
based, in significant part, on our expectations as to future revenue and are largely fixed in the short term. As a result, we may be 
unable to adjust spending in a timely maimer to compensate for any unexpected shortfall in revenue which could compound those 
losses in any given fiscal period. 

Our business is heavily influenced by how much regulated utility prices for energyare above or below competitive market prices 
for energy and, accordingly, any changesin regulated prices or cyclicaUty or volatility in competitive market pricesheavily 
impacts our business. 

When energy prices increase in competitive markets above the price levels of the regulated utilities, eneigy consumers are less 
likely to lock-in to higher fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so tiiey are less likely to use our auction platform. 
Accordingly, reductions in regulated energy prices can severely negatively impact our business. Any such reductions m regulated 
energy prices over a large geographic area or over a long period of time would have a material adverse effect on our business, 
prospects, financial condition and results of operations. Similarly, cychcality or volatility in competitive market prices that have the 
effect of driving those prices above the regulated utiUty prices wiU make our auction platform less useful to energy consumers and 
will negatively impact our business. 

The online brokerage of energy and environmental commodities is a relativelynew and emerging market and it is uncertain 
whether our auction model willgain widespread acceptance. 

The emergence of competition in the energy and environmental commodities markets are relatively recent developments, and 
industry participants have not yet achieved consensus on how to most efficiently take advantage of the competitive environment. We 
believe that as the onhne energy brokerage industry matures, it is likely to become dominated by a relatively small number of 
competitors that can offer access to the largest number of competitive suppliers and consumers. Brokerage exchanges with the highest 
levels of transaction volume will likely be able to offer energy suppliers lower transaction costs and offer consumers better prices, 
which we believe will increasingly create competitive barriers for smaller onlme brokerage exchanges. For us to capitalize on our 
position as an early entrant into this line of business, we will need to generate widespread support for our auction platform and 
continue to rapidly expand the scale of our operations. Other online auction or non-auction strategies may prove to be more 
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attractive to the industry than our auction model. If an alternative brokerage exchange model becomes widely accepted in the 
electricity industry and/or the other energy-related industries we participate in, our business will fail. 

We depend on a small number of key energy consumers for a significant portion ofourrevenue, many of which are govemment 
entities that have no obligation to use ourauction platform or continue ih^r relationshgr mth us, and the partial or completeloss 
of business of one or more of these consumers could negativety affect ourbusiness. 

We have an energy consumer base comprised primarily of large businesses and govemment organizations. Two of tiiese energy 
consumers each accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 30% m the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended 
December 31,2007, and four of these energy consumers accounted for over 10% individually and q)proximately 63% in the aggregate 
of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. Our govemment contracts are typically for multiple years but are subject to 
govemment funding contingencies and cancellation for convenience clauses. Although our non-govemment contracts create a 
short-term exclusive relationship with the energy consumer, typically this exclusivity relates only to the specific auction event and 
expires during the term of the energy contract. Accordingly, we do not have ongoing commitments from these eneigy consumers to 
purchase any of their incremental eneigy requirements utilizmg our auction platform, and tiiey are not prohibited from using 
competing brokerage services. The loss of any of these key energy consumers will negatively impact our revenue, particularly in the 
absence of our ability to attract additional energy consumers to use our service. 

We do not have contracts for fixed volumes with the energy suppliers who use ourauction pU^orm and we depend on u smaU 
number of key energy suppliers, and thepartial or con^lete loss of one or more of these energy siqjpliers as a partic^ant onour 
auction platform could undermine our ability to execute effective auctions. 

We do not have contracts for fixed volumes with any of tiie energy suppUers who use our auction platform. Two energy suppUers 
each accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 32% ui tiie aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 
2007, and four of these energy suppliers each accounted for over 10% mdividually and approximately 51% ui the aggregate of our 
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. The loss of any of these or other significant suppliers virill negatively impact our 
operations, particularly in the absence of our ability to locate additional national suppliers. We do not have agreements with any of 
these suppliers preventing them from directly competing with us or utilizing competing services. 

We depend on our channel partners to establish and develop certain of ourreUttionships with energy consumers and the loss of 
certain channel partners couldresult in the loss of certain key energy consumers. 

We rely on our channel partners to establish certaui of our relationships witii energy consimiers. Our ability to maintain our 
relationships witii our channel partners will impact our operations and revenue. We depend on the financial viability of our channel 
partners and their success in procuring energy consumers on our behalf. One of our channel partners was uivolved with identifying 
and qualifying energy consumers which entered into contracts tiiat accounted for approximately 38% and 63% of our revenue for the 
years ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. Channel partners may be mvolved m various aspects of a deal 
including but not limited to lead identification, the selling process, project management, data gathering, contract negotiation, deal 
closing and post-auction account management. To the extent that a channel partner ceases to do busuiess with us, or goes bankmpt, 
dissolves, or otherwise ceases to carry on business, we may lose access to that channel partner*s existing client base, in which case the 
volume of energy traded through the World Energy Exchange will be adversely affected and our revenue wiU decline. 

If we are unable to rapidly implement some or all of our major strategic initiatives,our ability to improve our competitive position 
may be negatively impacted. 

Our strategy is to improve our competitive position by implementing certain key strategic mitiatives in advance of competitors, 
including the following: 

• continue to develop chaimel partner relationships; 

• strengthen and expand long-term relationships with govemment agencies; 

• target other energy-related markets; 

• target utilities in order to broker enei^-related products for them; 

• further develop a green credits auction platform 

• make strategic acquisitions; and 

• grow our direct sales force. 

We cannot assure you that we will be successfiil in implementing any of these key strategic initiatives, or that our time to 
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market will be sooner than that of competitors. Some of these initiatives relate to new services or products for which tiiere are no 
estabhshed markets, or in which we lack experience and expertise. In addition, the execution of our growth strategies will require 
significant increases in working capital expenses and increases in capital expenditures and management resources and may subject us 
to additional regulatory oversight. 

If we are unable to rapidly implement some or all of our key strategic mitiatives in an effective and timely manner, our abiUty to 
improve our competitive position may be negatively in:̂ )acted, which would have a material and adverse effect on our business and 
prospects. 

We currently derive substantially all of our revenue from the brokerage ofelectricity, and as a result our business is highly 
susceptible to factors affectingthe electricity market over which we have no control 

We derived approximately 75% of revenue during 2007 and 93% of revenue during 2006 from the brokerage of dectricity. 
Although we expect that our rehance on the brokerage of electricity will diminish as we implement our strategy to expand brokerage 
into other markets, we believe that our revenue wiU continue to be highly dependent on the level of activity m the electricity maiket 
for the near future. Transaction volume in the electricity market is subject to a number of variables, such as consimiption levels, 
pricing trends, availability of supply and other variables. We have no control over these variables, which are affected by geopoUtical 
events such as war, threat of war, terrorism, civil unrest, political instabiUty, envhonmental or climatic fectors and general economic 
conditions. We are particularly vuhierable during periods when energy consumers perceive that electricity prices me at elevated levels 
since transaction volume is typically lower when prices are high relative to regulated utiUty prices. Accordingly, if electricity 
transaction volume declines sharply, our results will suffer. 

Our success depends on the widespread adoption of purchasing electricity fivmcompetitive sources. 

Our success will depend, in large part, on the willingness of commercial, industrial and governmental, or CIG, energy consumers 
to embrace competitive sources of supply, and on the ability of our energy suppliers to consistently soiu ĉe electricity at competitive 
rates. In most regions of North America, energy consumers have either no or relatively little experience purchasing electricity in a 
competitive environment. Although electricity consumers in deregulated regions have been switching fit)m incumbent utilities to 
competitive sources, there can be no assurance that the trend will continue. In a majority of states and municipalities, including some 
areas which are technically "deregulated", electricity is still provided by the incumbent local utility at subsidized rates or at rates that 
are too low to stimulate meaningful competition by other providers. In addition, extreme price volatility could delay or impede the 
widespread adoption of competitive markets. To the extent tiiat competitive markets do not continue to develop rapidly our prospects 
for growth will be constrained. Also, tiiere can be no assurance that trends in govemment deregulation of energy will contmue or will 
not be reversed. Increased regulation of energy would significantly damage our business. 

Even if our auction brokerage model achieves widespread acceptance as the preferredmeans to transact electricity and other 
energy-related products, we may beunsuccessful in competing against current and future competitors. 

We expect that competition for online brokerage of electricity and other energy-related products will intensify in the near future hi 
response to expanding restmctured energy markets that permit consumer choice of energy sources and as technological advances 
create incentives to develop more efficient and less costly energy procurement in regional and global markets. The barriers to entry 
into the online brokerage marketplace are relatively low, and we expect to face increased competition from traditional off-line enei^ 
brokers, other established participants in the energy industry, online services companies that can launch online auction services that 
are similar to ours and demand response providers. 

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have longer operating histories, better brand recognition and significantiy 
greater financial resources than we do. The management of some of these competitors may have more experience in implementing 
their business plan and strategy and they may have pre-existing commercial or otiier relationships with large enei;gy consumers and/or 
suppUers which would give them a competitive advantage. We expect that as competition in the online marketplace mcreases, 
brokerage commissions for the energy industry will decline, which could have a negative impact on the level of brokerage fees we can 
charge per transaction and may reduce the relative attractiveness of our exchange services. We expect that our costs relating to 
marketing and human resources may increase as our competitors undertake marketing campaigns to enhance their brand names and to 
increase the volume of business conducted through their exchanges. We also expect many of oiû  competitors to expend financial and 
other resources to improve their network and system infi^stmctm^ to con^jete more aggressively. Our inability to adequately address 
these and other competitive pressures would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

We depend on the services of our senior executives and other key personnel, the lossofwhom could negatively affect our 
business. 

Our future performance wiU depend substantiaUy on the continued services of our senior management and other key personnel, 
including our senior vice president of sales and marketing, vice presidents of business development, chief information officer, senior 
vice presidents of operations and our market directors. Ifany one or more of such persons leave their positions and we are 
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unable to find suitable replacement personnel in a timely and cost efficient manner, our business may be disrupted and we may not be 
able to achieve our business objectives, including our ability to manage our growth and successfully inclement our strategic 
initiatives. We do not have long-term emplo3mient agreements with any of our senior management or other key personnel and we do 
not have a non-competition agreement with our current chief executive officer. 

We must also continue to seek ways to retain and motivate all of our employees through various means, including through 
enhanced compensation packages. In addition, we will need to hire more employees as we continue to inclement our key strategy of 
building on our market position and expandmg our business. Competition for qualified personnel in the areas in which we compete 
remains intense and the pool of qualified candidates is limited. Our failure to attract, hire and retdn qualified staff on a cost efficient 
basis would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and ability to 
successfully implement our growth strategies. 

We depend on third-party service and technology providers and any loss or break-downin those relationsh^s could damage our 
operations significantly if we are unable tofind alternative providers. 

We depend on a number of third party providers for web hostmg, elements of our online auction system, data management and 
other systems, as well as communications and networkmg equipment, computer hardware and software and related support and 
maintenance. There can be no assurance that any of these providers will be able to continue to provide these services without 
interruption and in an efficient, cost-effective manner or that they will be able to adequately meet our needs as our transaction volume 
increases. An intermption in or the cessation of such third-party services and our inability to make altemative arrangements in a timely 
manner, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. There is also no 
assurance that any agreements that we have in place with such third-party providers will be renewed, or if renewed, renewed on 
favorable terms. 

Our business depends heavily on information technology systems the interruption orunavailability of which could materially 
damage our operations. 

The satisfactory performance, reliability mid availability of our exchange, processing systems and network infi^tmcture are 
critical to our reputation and our abiUty to attract and retain energy consumers and energy suppliers to the World Energy Exchange. 
Our efforts to mitigate systems risks may not be adequate and tiie risk of a system failure or interruption cannot be eUminated. 
Although we have never experienced an unscheduled mterraption of service, any such interruption in our services may result in an 
immediate, and possibly substantial, loss of revenue and damage to our reputation. 

Our business also depends upon tiie use of the Intemet as a transactions medium. Therefore, we must remam current with Intemet 
use and technology developments. Our cuirent technological architecture may not effectively or efficiently siqiport our changing 
business requirements. 

Any substantial increase in service activities or transaction volume on the Worid Energy Exchmige and tiie World Green 
Exchange may require us to expand and upgrade our technology, transaction processmg systems and network uifiastmcture. There can 
be no assurance that we will be able to successfully do so, and any failure could have a material adverse effect on our business, results 
of operations and financial condition. 

Breaches of online security could damage or disrupt our reputation and our ability todo business. 

To succeed, online communications must provide a secure transmission of confidential infonnation over public networks. 
Security measures that are implemented may not always prevent security breaches that could harm our business. Although to our 
knowledge we have never experienced a breach of online security, compromise of our security could harm our reputation, cause users 
to lose confidence in our security systems and to not source thefr energy usmg our auction platform and also subject us to lawsuits, 
sanctions, fines and other penalties. In addition, a party who is able to circumvent our security measures could misappropriate 
proprietary infonnation, cause intermptions in our operations, damage our computers or those of our users, or otherwise damage our 
reputation and business. Our insurance policies may not be adequate to reunburse us for losses caused by security breaches. 

We may need to expend significant resources to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches. 
These issues are likely to become more difficuU and costly as our business expands. 

To the extent that we expand our operations into foreign markets, additional costsand risks associated with doing business 
internationally will appty. 

It is possible that we will have international operations in the near fiiture. These operations may include the brokering of green 
credits in countries signatory to the Kyoto Protocol, the outsourcing of data and programming to lower cost locations, and the 
brokering of energy in other geographic markets where we believe the demand for our services may be strong. To the extent we enter 
geographic markets outside of the United States, our intemational operations will be subject to a number of risks and potential costs, 
including: 
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• different regulatory requirements goveming the energy marketplace; 

• difficulty in establishing, staffing and managing intemational operations; 

• regulatory regimes goveming the Intemet and auctioneering that may limit or prevent our operations in some jiuisdictions; 

• different and more stringent data privacy laws; 

• differing intellectual property laws; 

• differing contract laws that prevent the enforceability of agreements between energy suppUers and energy consumers; 

• the imposition of special taxes, including local taxation of our fees or of transactions through our exchange; 

• strong local competitors; 

• currency fluctuations; and 

• political and economic instability. 

Our failure to manage the risks associated witiji intemational operations could limit the future growth of our business and 
adversely affect our operating results. We may be required to make a substantial financial mvestment and expend sigiuficant 
management efforts in connection with any intemational expansion. 

The application of taxes including sales taxes and other taxes could negativelyaffect our business. 

The application of indirect taxes (such as sales and use tax, value added tax, goods and services tax, busuiess tax, and gross 
receipt tax) to e-commerce businesses and our users is a complex and evolving issue. Many of the fundamental statutes and 
regulations that impose these taxes were established before the growth of tiie Intemet and e-commerce. In many cases, it is not clear 
how existing statutes apply to the Intemet or e-commerce. In addition, some jurisdictions have implemented or may implement laws 
specifically addressing the Internet or some aspect of e-commerce. The appUcation of existing or future laws could have adverse 
effects on our business. 

Several proposals have been made at the United States state and local level that would hnpose additional taxes on the sale of 
goods and services through the Intemet. These proposals, if adopted, could substantially impah* the growth of e-commerce, and could 
diminish our opportunity to derive financial benefit from our activities. The United States federal government's moratorium on states 
and other local authorities imposing access or discriminatory taxes on the Intemet, which was scheduled to expire on November I, 
2007, has been extended by seven years. This moratorium, however, does not prohibit federal, state, or local authorities from 
collecting taxes on our income or generally from collecting taxes that are due under existing tax rules. 

In conjunction with the Streamlined Sales Tax Project — an ongoing, multi-year effort by certain state and local governments to 
require collection and remittance of distant sales tax by out-of-state sellers — bills have been introduced in the U.S. Congress to 
overtum the Supreme Court's Quill decision, which limits the abiUty of state governments to require sellers outside of their own state 
to collect and remit sales taxes on goods purchased by in-state residents. An overturning of the Quill decision would harm our users 
and our business. 

The passage of new legislation and the imposition of additional tax requirements could increase the costs to eneigy suppUers and 
energy consumers using our auction platform and, accordingly, could harm our business. There have been, and will continue to be, 
ongomg costs associated with complying with the various indirect tax requirements in the numerous states, localities or cotmtries in 
which we currently conduct or wiU conduct business. 

U.S. federal or state legislative or regulatory reform of the current systemsgoverning commodities or energy may affect our 
ability to conduct our businessprofitably. 

We are currently not regulated as an energy provider, broker or commodities dealer. Chaises to the laws or regulations goveming 
activities related to commodities trading or energy procurement, supply, distribution or sale, or transacting in energy-related products 
or securities could adversely affect the profitability of our brokerage operations or even our abiUty to conduct auctions. In addition, 
our future lines of business under consideration, including transacting in green credits, could subject us to additional regulation. 
Changes to the current regulatory fi-amework could result in additional costs and expenses or prohibit certam of our cmrent busuiess 
activities or future business plans. We cannot predict the form any such legislation or rule making may take, the probability of 
passage, and the ultimate effect on us. 

We may expand our business through acquisition of other businesses and technologies which will present special risks, 
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We may expand our business in certain areas through the acquisition of businesses, technologies, products and services from 
other businesses. Acquisitions involve a number of special problems, including: 

• the need to incur additional indebtedness, issue stock or use cash m order to complete the acquisition; 

• difficulty integrating acquired technologies, operations and personnel with the existing busmess; 

• diversion of management attention in connection with both negotiatii^ the acquisitions and integrating the assets; 

• strain on managerial and operational resources as management tries to oversee larger operations; 

• the funding requirements for acquired companies may be significant; 

• exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies; 

• increased risk of costly and time-consuming litigation, mcluding stockholder lawsuits; and 

• potential issuance of securities in connection with an acquisition with rights that are superior to the rights of our common 
stockholders, or which may have a dilutive effect on our common stockholders. 

We may not be able to successfully address these problems. Our future operating results will depend to a significant degree on our 
ability to successfiilly integrate acquisitions and manage operations while also controlling expenses and cash bum. 

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property 

We may be unable to adequately protect our intellectual property, which could harm usand affect our ability to compete 
effectively. 

We have developed proprietary software, logos, brands, service names and web sites, including our proprietary auction platform. 
Although we have taken certain limited steps to protect our proprietary mtellectual property (includmg consulting witii outside patent 
and trademark counsel regarding protection of our intellectual property and unplementing a program to protect our trade secrets), we 
have not applied for any patents witii respect to our auction platform, and although we have filed applications for certam trademarks, 
we have not registered any trademarks. The steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property may be inadequate to deter 
misappropriation of our proprietary information or deter independent development of similar technologies by others. We may not be 
able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our technical knowledge or trade secrets by consultants, vendors, former 
employees and current employees, despite the existence of confidentiality agreements and other contractual restrictions. If oiu* 
mtellectual property rights are not adequately protected, we may not be able to continue to commercialize our services. We may be 
unable to detect the unauthorized use of, or take adequate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. In addition, certain of our 
trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, they are generic or in use by another party. Accordingly, we may be 
unable to prevent competitors from using trade names that are confusingly similar or identical to ours. 

Our auction platform, services, technologies or usage of trade names could infringethe intellectual property rights of others, 
which may lead to litigation thai coulditself be costly, could result in the payment of substantial damages or royaWes,and/or 
prevent us from using technology that is essential to our business. 

Although no third party has threatened or alleged that our auction platform, services, technologies or usage of trade names 
infringe tiieir patents or other intellectual property rights, we cannot assure you tiiat we do not infiinge tiie patents or other intellectual 
property rights of third parties. 

Infiingement and other intellectual property claims and proceedings brought against us, whetiier successfiil or not, could result in 
substantial costs and harm to our reputation. Defending our inteUectual property rights could result m the expenditure of significant 
financial and managerial resources, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results. If our 
business is successful, the possibility may increase that others will assert infiingement claims against us. 

We use intellectual property licensed from thu-d parties m our operations. There is a risk that such licenses may be terminated, 
which could significantly dismpt our business. In such an event, we may be required to spend significant time and money to develop a 
non-infiinging system or process or Ucense intellectual property that does not infringe upon the rights of that other party or to obtam a 
license for the intellectual property from the owner We may not be successful in that development or any such license may not be 
available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, any litigation could be lengthy and costiy and could adversely affect 
us even if we are successfiil in such litigation. 

Our corporate name and certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, tiiey are generic or m use by 
another party. We may be unable to prevent competitors from using trade names or corporate names that are confiisingly sunilar or 
identical to ours. A company organized under tiie laws of tiie State of Florida and whose shares are pubUcly traded under the symbol 
"WEGY" also operates under the name "Worid Energy Solutions, Inc." According to its filings with the Securities and Exchaige 
Commission, this other company changed its name to "World Energy Solutions" in November 2005, and 
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is in the business of energy conservation technologies and envhonmental sustainability. This appears to be a (Ufferent business than 
ours. We cannot assure you that this other company will not seek to challenge our right to the use of our name, hi which case we could 
be drawn into litigation and, if unsuccessful could be required, or could decide, to cease using the name World Energy Solutions, Inc., 
in which case we would not realize any value we had built in our name, AdditionaUy, our reputation could be damaged if the other 
company continues its use of the name World Energy Solutions, Inc. and such other company develops a negative reputation. 

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock 

Because there is a limited trading history for our common stock and our stock pricemay be volatile, you may not be able to resell 
your shares at or above your purchase price. 

We carmot predict the extent to which investors' interests will provide an active trading market for our common stock or whether 
the market price of our common stock will be volatile. The market for early stage Intemet and technology stocks has been extremely 
volatile. The following factors, many of which are outside of our control, could cause the market price of our common stock to 
decrease significantly from recent prices: 

• loss of any of the major energy consumers or suppliers using our auction platform; 

• departure of key persormel; 

• variations in our quarterly operating results; 

• announcements by our competitors of significant contracts, new transaction capabiUties, enhancements, lower fees, acquisitions, 
distribution partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments; 

• changes in governmental regulations and standards affecting the energy mdustry and our products, including implementation of 
additional regulations relating to consumer data privacy; 

• decreases in financial estimates by equity research analysts; 

• sales of common stock or othei securities by us in the future; 

• decreases in market valuations of Intemet or technology companies; and 

• fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes. 

In the past, securities class action litigation often has been mitiated against a company following a period of volatiUty in the 
market price of the company's securities. If class action litigation is initiated against us, we will incur substantial costs and our 
management's attention will be diverted from our operations. All of these fectors could cause the market price of our stock to decline, 
and you may lose some or all of your mvestment. Also due to the size of the market capitalization of our shares, and the fact that we 
are only publicly listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the market for our common stock may be volatile Mid may not afford a high 
level of liquidity. 

Future sales of our common stock by persons who were stockholders prior to our initial public offering or who required 
restricted securities that became available for public resale could cause our stock priceto decline. 

If persons who were stockholders prior to our initial public offering seU substantial amounts of oiu- common stock in the public 
market, the market price of our common stock could decrease significantly. The perception in the public market that our stockholders 
might sell shares of common stock could also depress themarketpriceof our common stock. A subst^itial portion of our stockholders 
prior to our initial public offering were subject to lock-up agreements with the underwriters that restricted tiieir abihty to transfer thefr 
stock for at least 365 days after tiie date of the offering. On November 30, 2007, tiiese lock-up provisions expfred and an additional 
43,368,733 shares of our common stock became ehgible for sale in the public market. In addition, in January 2007 we filed a 
registration statement with tiie SEC covering aU of the shares subject to options outstanding, but not exercised, and aU of the shares 
available for fiiture issuance under our stock incentive plans. In November 2007, we filed a registration statement with the SEC 
covering all of tiie shares issued to the former owner of tiie EnergyGateway shares. A decline in the price of shares of our common 
stock might impede our ability to raise capital through the issuance of additional shares of our common stock or other equity 
securities, and may cause you to lose part or all of your investment in our shares of common stock. 

Massachusetts Capital Resource Company holds certain piggy-back and demand registration rights with respect to 
600,000 shares. Certain underwriters for our initial public offering have piggy-back registration rights with respect to shares issuable 
upon exercise of the warrants issued m connection with our initial public offering. In the event that the holders of 
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registration rights were to exercise such rights, upon registration of the shares of our common stock in cormection witli any such 
exercises, sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the applicable pubhc market could occur. Such sales, or the 
perception in such market that tiie holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our 
common stock. 

Our directors and executive officers have substantial control overus and could limit your ability to influence the outcome of 
keytransactions, including changes of control 

As of Febmary 29, 2008, our executive officers and dhectors and entities affiliated vnth them, beneficially own, in the aggregate, 
approxunately 29% of our outstanding common stock. In particular, Richard Domaleski, our chief executive officer, beneficially owns 
approxunately 23% of our outstanding common stock. Our executive officers, directors and afiiliated entities, if acting together, 
would be able to control or influence significantly all matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of 
directors and the approval of mergers or other significant corporate transactions. These stockholders may have interests that differ 
from yours, and they may vote in a way with which you disagree and that may be adverse to your interests. The concentration of 
ownership of our common stock may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of our con^any, could 
deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our company, and may 
affect the market price of our common stock. 

Our corporate documents and Delaware law make a takeover of our company moredifficult, we have a classified board of 
directors and certain provisions of ourcertificate of incorporation and by-laws require a super-majority vote to amend, allof 
which may prevent certain changes in control and limit the market price ofourcommon stock. 

Our charter and by-laws contain provisions that might enable our management to resist a takeover of our company. Our certificate 
of incorporation and by-laws estabUsh a classified board of directors such that our directors serve staggered three-year terms and do 
not all stand for re-election every year. In addition, any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders at sai annual 
meeting or special meeting of stockholders may only be taken if it is property brought before the meeting and may not be taken by 
written action in lieu of a meeting, and special meetings of the stockholders may only be caUed by the chairman of the Board, the 
Chief Executive Officer or our Board. Further, our certificate of incorporation provides that du^ctors may be removed only for cause 
by tiie affirmative vote of tiie holders of 75% of our shares of capital stock entitled to vote, and any vacancy on our Board, mcluding a 
vacancy resulting from an enlargement of our Board, may only be filled by vote of a majority of our directors then in office. In 
addition, our by-laws establish an advance notice procedure fi)r stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of 
stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for election to the Board. These provisions of our certificate of incorporation 
and by-laws, including those setting forth the classified board, require a super-majority vote of stockholders to amend. These 
provisions might discourage, delay or prevent a change in the control of our company or a change in our management These 
provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors and take 
other corporate actions. The existence of these provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for 
shares of our common stock. 

We may choose not to continue to file periodic reports with the SEC if we are not required to do so, which would limit the 
information availableabout us in the United States, and because we are not listing on a United Statesexchange, we do not have 
the same disclosure and corporate governance obligations asa company that is so listed, 

Under United States securities laws, we are required to file infoimational reports about us with the SEC, includii^ periodic 
reports on Forms 10-K and 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K. However, unless we Ust our shares on a market located in the 
United States, our obligation to file those reports will be suspended as to any year in the event that our shares are held by fewer than 
300 stockholders of record as of the beginning of that year. In such an event, we may choose not to file those reports and the 
information you would thereafter receive about us would be limited. We may choose not to file those reports for cost or other reasons. 
In addition, in the event we are not required to be a reporting issuer under the Exchange Act we will no longer be subject to certain 
rules intended to protect U.S. investors, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Our determination not to file those reports could have the 
result of limiting the market for our shares, and thereby have a negative effect on our stock price. Should we not have an obligation to 
file periodic reports in accordance with United States securities laws, we expect to file periodic reports in compliance with National 
Instmment 51-102 of the Canadian securities regulators so long as shares of our common stock is Usted on die Toronto Stock 
Exchange. 

Our shares are registered on the Toronto Stock Exchange and not on any U.S. exchange. Because we are not currently listed on 
any U.S. exchange, we do not have the same disclosure and corporate govemance obligations as companies that are listed on a 
U.S. exchange. However, we are subject to corporate govemance and disclosure requirements of companies listed on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange and as a result of being a reportmg issuer in each of the provinces of Canada. 

Item IB. Unresolved Staff Comments 

Not applicable. 
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